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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM
may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities
traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange
take no responsibility for the contents of this report, make no
representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly
disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or
in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of F8 Enterprises
(Holdings) Group Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually
accept full responsibilities, includes particulars given in compliance
with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM (the "GEM
Listing Rules”) of the Stock Exchange for the purpose of giving
information with regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”). The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information
contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material
respects and not misleading or deceptive, there are no other matters
the omission of which would make any statement herein or this report
misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRES

To our Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of F8 Enterprises
(Holdings) Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present
the annual audited financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as the "Group”) for the year ended
31 March 2024.

The Group's revenue decreased by approximately 32.5% from
approximately HK$429.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
approximately HK$290.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2024. The
Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$8.6 million for the year
ended 31 March 2024, as compared with a net loss of approximately
HK$4.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2023, representing increase
in net loss of approximately HK$3.8 million. The increase in net loss of
the Group was mainly attributable to (i) decrease in sale and
transportation of diesel oil business for the year ended 31 March 2024;
and (i) decrease in other income and other gains or losses for the year
ended 31 March 2024. The effect was partially offset by decrease in
administrative expenses. The decrease in gross profit was mainly due
to decrease in revenue for the year ended 31 March 2024.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a fleet of eight diesel tank wagons
of various capacity, a marine oil barge and a vessel to meet customers’
requirement.

Besides, the Group had carried out marketing and promotional
activities and negotiated with potential customers to secure purchase
orders for marine diesel oil.

In 2023, Hong Kong's economy experienced a cyclical upturn.
However, external headwinds, policy uncertainty, and the lingering
effects of COVID-19 resulted in uneven economic performance. This
led to instability in the domestic diesel oil and marine diesel oil
markets. Consequently, the average selling prices and sales volumes of
petroleum products demonstrated a downward trend, causing an
overall decrease in the Group's total turnover.
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Chairman’s Statement

ETEHRESE

Looking ahead, we are optimistic about the market trend for the sale
of diesel oil and marine diesel oil in Hong Kong. This optimism is
primarily due to the stable and high levels of investment in public
infrastructure projects, such as the railway network expansion and
marine construction initiatives like the Hong Kong International
Airport’s third runway project. However, the Directors will continue to
closely monitor and manage any associated risks. To this end, the
Group will deploy more resources towards talent recruitment and
strengthening its business development and marketing strategy for the
diesel oil segment. Furthermore, the Group will proactively seek out
potential business opportunities that can broaden its sources of
income and enhance value for its Shareholders.

The Board would like to extend its sincere thanks to our shareholders
(the “Shareholders”), business partners and customers for their utmost
support to the Group. We would also like to take this opportunity to
thank all management members and staff for their hard work and
dedication throughout the year.

FONG Chun Man
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024

RERK BMEEBLBEERMALREE
MMEBA S LBET EREBEEIE
EHRAKERIEL (NERARIEE) RS
ETRBE (WEBRBEHWISE=WEER)
HMEBERREKFENRE - AT ESH
HMEZY B R EETMERRRE - AL
REBMBRAEZERHBEAS - N5 LH
DEMNEBEERMIGHEERE - LI K
SEBBEGSHEEEE  EERARERKR
R EREE -

EEHRE((RR]  EBBHELEFLPH
NEROHHE  BHMMEAEENRE X
BoRmMIMELBERFMEEEREXNE R
BIfTE—FHXHTIERFR -

FEX
FE

FH 2024 6F828H

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-NFFH 5



Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group principally carries on the business of sale and transportation
of diesel oil and related products and other products in Hong Kong.
The Group also supplies marine diesel oil used for construction vessels
and lubricant oil used for construction machinery and vehicles. Most of
the Group's customers are construction companies which require
diesel oil to operate their construction machinery and vehicles. The
Group had a fleet of eight diesel tank wagons of various capacity, a
marine oil barge and a vessel as at 31 March 2024.

The Group's strategic objective is to strengthen its established market
position in the Hong Kong diesel oil and marine diesel oil industry. This
will enable the Group to generate profits and investment returns for
the Company'’s shareholders, as well as drive sustainable growth in the
future. To achieve this objective, the Group will deploy more resources
towards talent recruitment and strengthening its business development
and marketing strategy for the diesel oil segment.

Sale and transportation of diesel oil and related products
business

The Group's revenue decreased by approximately 32.5% from
approximately HK$429.9 million for the year ended 31 March 2023 to
approximately HK$290.0 million for the year ended 31 March 2024,
revenue from diesel oil, marine diesel oil and lubricant oil represented
98.2%, 1.3% and 0.5% of the Group's total revenue, respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$8.6 million for the
year ended 31 March 2024, as compared with a net loss of
approximately HK$4.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2023,
representing increase in net loss of approximately HK$3.8 million. The
increase in net loss of the Group was mainly attributable to (i) decrease
in sale and transportation of diesel oil business for the year ended 31
March 2024; and (ii) decrease in other income and other gains or
losses. The effect was partially offset by decrease in administrative
expenses. The decrease in gross profit was mainly due to decrease in
revenue for the year ended 31 March 2024.

INDUSTRY REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

In 2023, Hong Kong's economy experienced a cyclical upturn.
However, external headwinds, policy uncertainty, and the lingering
effects of COVID-19 resulted in uneven economic performance. This
led to instability in the domestic diesel oil and marine diesel oil
markets. Consequently, the average selling prices and sales volumes of
petroleum products demonstrated a downward trend, causing an
overall decrease in the Group's total turnover.

Looking ahead, we are optimistic about the market trend for the sale
of diesel oil and marine diesel oil in Hong Kong. This optimism is
primarily due to the stable and high levels of investment in public
infrastructure projects, such as the railway network expansion and
marine construction initiatives like the Hong Kong International
Airport’s third runway project. However, the Directors will continue to
closely monitor and manage any associated risks. To this end, the
Group will deploy more resources towards talent recruitment and
strengthening its business development and marketing strategy for the
diesel oil segment. Furthermore, the Group will proactively seek out
potential business opportunities that can broaden its sources of
income and enhance value for its Shareholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue decreased by approximately HK$139.9 million or
approximately 32.5% from approximately HK$429.9 million for the year
ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$290.0 million for the year
ended 31 March 2024.

Revenue from the sale of diesel oil, marine diesel oil and lubricant oil
amounted to approximately HK$284.9 million, HK$3.7 million and
HK$1.4 million, representing approximately 98.2%, 1.3% and 0.5%,
respectively, of the Group's total revenue for the year ended 31 March
2024. For the year ended 31 March 2023, the revenue from the sale of
diesel oil, marine diesel oil and lubricant oil accounted for
approximately HK$420.0 million, HK$8.6 million and HK$1.3 million,
representing approximately 97.7%, 2.0% and 0.3%, respectively, of the
Group's total revenue.

The decrease in the Group's revenue was primarily due to decrease in
demand from construction customers and logistic customers and
lower diesel oil prices during the year ended 31 March 2024.

Cost of sales

Cost of the sale and transportation of diesel oil and related products
business primarily consists of diesel oil costs, marine diesel oil costs,
lubricant oil costs, direct labour costs and depreciation. The purchase
cost for the diesel oil, marine diesel oil costs and lubricant oil costs
depends on the domestic purchase price offered by the Group's oil
suppliers, with reference to the price indices such as Europe Brent spot
crude price. For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group's cost of
sales was approximately HK$275.7 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 33.4% from approximately HK$413.7 million for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The gross profit represented the Group's revenue less cost of sales.
The Group's gross profit decreased by approximately HK$1.9 million
from approximately HK$16.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2023
to approximately HK$14.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2024.
The Group's gross profit margin increased from approximately 3.8% for
the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately 4.9% for the year
ended 31 March 2024. The increased in gross profit was mainly due to
higher markup offered to our customers in the diesel oil market for the
year ended 31 March 2024.
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Management Discussion
EEENWR DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Other income and other gains or losses

Other income decreased from approximately HK$7.7 million for the
year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$5.5 million for the year
ended 31 March 2024. The decrease in other income was mainly due to
the decrease in rental income from diesel vehicle.

Other gains or losses recorded a net loss of approximately HK$5.3
million, as compared with a net gain of approximately HK$1.8 million,
which was mainly due to increase in loss arising on change in fair value

of investment property of approximately HK$4.2 million.

Administration expenses

Administration expenses decreased from approximately HK$18.4
million for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$14.3
million for the year ended 31 March 2024. The decrease in
administrative expenses was mainly due to the decrease in legal and
professional fees and entertainment.

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses decreased from approximately HK$6.5
million for the year ended 31 March 2023 to approximately HK$5.3
million for the year ended 31 March 2024. The decrease in other
operating expenses was mainly due to the decrease in running
expenses of motor vehicle and marine barge.

Loss for the year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group recognised a loss of
approximately HK$8.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2024, as
compared with a net loss of approximately HK$4.8 million. The Group
recorded a negative net profit margin of approximately 3.0% for the
year ended 31 March 2024 as compared to negative net profit margin
of approximately 1.1% for the year ended 31 March 2023. The increase
in net loss and negative net profit margin for the year ended 31 March
2024 was mainly due to (i) decrease in sale and transportation of diesel
oil business for the year ended 31 March 2024; and (ii) decrease in
other income and other gains or losses for the year ended 31 March
2024. The effect was partially offset by decrease in administrative
expenses for the year ended 31 March 2024.

and Analysis
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Financial Resources and Liquidity

The Group finances its operations through cash generated from
operating activities and interest-bearing bank borrowings. The Group
recorded net current assets of approximately HK$43.8 million as at 31
March 2024 (as at 31 March 2023: approximately HK$46.8 million).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group's current assets amounted to
approximately HK$114.9 million (as at 31 March 2023: approximately
HK$129.0 million) and the Group’s current liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$71.1 million (as at 31 March 2023: approximately
HK$82.2 million). Current ratio was approximately 1.6 as at 31 March
2024 (as at 31 March 2023: approximately 1.6). Current ratio is
calculated based on total current assets as at the year ended date
divided by total current liabilities as at the year ended date.

GEARING RATIO

As at 31 March 2024, the interest-bearing borrowing facilities of the
Group amounted to approximately HK$37.2 million (as at 31 March
2023: HK$45.6 million) and approximately HK$17.8 million (as at 31
March 2023: HK$25.4 million) of the revolving borrowing facilities
available to the Group was unutilised.

The bank and other borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong
dollars at interest rates of the range from 2.00% to 7.38% per annum
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (as at 31 March 2023: ranging from
2.00% to 7.13% per annum). As at 31 March 2024, the bank and other
borrowings of the Group were secured by the corporate guarantee,
fixed deposits, oil barges, investment property, personal guarantee
from Mr. Fong and motor vehicles of the Group.

Gearing ratio was approximately 40.6% as at 31 March 2024 which was
calculated based on the total debt at the end of the year divided by
total equity at the end of the year (as at 31 March 2023: 45.0%).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the capital structure of the Group
consisted of equity attributable to the owners of the Company of
approximately HK$91.7 million (2023: approximately HK$101.3 million).
The share capital of the Group only comprises of ordinary shares.

On 8 August 2021, 130,000,000 new shares of HK$0.01 each of the
Company were allotted and issued as fully paid to a nominated
shareholder at the issue price of HK$0.086 each under general
mandate. For further details, please refer to the announcements dated
11 June 2021, 16 June 2021, 8 July 2021, 30 July 2021 and 4 August
2021.

On 29 June 2022, the Company has completed a share consolidation
which involves the consolidation of every ten issued and unissued
existing shares of the Company of par value HK$0.01 each into one
consolidated share of the Company of par value of HK$0.10 each.

On 15 September 2022, the Company has completed an allotment and
issue of ordinary shares of the Company pursuant to the right issue on
the basis of one rights share for every two existing shares of the
Company, details of which are disclosed in the prospectus of the
Company dated 23 August 2022.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE RISKS

The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with
respect to the distribution of lubricant oil transactions settled in
Renminbi. Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a
currency that is not the group entities’ functional currency. The Group
however did not engage in any derivatives agreements and did not
commit to any financial instrument to hedge its foreign exchange
exposure during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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TREASURY POLICIES

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the year ended 31 March 2024. The Group strives
to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit
assessments and evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To
manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group's liquidity
position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group's assets,
liabilities and other commitments can meet its funding requirements
from time to time.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Group did not have significant investments held, material
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures
during the year ended 31 March 2024.

FINANCIAL ASSETS THROUGH PROFIT AND
LOSS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had approximately HK$5.4 million of
key management personnel life insurance with an insurance company
(2023: approximately HK$5.3 million).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2024, save as disclosed below in the section headed
"Use of Unutilised Proceeds From the Listing” and elsewhere in this
report, the Group did not have any other material capital commitments
or any material contingent liabilities.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend a payment of any dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s pledged bank deposits in the amount
of approximately HK$6.1 million (as at 31 March 2023: approximately
HK$6.1 million), investment property in the amount of approximately
HK$14.6 million (as at 31 March 2023: HK$19.4 million), life insurance
policy in the amount of HK$4.6 million (as at 31 March 2023:
approximately HK$4.4 million), oil barges in the amount of
approximately HK$10.8 million (as at 31 March 2023: approximately
HK$12.6 million) and motor vehicles in the amount of approximately
HK$0.2 million (as at 31 March 2023: approximately HK$0.5 million)
were pledged as security for the Group's banking facilities.

COMPARISON OF IMPLEMENTATION PLANS
FOR BUSINESS STRATEGIES WITH ACTUAL
IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS

The following is a comparison of the Group's implementation plans for
its business strategies up to 31 March 2024 as set out in the section
headed "Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the
Company dated 29 March 2017 (the “Prospectus”) with the Group
actual implementation progress:

Implementation plan
Business strategy
2017F4A1H8BZE2024%3A31H

3 S B HEAT 5T 8

from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2024

EEERR

MR2024F3A3NE  AEENEEKFRITHE
FHe1EB BT (R2023FE3A318 : #6.1
BEBT) BEMEDNLAEEDS T (R
20233 A31H : 4194B BB T) - ASR
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E R

TR AKNAT HEA2017E3 8298 9B K
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—EITE A EB EE2024F3A31 BN ER
RIS TATE A S B TR HITEEANLE

Actual implementation
progress up to 31 March 2024
HZE2024%3A31HW
BRIETEE

Expansion and enhancement Purchase three new diesel tank

of our fleet of diesel tank

wagons
wagons J Replace three existing diesel tank
wagons
. Continue to evaluate the

effectiveness and operating
efficiency of new diesel tank

J Three new diesel tank wagons had
been purchased and two existing
diesel tank wagons had been
replaced. The delivery of the rest of
new diesel tank wagon will be
completed at the end of March
2025.

TR MAEEMITEEER

wagons and assess our need for
additional diesel tank wagons in
view of our business development
BE B somiTES

B =BHRANRBTEE

A1 ST T S BT T EE B B U
BITHE - URHARMRERSE
RUFEZRATEENTR

The effectiveness and operating
efficiency of new diesel tank
wagons has been closely evaluated.
EBE=AHORirEERERK
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COMPARISON OF IMPLEMENTATION PLANS
FOR BUSINESS STRATEGIES WITH ACTUAL

IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS (Continued)

Implementation plan

Business strategy

from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2024

20174818 £E2024%3H31H

S

I AT 3t B

EF
EHLLLE 4

HITETEIEEBRETE
&)

Actual implementation
progress up to 31 March 2024
HEZFE2024%3H3181
BRIETEE

Development and expansion e
of our marine bunkering
business

BREERE EHBER .

Upgrading our information o
technology and systems

RABMBEE RS .

Commence trial and full operation
of the marine diesel oil barge

Carry out marketing and promotional
activities and negotiate with potential
customers to secure purchase orders
for marine diesel oil

Evaluate the effectiveness and
operating efficiency of the marine
diesel oil barge
Se0m B R

A R HE 2 HE A ETT

ETMBGEEMSEEE  WHEE

7 (T E 7 LA 19 48 FR 5
R 5T

ST S B B SR T
B%

Purchase and upgrade new office
administrative information
technology systems

Continue to review and maintain
the performance of the information
technology systems
BENMEMAMAET
RES

THREREMB

BEFMRESEARRER
i}

R
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The Group had obtained all the
licences and permits and commenced
trial operation of the marine diesel ol
barge in April 2018 and commenced
full operation in July 2018.

The Group had carried out marketing
and promotional activities and
negotiated with potential customers
to secure purchase orders for marine
diesel oil.

The effectiveness and operating
efficiency of the marine diesel oil
barge had been evaluated from
time to time.
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BT o

Minor upgrade of information
technology systems had been
done. The Group was still in
negotiation with the potential
suppliers on the requirements and
specification of the new office
administrative information
technology systems.

The Group closely monitors and
maintains the performance of the
information technology systems.
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COMPARISON OF IMPLEMENTATION PLANS
FOR BUSINESS STRATEGIES WITH ACTUAL

IMPLEMENTATION PROGRESS (Continued)

Implementation plan

Business strategy

from 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2024

2017 4H81HZE2024%3H31H

3

I A7 3t B

EF
EHLLLE 4

i
EI‘E

TR BRRIETE

)

)

Actual implementation
progress up to 31 March 2024
HEZFE2024%3H3181
BRIETEE

Strengthening our manpower ~ ®

eI AF .

Recruit three drivers and three
logistics assistants to strengthen
our workforce required for our fleet
of diesel tank wagons

Recruit one safety supervisor to
enhance our occupational safety
management

Recruit (i) seafarers including two
coxswains, two technical operators,
four sailors, (i) one administration
staff, (iii) one operation manager
and (iv) one independent
consultant to cope with our marine
bunkering business

Evaluate the performance of the
newly recruited staff and assess our
need to recruit additional staff in
view of our business development
Provide training to our existing and
newly recruited staff and/or
sponsor our staff to attend training
courses on occupational health and

safety

EE AR R =RYRENE -
MR R AT EBEBEKMEAA
qE

EE—RLERET  UNEBER
B
BRRAE EHRERMIER NS
8 BREMANRTF MBI E
8 mEKF () —BITBAE
(i) —RIRIELE : R(v—RBL
Fam
FHEIARE TR - WEHHEK
MEEXBEREBEELZETH
BIRA K AR E TRHEE
Y/ SRENE T2 MBEREEY
2RIEIIRE

One logistics assistant was hired, it
is expected that the rest of staff will
be hired around March 2024.

Safety supervisor was hired through
job reallocation.

The Group contracted with a
service company to operate the
marine bunkering business.

The Group evaluates and assesses
the performance of our manpower
continuously so as to facilitate the
Group's business development.
Training courses and on-the-job
training have been provided to
staff.
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USE OF UNUTILISED PROCEEDS FROM THE
LISTING

As disclosed in the last year annual report of the Company issued on
23 June 2023, the actual net proceeds (the “"Net Proceeds”) from the
share offer (after deduction of the underwriting commission and listing
related expenses) (the “Share Offer”) were approximately HK$45.1
million, which was less than the estimated Net Proceeds of
approximately HK$50.9 million as set out in the prospectus (the
"Prospectus”) and the allotment results announcement of the
Company dated 11 April 2017.

Set out below is the actual use of the Net Proceeds up to 31 March
2024:

ABRAETHRERERR

BN A R 2023F 6 A 23 B T8 A F B F
WATWE O BEERMEFREFRE ([FH
BREFE]) (KA EHMES R LA
x%&) ((ROBEDORSIASET  ER
AEER ((RRER]) MARXERAHR2017
FAANBEEER A MAEGE PSR
THFFEAS09B BB T

AT 85 E £ 2024 3 431 R AT RBF
BHERAR

Expected
Actual use Unused timeframe for
Approximate of Net total Net the remaining
Planned use percentage of Proceedsup Proceeds up utilising
of total Net total Net to 31 March  to 31 March net proceeds
Proceeds Proceeds 2024 2024 (Note 6)
BEE2024F
BEZ2024% 3A31HK NeTHA
B E#fFRE 3A318H i AR A FENERR
HIERE MEFE FENRRE YRS BMEEE
tEAR BRESL ERAR HRFE (Ktz£o6)
HK$ million HK$ million  HK$ million
BEAT % BEAT BEAT
Purchase of diesel tank wagons BELRRES 7.8 17.3% 50 28 By 31 March 2025
(Note 1) (B&E1) M2025%3A/31 A
Z Al
Purchase of marine diesel oil barge & & fis FE 5 i Bl 14.0 31.0% 14.0 - -
Further strengthen our manpower ~ #E— B AF 6.1 13.5% 56 05  By31March 2025
(Note 2) (M5E2) # 2025438317
Z Bl
Upgrade of our information RABARBERZS 36 8.0% 1.1 25 By 31 March 2025
technology systems (Note 3) (FH5E3) R2025%F3A31H
ZFl
Working capital necessary for the LENEAREER 9.1 20.2% 9.1 -
operation of the new diesel tank 8 R B AR )
wagons and marine bunkering HEES
business
Working capital LEE® 45 10.0% 45 -
Total =X 45.1 100.0% 393 5.8
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USE OF UNUTILISED PROCEEDS FROM THE
LISTING (Continued)

Notes:

1 Three new diesel tank wagons had been purchased and two existing diesel tank
wagons had been replaced up to 31 March 2024.

2 The Group has been actively involved in the recruitment and selection of suitable
candidates through various means including job advertisements in major
newspapers.

3 The Group was still in negotiation with the potential suppliers on the requirements

and specification of the new office administrative information technology systems.

4 The expected timeline for utilising the remaining proceeds is based on the best
estimation of the future market condition made by the Group. It will be subject to
change based on current and future development of market conditions.

Save as disclosed above, the Group will apply the net proceeds
received from the Share Offer in the manners consistent with the
proposed applications set out in the section headed “Future Plans and
Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus. The implantation plans for
business strategies and use of net proceeds as stated in the Prospectus
were based on the best estimation and assumption of future market
conditions made by the Group at the time of preparing the Prospectus.
The Group will continue to implement its business strategies and apply
the net proceeds based on the actual development of the Group's
business and industry, as well as market conditions. In addition, in view
of the situation of the recent Hong Kong economy situation, the
Directors consider that it was not a good timing to expand our
business by acquiring diesel tank wagons and diesel oil barge, hiring
more manpower and upgrade of our information technology systems
during the year ended 31 March 2024. Accordingly, the unutilised Net
Proceeds could not be fully utilised during the year ended 31 March
2024. The Group intends to utilise the unutilised Net Proceeds as soon
as practicable by 31 March 2025.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE RIGHTS ISSUE

On 15 September 2022, the Company has completed an allotment and
issue of ordinary shares of the Company pursuant to the right issue on
the basis of one rights share for every two existing shares of the
Company (the “Rights Issue”). The net proceeds received by the
Company from the Rights Issue, after deduction of all relevant
expenses for the Rights Issue, was approximately HK$11.0 million. The
Company intended to apply the net proceeds from the Rights Issued
for repayment of a loan of the Group and as general working capital of
the Group. Details of which are disclosed in the prospectus of the
Company dated 23 August 2022.

The Company has fully utilised all the proceeds from the Rights Issue
before 31 March 2023.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a total of 28 employees (as at
31 March 2023: 26 employees) including the Directors. The
remuneration package the Group offered to the employees includes
salary, bonuses and other cash subsidies. In general, the Group
determines employees’ salaries based on each employee’s
qualifications, position and seniority. The Group has designed an
annual review system to assess the performance of our employees,
which forms the basis of the Group’s decisions with respect to salary
raises, bonuses and promotions. For the year ended 31 March 2024,
total staff costs amounted to approximately HK$11.0 million (year
ended 31 March 2023: approximately HK$10.1 million).

The Remuneration Policy of Directors

Quality and committed staff are valuable assets contributing to the
Group's success. To ensure the ability to attract and retain talents, the
Group's remuneration policy of Directors is built upon the principles of
providing equitable and market-competitive remuneration package
that support the performance culture and enable the achievement of
strategic business goals. The Group's remuneration policy of Directors
is, therefore, aiming at providing competitive but not excessive
remuneration package to the Directors.

The Directors’ remuneration comprises fixed salary or service fee and
variable components (such as bonus and share options), which is
benchmarked against companies of comparable business or scale with
reference to a mix of factors such as the prevailing market condition,
the Company’s performance and the qualifications, skills, experience
and educational background of the Directors.

The Directors’ remuneration is reviewed annually and are subject to
shareholders’ approval.

The Remuneration Policy of Employees

In order to attract and retain high quality staff and to enable smooth
operations within the Group, the remuneration policy and package of
the Group's employees are periodically reviewed. Employees’ salary
and relevant benefits are determined on the basis of performance,
qualification, experience, positions and the Group's business
performance.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in elsewhere of this report, the Directors are not
aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that has taken place
subsequent to the date of this report.
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Corporate Governance Report
TEERKE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Board is committed to establish and ensure high standards of
corporate governance and adopt sound corporate governance
practices so as to achieve effective accountability. The Company’s
corporate governance practices are based on the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).
The Directors strongly believe that reasonable and sound corporate
governance practices are essential for the growth of the Group and for
safeguarding and enhancing shareholders’ interests.

The Directors consider that the Company has complied with all the
applicable code provisions set out in the CG Code.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the
Group's overall strategies, the setting of management targets and
supervision of management performance. The management is
delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board for the
management and administration of the Group. In addition, the Board
has also delegated various responsibilities to the board committees of
the Company. Further details of the board committees of the Company
are set out below in this report.

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for promoting the
success of the Group by the direction and supervision of the Group's
business and affairs and the ultimate responsibility for day to day
management of the Group which is delegated to the management. To
this end, monthly financial and operational information are provided to
the Board for assessing the performance of the Company and its
subsidiaries. For significant matters that are specifically delegated by
the Board, the management must report back to and obtain prior
approval from the Board before making decisions or entering into any
commitments on behalf of the Company.
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TRERRE

The Board is responsible for, among others, performing the corporate
governance duties as set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG
Code, which include:

(@) to develop and review the Group's policies and practices on

corporate governance and make recommendations;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Group's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Directors and
employees; and

(e) to review the Group's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report.

Board Composition

Details of the composition of the Directors of the Company during the
year and up to the date of this report by category are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Fong Chun Man (Chairman)
Ms. Lo Pui Yee
Mr. Chan Chi Fai

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap
Mr. Wang Anyuan

All Directors have appropriate professional qualification or substantive
experience and industry knowledge. The Board as a whole has
achieved an appropriate balance of skills and experience. The
composition of the Board is in accordance with the requirements of
Rules 5.05 and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules. There are three
independent non-executive Directors and one of them has account
professional qualification. More than one-third of the members of the
Board are independent non-executive Directors, which brings a fairly
strong independence element in its composition.
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The participation of independent non-executive Directors in the Board
brings a diverse range of expertise, skills and independent judgment
on issues relating to the Group's strategies, performance, conflicts of
interests and management process to ensure that the interests of all
Shareholders of the Company have been duly considered.

The details of Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographies
of Board of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 89 to 94 of
this report. Other than that Ms. Lo Pui Yee who is the wife of Mr. Fong
Chun Man, there are no family or other material relationships among
members of the Board.

The Company is governed by the Board which has the responsibility
for leadership and monitoring of the Company. The Directors are
collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by
directing and supervising the Group's affairs.

The Board sets strategies and directions for the Group's activities with
a view to developing its business and enhancing shareholders’ value.
The Board has delegated the daily operation and day-to-day
management of the Group as well as the implementation of the
Board's policies and strategies to the executive Directors and
management of the Group.

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The Board has established three committees, including the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), remuneration committee (the
"Remuneration Committee”) and nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”), on 23 March 2017 with delegated powers
for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affair. Each of the
committees of the Board has been established with written terms of
reference, in which the terms of reference of the Audit Committee and
the Nomination Committee were amended and restated with effect
from 1 January 2019 and the terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee were amended on 3 January 2023.
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The Board will conduct at least four regular meetings a year. The
Directors can attend meetings in person or through other means of
electronic communication in accordance with the Company'’s articles of
association (the “Articles”). The Chairman also meets with the
independent non-executive Directors at least once a year without the
presence of other executive Directors. Notices and agendas of regular
Board meetings are served to all Directors at least 14 days before
convening the Board meeting. For all other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. All other schedules and
the relevant information of each Board and committee meeting are
generally made available to Directors or committee members at least
three days in advance. The Board and each Director also have separate
and independent access to the management whenever necessary.

The attendance of each of the Directors at the Annual General
Meeting, Board Meeting and meetings of the Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee held during the
year is set out below:

EXERNEFRETEINRTHER &
EURGHFIRARFERERAR (TE
BRARANDFAELREFBEMNOEMTAHRE -
TRNMEBIFFATEFEFRTEL K
H O HMBEHMATEFHRE -BREFS

= A
EENBENEEENEFSSHARTIR

PUBEERE2REFT -HXABHEMESS
AZEEEH —MELKTAENEN &
EFeRBERRNMAE RN 8 RIAR
BR-—REIERMN-ZAZXREEHEZES
KE -MEFE EFSRBZEFHUEAR
EEIE A BB -

BREENFREBETZERBEFAS E=F
g% FERZECER FMZESER

URREREGERIHFERBOT

Attendance/Number of meetings

HRRY ERETRY

General Board Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination
Name of Directors Meeting Meeting  Committee = Committee =~ Committee
EEpg RRAE EZ888 ENZEE FHEEE REZEE
Executive Directors: HTES:
Mr. Fong Chun Man (Chairman) FEXEE(EE) 1”1 4/4 - 17 171
Ms. Lo Pui Yee Bzt 1N 4/4 - - -
Mr. Chan Chi Fai REERE 171 4/4 - - -
Independent Non-executive Directors: BIFHTES :
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert FCOEAE N 4/4 4/4 1 11
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap Bk 1/1 4/4 4/4 - 1/1
Mr. Wang Anyuan FRTEE n 4/4 4/4 I -

In addition to abovementioned regular board meetings, the Chairman B Ll FHiIE =@ @ F 0 NE 20245

also held a meeting with the independent non-executive Directors in
the absence of the executive Directors and management during the
year ended 31 March 2024.

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
attended all the scheduled Board meetings to report matters arising
from corporate governance, risk management, statutory compliance,

accounting and finance.
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Practice and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are
normally made available to Directors in advance. At least 14 days’
notice should be given for a regular Board meeting. For other Board
and committee meetings, reasonable notices are generally given.

Minutes of all Board meetings recording sufficient details of matters
considered and decisions reached are duly kept by the Company
Secretary at the meetings and open for inspection by the Directors.

The Articles contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain from
voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have a
material interest.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least three days before each
Board meeting or Audit Committee meeting to keep the Directors
apprised of the latest developments and financial position of the
Company and to enable them to make informed decisions.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

The Articles provide that at each annual general meeting, one-third of
the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation and that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three
years.

The independent non-executive Directors should be appointed for a
specific term and subject to re-election. Each of the independent non-
executive Directors has entered into an appointment letter with the
Company. The appointment letter of each of the independent non-
executive Directors is for a term of three years, which may be
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other. The aforesaid appointment letters are subject
to termination provisions therein and the retirement and re-election
provisions in the Articles. Details of the appointment letters are
summarised in the Report of the Board of Directors on pages 74 to 88
of this report.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

To assist Directors’ continuing professional development, the Company
recommends Directors to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is
to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report,
all Directors have participated in continuous professional development
by attending training course or reading relevant materials on the topics
related to corporate governance and regulations in compliance with
code provision C.1.4 if of the CG Code. Records of the training
received by the respective Directors are kept and updated by the
Company Secretary of the Company.

The record of continuous professional development relating to
directors’ duties and regulatory and business development that have
been received by the Directors during the year ended 31 March 2024
are summarised as follows:

EECHEAZIIRERERE

RHHEENRHEEERR  ARREEE
F2EFBEEEBRUBERLENREZHM
Mk BHRAEE ERRSESEANB
BRATREZEESELENHNER - RREH
BRBEAREAN 2REFCETEE
AT RIE ST AR CA4 - BB T FEEIR
RAHEARCEERLRMZERNSER
BEEER BEENHEICSHEAARFZ
NEMERELEH

EENHE204FIANAUEFEERNE
EREMREREBERBBHESERR
O E T

Type of training

EER
(Note)
Directors E=x (My=E)
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Fong Chun Man (Chairman) FEXTE(FE) A B
Ms. Lo Pui Yee Szt A B
Mr. Chan Chi Fai PR 75 ST A A, B
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHITES
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert EECEE A B
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap BB B 37 % A A B
Mr. Wang Anyuan FRITEAE A, B
Notes: BT
Types of training By E
A Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefing, seminars, A: HEHEI - SBEETRAEGNE HIE - -
conferences, forums and workshops wiE & TR
B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant B :  BIEARRHE - w4 - BF) - #75 X GEM TR A

publications relating to the latest development of the GEM Listing Rules, other
applicable regulatory requirements and directors’ duties and responsibilities
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert, Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap and Mr. Wang Anyuan
were appointed as the independent non-executive Directors with
effect from 23 March 2017.

The independent non-executive Directors are experienced
professionals with expertise in respective areas of accounting, finance,
industry knowledge and expertise. With their professional knowledge
and experience, the independent non-executive Directors serve an
important function of advising the senior management on strategy
development and ensure that the Board maintains high standards in
financial and other mandatory reporting as well as providing adequate
checks and balances for safeguarding the interests of the Shareholders
and the Company as a whole; and participate in the Company’s various
committees including Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee.

The Company has received from each of its independent non-
executive Directors the written confirmation of his independence. The
Company considers the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent in accordance with Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Fong Chun Man was appointed as the Chairman of the Board and
an executive Director of the Company on 23 March 2017. Mr. Chan Chi
Fai was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer and an executive
Director of the Company on 23 March 2017.

The Chairman of the Board provides leadership to the Board and is
also responsible for the effective functioning of the Board in
accordance with good corporate governance practice and is
responsible for the overall corporate management of the business
development strategies of the Group. The Chief Executive Officer is
responsible for the implementation of the business strategies, policies
and objectives set out by the Board and is accountable to the Board
for the overall operations of the Group. These functions and
responsibilities are current being shared by the management team.
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BOARD COMMITTEE

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee on 23 March 2017
in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and with
written terms of reference amended and restated with effect from 1
January 2019 in compliance with Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The full terms of reference setting out details of the authority,
duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee is available on both
the GEM website and the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert, Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap and
Mr. Wang Anyuan meanwhile Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert, is the
Chairman of the Audit Committee.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist the Board by
providing an independent view of the effectiveness of the Company's
internal control and risk management system, overseeing the balance,
transparency and integrity of the Company’s financial statements and
the application of financial reporting principles, reviewing the
relationship with the external auditor and its independence assessment
and the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of the
Company'’s accounting staff, their training programs and budget.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with their review of the auditors’
remuneration, the independence of the auditors, HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited (the “"HLB"), and recommended the Board to reappoint
HLB as the Company’s auditors for the year ending 31 March 2024,
which is subject to the approval of Shareholders at the forthcoming
AGM. The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group's consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024.

According to the current terms of reference, meetings of the Audit
Committee shall be held not less than twice a year and the external
auditor may request a meeting if they consider that one is necessary.

Details of the number of Audit Committee meetings held and Directors
attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of Meetings
and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 21 to 22 in this report.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company established a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) on 23 March 2017 in compliance with
Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing Rules, which comprised two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Anyuan and
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert together with Mr. Fong Chun Man. Mr. Wang
Anyuan is the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and
structure relating to all Directors and senior management of the Group,
review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals, and
ensure none of the Directors determine their own remuneration.

The full terms of reference setting out details of duties of the
Remuneration Committee is available on both the GEM website and
the Company's website.

The Remuneration Committee determines Directors’ remuneration by
reference to the benchmarking of the market. The Company also looks
into individual Director's competence, duties, responsibilities,
performance and the results of the Group in determining the exact
level of remuneration for each Director.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee,
meeting shall be held at least once a year and additional meetings
should be held if the committee shall so request.

Details of the number of Remuneration Committee meeting held and
Directors attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of

Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 21 to 22 in this report.

Senior Management’s remuneration
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Number of individuals

A¥

Nil to HK$1,000,000 0% 1,000,0007%5 7T

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals are set out in notes 13 and 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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Remuneration policy

The remuneration policy of the Group for the Directors and senior
management members was based on their experience, level of
responsibility and general market conditions. Any discretionary bonus
and other merit payments are linked to the performance of the Group
and the individual performance of the Directors and senior
management members.

Nomination Committee

The Company established a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) on 23 March 2017 which comprised Mr. Fong Chun Man
and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwong Yuk
Lap and Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert. Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap is the Chairman
of the Nomination Committee. The written terms of reference are
amended and restated with effect from 1 January 2019.

The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to review the
policy concerning diversity of board members and the structure, size
and composition of the Board on regular basis and disclose such
policy, including any measurable objectives that the Committee has set
for implementing the policy and progress on achieving those
objectives, pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules (including disclosure in
the Company’s corporate governance report as appropriate); identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members; assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors; and make
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors. The full terms of
reference setting out details of the authority, duties and responsibilities
of the Nomination Committee is available on both the GEM website
and the Company's website.

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the
appointment of a Director in accordance with the following key
procedures and process:

i. The Nomination Committee will, giving due consideration to the
current composition and size of the Board, develop a list of
desirable skills, perspectives and experience at the outset to
focus the search effort;

ii. The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it considers
appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates, such
as interviews, background checks, presentations and third party
reference checks;
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iii.  Upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship, the
Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by way of
written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the recommendation
to the Board for appointment; and

iv. The Nomination Committee will thereafter make the
recommendation to the Board in relation to the proposed
appointment.

Pursuant to the terms of reference of the Nomination Committee,
meeting shall be held at least once a year and additional meetings
should be held if the committee shall so request.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the Policy as well as discussing matters
regarding the retirement and re-election of Directors.

Details of the number of Nomination Committee meeting held and
Directors attendance are set out in the section headed “Number of
Meetings and Directors’ Attendance” on pages 21 to 22 in this report.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ and auditor’s responsibilities for the consolidated
financial statements

All Directors understand and acknowledge their responsibility for
ensuring that the Group's consolidated financial statements for each
financial year are prepared to give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs, the financial results and cash flows of the Group in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2024, the Board has adopted appropriate and
consistent accounting policies and made prudent, fair and reasonable
judgments and estimates. The Directors are responsible for
maintaining proper accounting records which reflect with reasonable
accuracy the state of affairs, operating results, cash flows and equity
movement of the Group at any time. The Directors confirm that the
preparation of the financial statements of the Group is in accordance
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The Directors also confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they are
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern.
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The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect
fraud and other irregularities. The statement of auditors about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is
set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s auditors, are set out in
the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 95 to 101 of this report.

AUDITORS' REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the remuneration for the audit
and non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditor to the
Group was as follows:

EFA AR BELESRREREE
MEE - PARE R MRAIRGE Rt RTT
R ABZBMHEAMBERERNPREL
R BIAE N B 2B RS

ARRZHENNRREFRNRANRELDE
101 BRV B 2 BE RS

¥ B B &

REZE2024F3A31BIEFE - RARZH
Bl A S B IR M E R R IER T IR A B < 20
T

Services rendered HK$'000
R AR FHET
Annual audit service for the year BHE2024F3HA31BIEFEN 600

ended 31 March 2024
Non-audit service for the year
ended 31 March 2024

FEEARS

FEFET IR (B FE)

HE2024F3 831 HILFEEN

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

No corporate governance committee has been established and the
Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions such as developing and reviewing the Company’s policies,
practices on corporate governance, training and continuous
professional development of the directors and senior management,
the Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, etc.

The Directors will review the Group's corporate governance policies
and compliance with the CG Code each financial year and comply with
the “"comply or explain” principle in the corporate governance report
which will be included in the annual reports upon the Listing.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy in accordance with
the requirement as set out in the CG Code, which is summarised as
below:

The policy of the Company specifies that in designing the composition
the Board, Board diversity shall be considered from a number of
aspects, including but not limited to age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills and knowledge. All Board
members’ appointment will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity including gender diversity of the Board. Selection
of candidates for the Board will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, culture,
ethnicity and educational background, professional experience,
knowledge and skills. It also sets out the Board’s commitment to
gender diversity and other diversity aspects, with the ultimate goal of
achieving gender parity on the Board.

The Nomination Committee will disclose the composition of the Board
in Corporate Governance Report every year and supervise the
implementation of the Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss
any revision that may be required, and recommend any such revision
to the Board for consideration and approval.

As at 31 March 2024, the gender ratio in the workforce (including senior
management) of the Group was 82% male and 18% female. The Group
will continue to take gender diversity into consideration during
recruitment and increase the female proportion at all levels over time
with the ultimate goal of achieving gender diversity, such that there is a
pipeline of female senior management and potential successors to the
Board in the future.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
as its own code of conduct (“Code of Conduct”) regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. The Company has confirmed, having
made specific enquiry of the Directors, that all the Directors have
complied with the Code of Conduct throughout the year ended 31
March 2024 and up to the date of this report.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

During the Reporting Period, the Company has adopted a
Shareholders’ communication policy, which has helped the Company
to ensure that the Shareholders will have equal and timely access to
the information about the Company in order to enable the
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner and allow
them to engage actively with the Company. The Company has
reviewed and considered the Shareholders’ communication policy and
its implementation effective.

The Company endeavors to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings or
other general meetings to communicate with the shareholders and
encourage their participation.

The Company will ensure that there are separate resolutions for
separate issues proposed at the general meetings. All resolutions put
forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on by poll pursuant to
the GEM Listing Rules and poll results will be posted on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after each
shareholder meeting.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and effective investor
communication policy and to update investors on relevant information
on the Group's business in a timely manner, subject to relevant
regulatory requirements.

Significant Changes in the Constitutional Documents

The Company adopted by a special resolution the second amended
and restated memorandum and articles of association on 16
September 2022. For further details, please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 27 July 2022 and the circular of the Company
dated 29 July 2022. Saved as disclosed, during the Reporting Period
and up to the date of this report, there has been no significant changes
in the constitutional documents of the Company. The Articles are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

General Meetings with Shareholders

The Company’s annual general meeting will be held on Thursday, 8
August 2024.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

(a)

(b)

(c)

Convening of an extraordinary general meeting on
requisition by shareholders

Pursuant to Articles, any one or more shareholders holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the
paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company. Shareholders
also have the right to propose a person for election as a Director,
the procedures are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

Shareholders are welcomed to put forward proposals relating to
the operations and management of the Group to be discussed at
shareholders’ meetings. The proposals shall be sent to the
company secretary of the Company by a written requisition.
Shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal should convene
an extraordinary general meeting by following the procedures
set out in “Convening of an extraordinary general meeting on
requisition by shareholders” above.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may put forward enquiries to the Board to the
extent such information is publicly available to the Company
Secretary who is responsible for forwarding communications
relating to matters within the Board and communication relating
to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions, inquiries and
consumer complaints, to the Chief Executive Officer, in writing to
the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event
the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the
registered office specifying the objects of the enquiries.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency is
a key to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a policy of
open and timely disclosure of corporate information to its shareholders
and investment public. The Company updates its shareholders on its
latest business developments and financial performance through its
annual, interim and quarterly reports. The corporate website of the
Company (http://www.f8.com.hk) has provided an effective
communication platform to the public and the shareholders.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engages an external service provider, Ms. Leung Yin Fai,
as its Company Secretary, Mr. Cheung Lee Kwok, the chief operation
officer of the Group, is the primary contact person who Ms. Leung Yin
Fai can contact.

Ms. Leung Yin Fai, the Company Secretary, is responsible for advising
the Board on corporate governance matters and ensuring that the
Board policy and procedures, and the applicable laws, rules and
regulations are followed. All Directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary to ensure that the Board procedures
and all applicable laws are followed. Moreover, the Company Secretary
is responsible for facilitating communications among Directors as well
as with management.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company Secretary has
undertaken more than 15 hours of relevant professional training in
compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on 31 December 2018
which sets out the principles and measures on how the Company may
propose a dividend.

The Board will take into account the following factors when considering
the payment of dividends:

i The general financial condition of the Group;

ii The actual and future operations and liquidity positions of the
Group;

iii The future cash requirements and availability;

iv. Any restrictions on payments of dividends that may be imposed
by the Group’s lenders;

v The general market conditions; and
vi  Any other factor that the Board deems appropriate.

Any declaration and payment of future dividends under the dividend
policy will be subject to the Board's determination that the same would
be in the best interests of the Group and the Shareholders of the
Company as a whole. In addition, the declaration and payment of
dividends may be subject to legal restrictions or any applicable laws,
rules and regulations and the Articles of Association of the Company.

34 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

REERE

RARMEG B EAERRAREEH
FEORE THNRFEOERRERREAR
PRARBERBEREARDERNEE - KR RAE
BER - FHREERSE ARER D HESHN
XBEERVBRE - ARAN QA
(http//wwwf8comhk)Eﬁﬂ%ﬁ/\iﬁﬁiﬁ

R —EERMBBEE -
DEWE
AIE ZRRONERBIR G E RAB L 1E

ZN/N|
RARME AEBELERERNIBELEER
RIFBEL LB AR T BHARAL -

NAMERMKBLTAERECERERFTER
EEERUHERYBRRETESIHRNE
F? BRED  RAIRBRG - rAEEEHA
BESRRAMENEENRBABRESSHE
THRFREFMAAEREREREST - I
E}jg%iﬁ,\ﬁi&§$ZFﬁM&E.EEJ"ZF'ﬁ

REZE2024F3ANBIEFEE  RaED
EIRGEM EMREIE5 151§ m%ﬁﬁ/,ﬁw
NEEBEEE -

BREBE
$®ia%mm¢uﬂma%%k%ﬂ%*
EFHIBEBEAQRNMNERKNRENER
BINMETE 7704 -

ZRIKMNEEE EFEKERATHER:

ARE B — BRI

i ﬁ%ﬂ@?%&*%%@u&ﬁiﬁﬁ@
5

i ARKBEFELAUHHEEE
v ANEBERAR SRS IS EINAE

I BR )
v BTN &
vi BEERABEENTMEMEZE-

BREREBRERMENAKRREAHES

ERTHERONAANEBRRAABBROHE
aaE—Tiﬁ“JE?éﬁTVF ° BESI  B R MR
BBk B ok IR S SR AE L A A2 - R A
&5%%,%1«/(&21»‘ RIS ERMARIATRR -



Corporate Governance Report

TRERRE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for establishing and maintaining
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. The Group's systems of risk management and
internal control include a defined management structure with limits of
authority, is designed to help achieve business objectives, safeguard
assets against unauthorised use or disposition, ensure the maintenance
of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for internal use or for publication, and ensure compliance
with relevant legislation and regulations. The systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate risks of
failure in operational systems and achievement of the Group's
objectives.

An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures,
lines of responsibility and delegated authority has been established.
The division/department head of each core business segment is
accountable for the conduct and performance of such segment within
the agreed strategies, which are set by themselves and the Board
together, and reports directly to the Board.

In the course of conducting the business of the Group, it is exposed to
various types of risks. During the year ended 31 March 2024, the
following principal risks of the Group were identified and classified into
strategic risks, operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks.
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Strategic Risks
market competition risk, reputation risk
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%E@Eﬁ J\}\@Jjj{/\l Z_/Ii 11 /\H—L%’l’&/\l}bq:%

Financial Risks

B 5 R mBEERERE - EERRE - FMEEE - SMNERR

Compliance Risks
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Sensitivity to government policies; keeping up with new technologies and customers’ taste;
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Insufficient labour supply; workplace injury; disruption of IT system

Liquidity risk, credit risk, interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk, inflation risk
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Risk related to occupation safety and health; risk of non-compliance with ordinances related to

employment; change of GEM Listing Rules and relevant company regulations and ordinances
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The Board is ultimately responsible for the risk management of the
Group and it has delegated to executive management to carry out the
risk identification and monitoring procedures. The objectives of the risk
management are to enhance the governance and corporate
management processes as well as to safeguard the Group against
unacceptable levels of risks and losses.
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The risk management process of the Group will involve, among others,
(i) an annual risk identification and analysis exercise which involves
assessment of the consequence and likelihood of risks and the
development of risk management plans for mitigating such risks; and
(i) an annual review of the implementation of the risk management
plans and fine tuning of the implementation plan when necessary.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the
Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted review of both
design and implementation effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group, covering all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls, with a view to
ensuring that resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and
financial reporting functions are adequate. In this respect, the Audit
Committee communicates any material issues to the Board.

Up to the date of this report, the Group has engaged an experienced
personnel to maintain an internal audit function, the Board has overall
responsibility for the risk management and internal control systems and
for reviewing its effectiveness.

Also, the Company has engaged external independent professionals
to review the Group's system of internal controls and risk management
annually and further enhance the Group's internal control and risk
management systems as appropriate.

During the Reporting Period, the scope of review of the internal control
from the external independent professional covered the following
aspects: (1) control environment and risk management, (2) financial and
cash management cycle, (3) regulatory compliance and licensing
management cycle and (4) purchase and payment management cycle.
The internal control review has been completed and certain internal
control deficiencies were identified. Up to the date of this report, the
Company has agreed to adopt the remedial measures (as below
mentioned) recommended by the external independent professional.
For instance,

(@) To enhance the accounts receivable aging analysis by including
more detailed information. The Company should pay special
attention to accounts receivable over 90 days.

To conduct at least monthly unannounced inspections of both its
employees and fuel delivery vehicles. The Company should
develop a comprehensive inspection plan and ensure strict
adherence to this plan.

(c)  To conduct a comprehensive review of its existing suppliers. Only
those suppliers that successfully pass the qualification assessment
and meet the established criteria should be included in the
approved supplier list (the “"Approved Supplier List”). The
Company must strictly adhere to the Approved Supplier List
when selecting suppliers.

36 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

AEEEREEREFRS R (AP )
FRRERBR RSN BREFEZEERRN
18 R e A] BEME LA B ) 7E B 14 B L ez O L e
EIEAE RVFEEMAREEFEOH
TERRBERTERITHER

REEHRAREEAREEN EFSEB
BEZZEE RAAKERAREENMAE
BERGHRTRERAR - BEMEEAE
T BREME EERARES AR
RAEE O SR - WA R B 153 &S Be
HABRENER BIEERER 5
HELREE -GHITEH BRZEERES
SRWEMEAEER -

HEAREEH AKBEESALRAL
MEAMEZRE EFe2mAERARE
B R RBRER 1R R M E R AR AT

BSN ARREEBINBBLEXRALEF
EHAKBOAMEEREREEBR  #
— 7 DN 98 AN £ [ O P B BE 1 N R B B R R A
(F@ER) ©

RBEPE - IBBLERATHAMEE
MBS EEIREIATAMETE - ()IEHIRR
EFEREE QUWHRESEERY Q6
MR E TR IE R & (4) BRIE A B IRIRE -
NEEEEESD K YHBE TR
MK -BEAREBH  ARFERBRB
SNEBLEREALTEENEMIEE (0 TA
) - BHIME -

(@) R MR EREE DT - A EFEAEY
BF o ARBEBREEBIBIOKRNE
YRR -

b) ZELERAHHB TR MERERET
—RRBRE - ARFIEHE—EEE
MR ERT S - WHEREIG B TXATE -

© =ZERIRAEHRER RERNEBEE
RAEE TR ERENHER  T/E
MARAHERRE (RTHRER R
Bl -ARREEZHERFAREER
STRANHERZE -



Corporate Governance Report
TEERKE

Overall, the Company has complied with the risk management and
internal control code provisions of the CG Code during the Reporting
Period.

The Company has also established a whistleblowing policy as well as
anti-corruption policy and systems, details of which are set out in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report below.

Internal control on connected transaction

As a general control, the Group maintained a list of connected persons
and entities for the monitoring and identification of connected
transaction. The risk management and internal control of the Group
were reviewed by the Board and the Audit Committee for the year
ended 31 March 2024.

The Board and the Audit Committee considered that (i) the risk
management and internal control system of the Company was
adequate and efficient; and (ii) the resources allocated, staff
qualifications and experience in respect of the accounting, internal
auditing and financial reporting functions of the Company as well as
training programs and budget were adequate and sufficient.

Independent non-executive Directors’ view on internal
control for connected transactions

The management and independent non-executive Directors will
continue to monitor connected transactions of the Company. The
management and independent non-executive Directors consider that
information provided by the Company’s management to assist
independent non-executive Directors in their annual review of
connected transaction are fair and sufficient. The independent non-
executive Directors also made regular enquiries upon whether there is
any continuing connected transaction exceeding the proposed annual
caps to ensure that continuing connected transaction was identified
timely. The independent non-executive Directors have not
encountered any challenges or difficulties in their annual review of
connected transaction of the Company save as disclosed in this report.

LOOKING FORWARD

The Group will keep on reviewing its corporate governance standards
on a timely basis and the Board endeavors to take the necessary
actions to ensure compliance with the required practices and standards
including the provisions of the CG Code.
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INTRODUCTION, ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE POLICIES

F8 Enterprises (Holdings) Group Limited ("F8 Enterprises”,
llcompanyll "
"Group”), was principally engaged in the provision of the business of

we” and "our”), with its subsidiaries (collectively, the

sale and transportation of diesel oil and related products in Hong Kong
during the year ended on 31 March 2024.

This Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG") Report summarizes
the environmental, social and governance initiatives, plans and
performances of the Group and demonstrates its commitment to
sustainable development.

Our Business

F8 Enterprise was listed on the GEM Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited with the stock code of 8347. The principal
operating activity of the Group is sale and transportation of diesel oil
and related products in Hong Kong, and also supply of marine diesel
oil for construction vessels and lubricant oil for construction machinery
and vehicles. With the competitive advantage of economies of scale,
with our experienced management, our own diesel tank wagons and
marine diesel oil barge, the Group enjoys a competitive edge in the
diesel oil industry in Hong Kong.

Our Vision

To maintain the leading position in the industry in order to provide
high quality products and services in Hong Kong.

Our Mission

To provide the best quality and safe products and services to meet
customers’ demands and create value to the shareholders and
investors.
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Board of Directors

Executive Directors

BITES

Exeg

Independent Non-executive Directors

BYFHTES

Mr. Fong Chun Man (Chairman)
FEXEE(FE)

Ms. Lo Pui Yee
B+

Mr. Chan Chi Fai
PR S BE S A

The ESG Governance Structure

Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert
EEC At

Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap
BBAB AL S

Mr. Wang Anyuan
ITRTkE

B -HEREBNERRE

The Group has set up an ESG working taskforce (the “Taskforce”), ZAHEE DA HAEREFTE THKH RS -
composed of staff from relevant departments, in which, full-time staff # & &EETHEZEE/NE ((EENE]) - H
has been assigned to collect the data relevant to ESG and compile the FERKEBE THREFRARE HELE
ESG Report. The Taskforce would periodically report to the board of JEMBIEIHFEERRE HEMEAHRE &
directors of the Company (the “Board”), assisting in the assessment B/ EAFHRAARFESE ((ESE]) WS -
and identification of risk management of the Group on ESG aspects ABBIFT A RBAAEBERE HERE
and whether its internal control system is appropriate and effective. AT EHABREREALREALEZRZGRS
The Taskforce reviews the ESG performance of the Group, including BERBR - EHE/NEEBEFEAEENIR
environmental, labour practices, and other ESG aspects. The Board B HegkEREN ERBERE -ET
sets the tone at the top for its ESG strategies and is responsible for HHRALHEMERE HEhEr#Ek EF
ensuring effective risk management and internal controls. The detail of EH#HERE HEREARBENR AL - I

the ESG strategy is stated below.

BERARRREELAIMERERER R
% g REARBOFBERINAT o

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-NFFH 39



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

5

HERERKRE

Detail of the ESG Strategy

We established an ESG management system with clarified
management functions and responsibilities at all levels. We carry out

specific work through the Taskforce and help the Board understand

our ESG risks and performance in a timely manner, and so a better

incorporate ESG factor into company planning and daily operations.

o The Board is responsible for:

assessing and determining the Group's ESG risks

ensuring the establishment of appropriate and effective
ESG risk management and internal control system

developing ESG strategies, action plans and objectives

monitoring the progress and performance of ESG work

reviewing and approving annual ESG reports

J The management is responsible for:

40

reporting ESG-related risks and opportunities to the Board
implementing ESG risk management and internal control
systems

informing the Board of the effectiveness of ESG risk
management and internal control systems

arranging work in accordance with the ESG strategies,
action plans and objectives developed by the Board
reporting to the Board on the progress and performance of

ESG work

reviewing and submitting annual ESG report to the Board
for approval
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o The Taskforce is responsible for:
—  carrying out specific ESG work
—  reporting to the management on the progress of the work
—  collecting information and data

— preparing annual ESG reports and reporting to the
management

SCOPE OF REPORTING

This ESG Report covers the Group's business activities of offices in
Hong Kong and mainland China, which represent the Group’s major
sources of revenue. The ESG key performance indicator (“KPI"”) data is
gathered and included subsidiaries under the Group's direct control.
The Group will extend the scope of disclosures when and where
applicable. The KPIs are shown in the ESG Report as well as
supplemented by explanatory notes to establish benchmarks.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
"Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” (the "ESG
Reporting Guide”) as set out in the Appendix C2 of the GEM Listing
Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The ESG Report
was prepared in compliance with the “comply or explain” provisions in
the ESG Reporting Guide. Information relating to the corporate
governance practices of the Group has been set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on p.19 to p.37 of Annual Report for the year
ended 31 March 2024.

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report describes the ESG activities, challenges and measures
taken by the Group from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024 (the
"Reporting Period”).
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

We value our stakeholders and their feedback regarding our
businesses and ESG aspects. In order to understand and address their
key concerns, we have maintained close communication with our key
stakeholders, including but not limited to Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
government, suppliers, investors, media & public, customers,
employees, as well as society.

We take stakeholders’ expectations into consideration in formulating
our businesses and ESG strategies by utilizing diversified engagement
methods and communication channels, shown as below.

Stakeholders Expectations and Requirements

A HMERER

EZASH

BHERRS AAREHRFESERRE
HERERTHNRERER - AT HNMEE
HIZ2MIFE R BERIZREAR
SEYBRE  BREETRNE B M K
FF-HER REE BHREAARAL T
F-EEUREE -

BRI HERBIANIRE 8 REIRRE
B BEFNA T XARERTRMNSET
KBBRE hEm ANHE -

Means of Communication

BEAR

Hong Kong Stock Exchange e Compliance with GEM Listing Rules

BB o EFGEM ETHEAY
Government e Observance of laws and disciplines

and payment of tax according to laws

T o BPAERLEWHEM
Suppliers e Fair competition/quality and price

e Stable payment terms

HER o REHFEHARNER
s REENH

Shareholders/Investors ¢ Financial performance
e Corporate governance
e Marketimage

IR AREE o« MIBEA
o MEER
s MHR

® Routine meetings, website updates
and announcements

o BIfTEE  WUEMMAE

e Compliance checks in cooperation
with government and regulatory
authorities

e Periodic filings workshops/seminars

s BRABMNEEEERBAITEEER
mE

s THHB2ETEE MIE

e Business communication/procurement
contract/e-mail and telephone contact

e Fair competition

o XBEm MEAL EFTHBHRE
R B

. ATHS

¢ Information published on websites of
the Company/Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (e.g. announcements,
circulars, quarterly results reports,
interim reports, annual reports, etc.)

o RARE,/ BEMIABINMAL
(BIRE BE - FEXERS
RHIRE  FHRE

Media & Public e Corporate governance, environmental ® Explanation on key issues/press

protection, and human rights
BHEENT o BEER REREMARE
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Stakeholders Expectations and Requirements Means of Communication
T WERER BEH
Customers e Product quality e Setting up a variety of communication
* Prohibited/restricted substance channels to understand customers’
management needs by email, phone call and client
e Environmental, safety and health questionnaire
management performance e Audit feedback/self-managed
¢ Implementation performance of the performance feedback
code of conduct (labour relations/
labour rights/compliance with laws
and regulations)
e Transparency and reliability of
information disclosure
zp e EmmE s BURBERRE BBER THFE
o XA/ RANEER REFHERTHEEPEL
o R - RENHEEREN o FEAZEIE AEXEREMNCE
s TREAMTER(BEBER BT
R SERRBPIERE)
o BMMIEFAREEN ST
Employees e Good salary and benefits e The Company's internal website/
e Fair promotion and career e-mail/employee suggestion box/
development Discussion between employees and
¢ Good and safe working environment executives/surveys (iregular)

e Strengthening communications with
employees to provide fair promotion
and establishing training system to
equip employees with adequate
working skills

(=3=] o RIUFEVEEN N A8 F o AARIANHBY, EFHMH EEE
o RFWMBIRBEER R/ REBIHMEH HERASE (T
s RIFZEHIIERER EH)

o MREE TR  REQFONEITH#
GNEIBIGE EETAKBER
B TFEHRE

Society e Environmental issues/compliance with  ® Sponsoring community public welfare
laws activities/community visits/corporate
e Transportation website
e Employment opportunities/ e Environmental protection
community/public welfare
e Corporate Responsibility
e s REFHETEE o BEPMHEAREE MRHMARE
. 5% a5
o BMEME MEAREF o RIBMRE
o PEEME

We aim to collaborate with our stakeholders to improve our ESG
performance and create greater value for the wider community on a

continuous basis.

BMEERERAGE BENERMOR
B oHeEkERERYRERZHEAESR

REE-
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The management and staff of the Group's respective major operations
have participated in the preparation of the ESG Report to assist the
Group in reviewing our operations and identifying relevant ESG issues
and assess the importance of related matters to our businesses and
stakeholders. Based on the assessed significant ESG issues, a data
collection questionnaire was prepared to collect information from
relevant departments and business units of the Group.

The following is a summary of the Group’s material ESG issues
included in this ESG Report:

EEMTE

AEBEZTEXEBNEREERBETIHESHE
ARE -HERERBENHEINE - UK
By SR B et 2 E R AR MBI AE R IR IR - A
erEREE LHHHEEETEHAREER
BLERANEEL - RS RBERLFEE
REE #HE@LERRE  REHBEWER
B AASREEBBPAREFEMREER -

UTRARE HE8MhEMEMHAEH
ERRE HEREARENHE

Subject Areas Aspects Materiality
FTEAY =4 EEM
Environmental A1l. Emissions v
R AT HER
A2. Use of Resources v
A2 EREIR
A3. Environment and Natural Resources v
A3 RBERAER
A4. Climate Change
A4 RIRE AL
Social B1. Employment v
e B1.{E 1%
B2. Health and Safety v
B2 EEHL %
B3. Development and Training v
B3. & MIET
B4. Labour Standards v
B4. & T 48
Operating Practices B5. Supply Chain Management 4
(ST BS. iR E 2
Bé. Product Responsibility v
B6. EmAT
B7. Anti-corruption v
B7. XE5
Community B8. Community Investment 4
it B8. it @I E
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Reporting principles
HERA

Interpretation

B=

Application of reporting principles
FERHERR

Materiality

B2

Quantitative

g1t

Balance

&

Consistency

— gl

The Group should focus on reporting
the ESG issues that have an important
impact on the investors and its
stakeholders.

AEEREHMEHREERE R
ABERRENRE - HaNEREE -

The KPIs must be measurable and
clearly state the calculation criteria and
methods. The Group should set targets
to reduce a particular impact.

FRESIERVECAGERN WA
FERAAT EIRERTE - NEEER
ERVBEEZENRR -

The Group should objectively and
truthfully report on its ESG performance
and avoid selections, omissions, or
presentation formats that may
inappropriately influence a decision or
judgment by the report reader.
FEEREHABMREHRE
SREREN - @RERE BRI
AT ERFEREBEFLIRKAH
Eren 250 -

The Group should use consistent
disclosure and statistical methods to
help stakeholders analyze and evaluate
the organization’s past and current
performance. The Group should also
explain any changes to the method.

A5 B 5 T — 0 B R R A 0
HHH A SR EAEBBER
B A0 A - A N AR 3
BOEZ AL -

The Group determines the impact of various
ESG issues on the Group's operations through
the materiality assessment. Based on the
results of the assessment, the Group identifies
material ESG issues and makes key disclosures
in this ESG Report.
AEBBEEZUNERESRERE L8
MERBBHAEELENTE - RIBFTA
R AEEBTEARE HehERHERE
WHERRE H@REBRREPHKE -

This ESG Report is prepared in accordance
with the ESG Reporting Guide and discloses
KPls in a quantitative manner. The KPIs are
supplemented by explanatory notes to
establish benchmarks where feasible.

RIRE -G NERRERERE L hE
e EEEmT LB AN RBBREN
IR ERIITER T - BRARUEIRE AR E
MR - ARSI EE -

This ESG Report is based on an objective and
impartial manner to ensure that the
information disclosed faithfully reflects the
overall performance of the Group in ESG
aspects.

ARE HEREAREENEBALMNE
A ARAEENEHNE RRASEER
BoHeRERTENEEBEY -

Unless otherwise stated, the Group's disclosure
and statistical methods are consistent with the
past such as the year ended 31 March 2023 for
meaningful comparison. If there are any
changes that may affect comparison with
previous reports, explanations will be provided
in this ESG Report.

BRAFAEN  AEBORE LS E
BB (R 20233 A31BIEFE) — 50
IAEETTAEZHLLE - A A E LAl 5t
TEBERENOLE - BRERE HEkE
R ER T IAGA -
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During the Reporting Period, the Group confirmed that it has
established appropriate and effective management policies and
internal control systems for ESG issues and confirmed that the
disclosed contents are in compliance with the requirements of the
"ESG Reporting Guide".

CONTACT US

We welcome stakeholders to provide their opinions and suggestions.
You can provide valuable advices in respect of the ESG Report or our
performances in sustainable development by sending your feedback
and enquires to our Customer Service Manager at cs@f8.com.hk.
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CARING FOR THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL
RESOURCES

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A1 Emissions

Governance on Air Pollutants, GHG Emissions and Waste
Management

The Group is strongly committed to the long-term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which we operate. As such, the Group
has established relevant procedures to detect and prevent any possible
pollution incidents which affect the surrounding environment that may
occur in the course of our business operations. During the year ended
31 March 2024, we measured and managed our environmental
performance in several aspects throughout our operations.

In terms of the Group's sale, supply and transportation of diesel oil and
related products businesses in Hong Kong, we understand there are
environmental emissions such as air emissions, GHG emissions, waste-
water discharges, general waste, and hazardous waste disposals.
During the Reporting Period, the emissions and waste produced from
the operations of 8 diesel oil tank wagons. By integrating
environmental consideration into our decision-making processes, we
embrace our responsibilities to create an environmentally sustainable
business. We are also committed to raising our employees’
environmental awareness and complying with relevant environmental
laws and regulations.

To enhance our environmental governance practice and mitigate the
environmental impacts produced by our operations, we have
implemented relevant environmental protection policies and
communicated such policies to our employees. These policies
encourage our staff to contribute towards sustainability by adopting
environmentally friendly operation methods. In the long run, we will
continue to enhance our environmental management strategies in
monitoring and minimizing the environmental impacts brought by our
businesses regularly in the coming years.

FAERBEERXRER

A. BIE
A1 HERR
ERSHRY  BERBHRREEYEES
HHER
AEBBFREEREGHERERTED
EHAHEEREE N - Al AEEB ST

BEARF Bl RIE £ 2 ERER A
EEHRTEXERABRENSREEH-
HE2024F3ANBILEFE  HPIERNEE
BREPRZEAEAGEREERRARRI -

AAEENTBETHSOMMABBEEREE
HEKEHXHME  ARAPAAEBHFE
RIBSEHR GIMERFRERY  RE
BRI BB —REMRERED
BE -RBEHE Y REDE N\ HBK
HITEENESERRETEL -EBHREE
BEEMARPAREBE - HAAEAIZ
RRAUBBEREENE T - RAXRBIRN
EeEEMRAER  TETHBENRRZE
BAER -

REEHRMORFLBEER  BEEBLHIR
BEKNTE RS ERBBRRERER
R URZEEREERE - ZFBREE
BERARRNBIED L RAUKBRRE

HER - REME  RABEENRRREE
B YR ARBEEMERLRZERD

EBHRBERNTE -
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Air Pollutants Emissions

During the Reporting Period, the total air emission produced by the
Group amounted to approximately 5,811.51 kg, which decreased by
approximately 8.09% compared to last year. The emission intensity was
approximately 726.44 kg per vehicles (2023: 790.35 kg per vehicles).
The Group strives to save energy and reduce waste as much as
possible in its daily work, thereby reducing air pollutants emissions.
Through different environmental protection measures, employees’
awareness of reducing exhaust gas emissions has been raised. The
Group's air emissions during the Reporting Period were as follows:

ERTRYHEK

RREHE AEEEENTRERDES
#A581151F 7% & EEHBRFERLDD
8.09% - FE/TEMNEEMBE N FT72644F
(20234 : F#f/AE790.35TF 52) ° AEEEK
THRBEIRPESHNEREBIRE
M =R EMEEN - BB TRMRR
Bit - BB YR BEREMAE SRS AR -
MRS EE - AEBMZERISAERDIT

Air Pollutants Emission Unit 2022/2023  2023/2024 % Change
RS EYBEK B 2022/2023 F 2023/2024 F ERalsd-)
Nitrogen oxidex (“NOx") KG 5,893.57 5,417.01 -8.09%
Aatm((a&|w) )

Sulphur oxidex ("SOx") KG 5.43 5.00 -7.92%
malty ((maty)) T

Particulate matters (“PM") KG 423.76 389.50 -8.08%
AR A SBZ 0N ([ AT IR A SBRZ SR ]) )

Total 6,322.76 5,811.51 -8.09%
wE

GHG Emissions and Energy Conservation

The GHG emissions generated by the Group are summarized below in
direct and indirect section. The direct emissions are from the Group's
vehicles’ consumption of fuels while the indirect emissions are via using
energy and paper disposal at landfills.

During the Reporting Period, the total GHG were approximately 831.41
tonnes. Our GHG emissions were mainly classified into three scopes:

Scope 1: Direct emission from the usage of fuels by our vehicles;
Scope 2: Energy indirect emissions; and

Scope 3: Indirect emissions of paper disposal at landfills.
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The following table showed the figures of the Group’s GHG emissions
during the Reporting Period.

TRETAEBEN RS HRE AR EREHE -

GHG emissions Unit 2022/2023  2023/2024  Change (%)
BERE K By 2022/2023 F 2023/2024F 2B (L)
Direct emissions of GHG from the usage of Emissions tonnes

fuels by vehicles 887.37 815.62 -8.09%
FEE AR SR AR E RS HEHa

HEHEMN
Indirect emissions of GHG from the energy Emissions tonnes 13.38 12.95 -3.27%
BEIR S AKX BB = SR A8 R BER BEPmE
Indirect emissions of GHG from the paper Emissions tonnes

disposal at landfills 1.74 2.84 63.57%
RERREZEERRENREERE HE R

I HER
Total 902.49 831.41 -7.88%

In line with our policies to minimize air pollutants and GHG emissions, A A KPR EHRL =G S LY R L =G

The Group has set a target to reduce the air pollutants emission and
the annual GHG emission intensity per unit of production volume by
3%. The Group's offices air conditioning is set and maintained at a
fixed temperature and requiring employees to turn off all the lights and
switch off the desktops after work.

Employees are also encouraged turn off the lights at lunch time and
using power saving appliances all the time.

Waste Management

Hazardous waste handling method

Despite the Group did not generate hazardous wastes during the
Reporting Period, we have established guidelines in governing the
management and disposal of hazardous wastes. In case there is any
hazardous waste produced, we must engage a qualified chemical
waste collector to handle such waste, which is complied with the
relevant environmental regulations and rules.

BERMEE  AEECRERR BERS
AR BEEEMUNFEEERBIHMN
BERIE3% - AREBRAZENEHARE LR
FREEAE YEREETHRELRA
BERNEMENK -

RIS B R AR B - R
B R P AL 28 -

EEYEE

EREWRES R
BEAEERBEHHLEEECREY
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WEEEEREREY RALABEEE
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MEARBER LR
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Non-hazardous waste handling method

During the Reporting Period, the non-hazardous waste produced by
the Group was mainly paper waste, which amount to 592.33 kg (2023:
371.75 kg) with a rise compared to last year. The paper wastes
produced per employee was 22.78 kg per employee (2023: 14.30 kg
per employee). The paper consumption increased when comparing
with last year. We strive for reducing paper consumption in the coming
year.

The Group has set a goal of reducing the intensity per employee in
respect of hazardous and non-hazardous waste by 3% in the coming
year. With the aim of minimizing the environmental impacts from non-
hazardous wastes generated from our business operations, the Group
have implemented measures to handle such wastes and launched
different reduction initiatives. The Group have disposed the waste
generated by business operation into three categories, which are
general waste, recyclable waste and special waste. Recyclable waste
includes papers, bottles, cans, etc. Special waste includes toner,
battery, etc. The three categories are handled in different ways based
on their nature.

We have implemented the following procedures to encourage

employees to share responsibilities in waste management and

minimize waste generations:

J Receiving faxes electronically as much as possible, using
electronic systems for filing documents and distributing messages

by electronic channels

o Purchasing environmentally friendly by checking item
consumption to avoid overbuying

J Using recycled toner/inkjet cartridges
o Using double-sided printing or photocopying wherever possible
J Avoiding unnecessary paper using in the office

J Recycling one-sided printed paper

o Reusable tableware is provided in the pantry

J Recycling bins are placed in the office

J A food waste decomposer machine is in place for handling food
waste
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During the Reporting Period, the Group did not have any material non-
compliance with the relevant environmental laws and regulations in
Hong Kong and mainland China, including but not limited to the
“Waste Disposal Ordinance”, “Air Pollution Control Ordinance”,
“Noise Control Ordinance” of Hong Kong and “Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China” of mainland China
that had a significant influence on the Group’s operations.

A2 Use of Resources

The Group strives to optimise resource usage in our business
operations and take initiatives to introduce measures on promoting
resource efficiency and adopting eco-friendly approaches in our
operations. The Group's major resource consumption contributes to
energy consumption. We have established related policies and
initiatives related to energy consumption management, which will be
mentioned in this section.

Energy Consumption

The major energy consumption of the Group was electricity
consumption in the daily operation. The Group aims to minimize
environmental impacts in our operations by identifying and adopting
appropriate measures. We continuously explore the use of new energy
in our business operation and how to optimize, integrate and use the
resources in a highly efficient manner with the support of the latest
information science and technology, thereby achieving sustainable
development. Related policies and initiatives on energy conservation
have been developed to show our concern on energy efficiency. All
employees must implement the adopted policies and measures in
resource utilization. Regular review is conducted on our energy
objectives and targets to seek continuous improvement in the Group's
energy performance.

Monthly monitoring on the usage of electricity was implemented.
Unexpected high electricity consumption would be investigated to find
out the root cause and preventive measures would be taken. During
the Reporting Period, the Group has implemented the following
measures relating to mitigating emissions:

o Switching off unnecessary lightings and electrical appliances
when not in use

o Don't use the high power incandescent lamps

R¥FEME - NREERE LT EABRE
ERERTETHARRERLOERNBER -
BREMNRRUAEELEELEATEN
FECEYMRERD) - (ZRIFRESIED) -
(R E R K h B A e 2 AR KA
BIRIBREE)

A2fEAER
AEBBIREFREEFRENLCERER I
HEBLERIHSARSERIENEIE
MEMRRENFE AEENEEERHBEME
BEERERE - MBS T HeE R EFEEIEMA
BAMBR RN 25 BEME RGN AE
iRt o

RE R R ¥
AEENTERRBFRR AT LEDH UM
KRENEFE - AEE T ERZER BRI RIR
BiEEER SEERERANFERER
K-BPTHEXRHLETRREMNER
PA R an e BT FA R0 B A BRSO IR T = 3t
Bl EERERER MERAIFER
f& o AR A2 Bl E AR SR K BE IR R S 6 e
NBRARRIBERE RN - A REHEE
RERR VAR DRI BR R - ]
PMERBAEREE  USRFERELE
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J The air-conditioning of the meeting room should not be turned
on until 15 minutes before anyone uses it, and the air-
conditioning should be turned off immediately when leaving the
meeting room

o Lower the curtains before leaving the office to reduce the amount
of direct sunlight in the office the following day

J Initiating the standby or hibernate mode of the computer in
order to make sure to turn off their computers before leaving the
office

J Turning off unnecessary servers at night and on public holidays

J Implementing “no light policy” during lunch time

J Using appliances and devices which are eco-friendly or energy-
saving

J Setting all printers, photocopiers and computers to energy saving
mode

During the Reporting Period, the total electricity consumption amount
of the Group was approximately 34.99 MWh (2023: 36.17 MWh) and the
electricity consumption intensity was approximately 1.35 MWh per
employee (2023: 1.39 MWh per employee). After carefully reviewing
current business operations, the Group has set the consumption target
of energy as reducing 3% the electricity consumption intensity in the
coming year. The Group will adopt measures in promoting the

employee’s awareness of energy conservation.

Water Consumption

As our principal business was focusing on sale and transportation of
diesel oil products, we did not consume significant amounts of water
through our business activities. In respect of water sourcing for office
use, since the water source is from the government department, there
was no water sourcing issue during the Reporting Period.

Use of Packaging Material

Due to the nature of the Group's business, the Group has no industrial
production and no factory facilities. Therefore, no significant amount of
packaging materials is used for packaging products.
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A3 The Environment and Natural Resources
Protecting the Environmental Impact and Natural Resources

The business activities of the Group have no direct/significant impact
on environment and natural resources. The Group nonetheless
commits to using natural resources wisely and efficiently while we
encourage the reuse and recycling of materials within our operations.
We spent efforts in mitigating our potential environmental impacts
through adopting industry best practices targeted at reducing natural
resources consumption and developing effective environmental
management. We regularly assess the environmental risks of our
businesses, adopt preventive measures to reduce potential risks and
ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

Due to the increased usage of vehicles for transportation of diesel oil
and related products and the expansion in our business, our carbon
emissions, paper consumption and electricity consumption increased
when compared with the emission from last year. Nonetheless, the
awareness of environmental protection and sustainability has been
raised among our employees.

In addition, in order to prevent any diesel oil leakage during both land
and water transport, the oil tank wagons, and barge are inspected
frequently and are closely monitored. Instant repairs and maintenance
are carried out in case any unusual conditions are found in our vehicles.
Besides, we have enough space vehicles for backup when needed. For
the oil tank barge, we have contracted with a crew of experienced
sailors to monitor the daily operations of the water transportation.

Paperless Office

In order to reduce paper usage, the Group strongly advocated
paperless office operations. All offices are operated in the electronic
system as far as possible to reduce the use and consumption of office
paper in order to save forest resources. We also encouraged electronic
medium for communications within the office and with suppliers.

As a socially responsible enterprise, protecting nature and the
environment has become an integral part of the Group's corporate
culture and important value, the Group constantly looks for ways to
maximize benefits with minimal resource consumption and
environmental impact, and continue to strive for sustainable
development.
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A4 Climate Change

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not been significantly
impacted by climate-related issues while the Group understands
climate-related issues are harmful to the environment and have been
rigorously regulated by the United Nations’ Framework Convention.
The Group recognises the importance of identifying climate change
risk to mitigate the associated impacts on its business operations by
minimizing its GHG emission. However, typhoon, sandstorms, haze and
other natural disaster, all of which, would directly affect the daily
operating of the Group. As a result, the Group has continuously
evaluated for any impact arising from natural disaster and has taken
measures to mitigate its impacts.

CARING FOR THE PEOPLE AND SOCIETY
B. SOCIAL

B1 Employment and Labor Practices
Equal Employment Practices

The Group puts significant emphasis on the welfare of employees
whom they are considered as the Group’s most valuable assets. Hence,
the Group strives to attract and retain talents and reconcile economical
imperatives with well-beings, aiming at reinforcing satisfaction, loyalty
and commitment of human capital.

The Group has adopted comprehensive human resources manual
which includes policies and procedures applicable to staff. All
employees are treated fairly regarding recruitment, training and
development, appraisal of work performance, promotions, rest periods,
remuneration and benefits. Staff dismissals are based on the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of Laws of Hong Kong) or relevant
local laws and regulations, as well as the requirements stipulated in the
employment contracts. The Group is committed to providing equal
opportunity for all employees and applicants without regard to race,
color, religion, national origin, sex, age, marital status, sexual
orientation, disability, political affiliation, personal appearance, family
responsibilities, matriculation or any other characteristic protected
under local law.

Throughout the F8 Enterprises’ operation, the Group strives to provide
an excellent and comfortable working environment. Based on the
features of the principal business, the Group understands that taking a
break by its staff from time to time is necessary for accomplishing the
long-term goals of the Group, and so, it strikes a proper work life
balance of its employees, providing them 6-day work per week with 8
working hours per weekday and 3 working hours every Saturday. We
appreciate the efforts of employees during their working hours, and
advocate a no over time working culture, to allow sufficient rest time
for employees. In case overtime is needed, overtime compensation is
paid to employees according to the actual additional working hours.
The Group provides paid annual leave, maternity leave, paternity leave
and funeral leave in addition to statutory holidays for the employees.
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In addition, we contribute to the Mandatory Provident Fund and

employee’s compensation insurance with reference to the relevant

regulations and laws. Medical allowance is also provided by the Group
to employees covering their clinic consultation, traditional Chinese

medicine, dentistry, as a basic benefit for employees.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group employed 26 staffs in total. As an
illustration, the workforce statistic by gender and age group are

illustrated in pie graphs while the employment type and employment

category are disclosed as bar charts:
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Geographical Region Distribution
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The Group is committed to complying with relevant labour standards
and employment laws and regulations which are applicable to our
business. During the Reporting Period, no material and significant
disputes between the Group and the employees were occurred.

B2 Health and Safety
Promoting Health and Safety

The Group considers health and safety of its employees as one of its
primary responsibilities. As such, the Group is committed to providing
a workplace free from injury and illness through effective procedures
and practice on occupational health and safety.

Regarding workplace health and safety, first aid boxes are available at
readily accessible locations in the Group's offices. Treatment for minor
injuries can be obtained on request to the supervisor in charge at the
site of the first aid box nearest to the scene of the accident. The Group
purchased medical insurance for all employees to cover any medical,
dental, hospital and surgical expenses and conducted health check
from time to time to ensure the health of employees. Employees who
suffer from injury arising out of and in the course of employment are
entitled to compensation in accordance with the related regulations.
During the Reporting Period, there were no fatal cases reported, in
which we successfully achieved a 0% rate of fatality.

The measures for emergency situations in respect of fire occurring in
certain buildings or installations are also regulated in terms of
guidelines assisting employees to take sensible immediate action when
discovering a fire. The Group provides fire drill for the employees to
ensure they can evacuate quickly and safely from the premises and
assembled in the designated area away from the building in the event
of afire.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has ensured full compliance
with relevant occupational health and safety legislations of Hong Kong,
the PRC, and other relevant legislations. No severe injury or fatality was
reported and the number of days lost due to work-related injuries is O
throughout the Reporting Period.
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B3 Development and Training
Talent Management

The Group recognizes the valuable contribution of our talents for the
continuous success of the Group. Nurturing talents and polishing the
skills of our human capital is crucial in leading us to excellence. This is
achieved through development of training strategy that focuses on
creating values and serving the needs of our customers, talents and
society. Therefore, we encourage our employees to attend trainings
and obtain professional qualifications.

We notice the importance of training and development for our staff to
keep abreast of the latest trend in the industry and the dynamic pace
in current market. During the Reporting Period, the Group mainly
provided informal on-the-job training to employees. The Group also
provided regular formal safety trainings for all its drivers and Excel
programming updated for its office staff. The training time hours for
the male staff is 90 and for the female is 13. The Group determine the
company’s vision and be willing to share it with employee. The Group
also motivate employees by asking employees for their opinions and
sharing ideas, so as to improve the cohesion and attraction of the
team. In this way, employees feel that they are part of the team and an
important participant in the success of the team. the Group has
established relevant policies in the Staff Handbook stating that its
employees are welcome to participate in the external training sessions
organized by government agencies on occupational safety and
environmental awareness.
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During the Reporting Period, the development and training statistic by
gender and employment category are disclosed in following bar

graphs:
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B4 Labor Standards
Prohibiting Child and Forced Labor

The Group prohibits the use of child labor and forced or compulsory
labor at all its units and suppliers. No employee is made to work
against his/her will or work as forced labor, or subject to corporal
punishment or coercion of any type related to work.

Personal data are collected during the process to assist in the selection
of suitable candidates and to verify candidates’ personal data to ensure
no child labor will be recruited. The human resources department also
ensures identity documents are carefully checked. Overtime working is
on a voluntary basis. Also, compensation is provided for overtime
working with prior approval obtained from respective supervisor. If
violation is involved, it will be dealt with in the light of the
circumstances.

Also, the Group has zero-tolerance to employment of child labor and
forced labor and the Group is not aware of any non-compliance with
relevant rules and regulations, including but not limited to Employment
Ordinance on preventing child or forced labor.

B5 Supply Chain Management
Upholding High Procurement Standards

The Group highly values our relationship with suppliers and regards
them as important business partners. All suppliers are evaluated
carefully and subjected to regular monitoring and assessment. The
Group has formulated related procurement policies and procedures to
manage its suppliers and the policies and procedures are reviewed
annually.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group engaged 23 qualified oil suppliers in
Hong Kong, including 4 major suppliers: Mobil, Caltex, Sinopec,
SHELL. The Group has set clear requirements on selection and
management of suppliers to ensure standardized management and
proper selection of suppliers and effective control over operational
risks resulting from improper selection, unreasonable method or
fraudulent practice of suppliers. The Group's policies regarding the
purchase from suppliers focused on quality, environment protection,
price, and reputation, etc.
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The Group have a set of criteria to choose suppliers. The basic criteria
for selecting suppliers are the "Q, C, D, S” principle, which is the
principle of quality, cost, delivery and service. Among the four, the
quality factor is the most important. First, it is necessary to confirm
whether the supplier has established a stable and effective quality
assurance system including whether the products and/or services are
environmentally preferable, and then confirm whether the supplier has
the equipment and process capabilities to produce the specific
products required. The second is cost, it is necessary to use value
engineering methods to analyze the cost of the products involved, and
to achieve cost savings through price negotiations. In terms of delivery,
it is necessary to determine whether the supplier has sufficient
production capacity, whether human resources are sufficient, and
whether there is potential for production capacity. The last point is the
supplier’s pre-sales and after-sales service records.

In order to manage the progress and quality of work conducted by our
suppliers, we have set up standards for the tender and purchase from
suppliers. We have also established a database of suppliers, which
includes the basic information of suppliers, the types of products or
services providers, the types of suppliers and the supply prices for the
Group's long-term follow-up assessment of suppliers. Our managers
and project coordinators conduct regular review with the appointed
suppliers.

Related policies are formulated by the Group to ensure that the
suppliers could participate in competitions in an open and fair way.
The Group should not have differentiated or discriminated treatment
on certain suppliers; it would strictly monitor and prevent all kinds of
business bribery; and employees or personnel having any interest
relationship with the supplier should not be involved in the related
business activity.
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Bé6 Product Responsibility
Delivering Unmatched Product Quality

The Group’s business led by its experienced management team is
committed to offering higher-value services to customers, in order to
enhance the Group’s competitiveness and achieve mutual success
between the Group and customers. In order to ensure product quality,
careful supply quality inspection is performed as mentioned above.
Moreover, to ensure the service quality, regular training is provided to
all drivers for the job-related skills and knowledge. During the
Reporting Period, there was no case of product recalls for safety and
health reason, nor was there any complaint received.

Intellectual Property Right

The Group is committed to safeguarding intangible assets and
confidential information of its customers. The Group has strict
guidelines on the handling of intellectual property related products,
including patents, copyrights, trademarks, technology and trade
secrets. Any employee found to improperly handling intellectual
property rights will be subject to disciplinary action.

Customer Data Protection

The Group takes serious protection of our members’ confidential
information. The Group seeks to protect our members’ information
and accounts by employing data security measures such as encryption,
passwords and firewalls, etc. The Group has hired specific employees
to handle the storage and access of our customers’ information. Our
employees are prohibited to use the personal information of our
customers for purposes which are not related to the maintenance of
their accounts, unless their prior consent is obtained. If our employees
would like to access the information of our customers, they will need to
apply for approval. We do not sell, rent or otherwise share the personal
information of clients with any third parties without their prior consent.
Stipulated in our privacy policy, we make sure that the processing of
personal data for marketing purposes, fulfil the requirements of
applicable law.
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Complaint Mechanism

To provide a pleasant user experience for our customers, the Group
has long established a set of procedures to handle customers’
feedback or complaints in a professional manner. Customers’
information will be recorded, and enquiries or complaints cases
received will be transferred to the related departments or further
handling. Reviews on feedback or complaints is conducted, and action
plans are in place promptly to address the identified issues. The Group
will collect the information on the complaint cases, such as the
occasion, reason, and the contact of the client, etc. Customers’
satisfaction is evaluated after the cases are settled, and feedback or
complaints may be circulated to management if necessary.

During the Reporting Period, there was no case of non-compliance
with laws and regulations in relation to product responsibility within the
offices of the Group.

B7 Anti-Corruption
Commitment to Anti-Corruption

The Group commits to maintaining a high standard of integrity when
doing business as we strongly believe that it is essential to meeting the
expectations of our stakeholders.

The Group promotes integrity and prevents unethical pursuits. Anti-
corruption policy has been formulated to comply with the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance. The Group has also implemented an effective
whistle-blowing policy for reporting fraud, corruption, bribery, extortion
and money laundering. We encourage the reporting of suspected
business irregularities and provide clear channels specifically for this
purpose. When suspected wrongdoings are identified, such as breach
of duty, abuse of power, receiving bribes, staff are trained to report to
the Board for investigation and verification, and report to the regulator
and/or to law enforcement authority when necessary.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, there are no concluded legal
cases regarding corruption brought against the Group or its employees
during the Reporting Period.
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B8 Community Investment
Contributing to the Welfare of Society

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group participated in
various community activities to help the environment of the society.
For example, volunteering services, flood donation, etc. To have a
better understanding of the needs in society and strengthen the
connection with local communities, we regularly communicated with
local charities. We have also encouraged our employees to participate
in community activities and suggested areas of contribution based on
their personal experiences in the community. In the coming years, the
Group will continue paying efforts in the environmental, employees
and customers aspects and keeping the success of this year and at the
same time, the Group will intend to invest more resources into
volunteering initiatives to contribute to the society.
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INDEX FOR ESG REPORTING GUIDE

RE - dEekERKERESIRS

Subject Areas,
Aspect,
General Disclosure
and KPlIs Description Section/Declaration
FREEE  BE -
—RRERBREEA
MR i i 27
Aspect A1: Emissions
A1fEE : B
General Disclosure  Information on: Emissions
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and GHG emissions, discharges into water
and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.
—RIXEE BRABERIOBERBEN MUK TMOEDS BERE  HEK
EREYNELSFH
@ BR: Rk
b) BTFHETAREATENEBERNBROINEH -
KPIA1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions — Air Pollutants

PR AR MR IR AL

KPIA1.2

FRERAE AUIRIR A2

KPIA1.3

R B BUIEIZA1.3

KPI'A1.4

RREMIEIRALA

BEm e R ARB BRI E Y -

GHG emissions in total (in tonnes) and intensity.

BERBENAE (W) REE -

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and intensity.

EENEREYEE (W) RETE -

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and
intensity.

EENFrREDEE () MEE -

Emissions; GHG Emissions and
Energy Conservation; Waste
Management

PR — RSP RE
BB R EKIRER - BEEY

=gt

Emissions — GHG Emissions
and Energy Conservation
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Emissions — Waste
Management (Not applicable
— Explained)
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Emissions — Waste
Management
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Subject Areas,
Aspect,
General Disclosure

and KPls Description Section/Declaration
FHEES  EBH-

—REERBREA

MER it i1

KPI A1.5 Description of reduction initiatives and results achieved. Emissions — Air Pollutants

FRERAE IR IR ALS

KPI'A1.6

FRERAEAIRIR AL

R EBER E R LT ERR -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes
are handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved.
MR EEERBESEEMN L  RIEEESNEER
FTASRCR o

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

A2EH : EFRER

Emissions; GHG Emissions and
Energy Conservation; Waste
Management

PE — Z=RISRYHR  RE
RETMNELEEIR  BEEY
B

il

Emissions — Waste
Management

B — BEERMER

General Disclosure

—RWE

KPI A2.1

FASR AR MUIEIR A2

KPIA2.2

PR AR IR IR A2.2

KPI'A2.3

RASEAE IBIEA2.3

KPI'A2.4

FRERAE IR IR A2.4
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Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy,
water and other raw materials.

BRERER - SRR  KEREMRMEEOEE -

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total
and intensity.

BER/SEZERERE(RER) BEBREE -

Water consumption in total and intensity.

RKEEREE -

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results
achieved.

R g IR ARk a7 B R PTG AR ©

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results
achieved.

HPERBRAKEZEFAENTS B - 8K 8 REREK
REVFEE o
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Subject Areas,

Aspect,

General Disclosure

and KPIs Description
FHEES  EBH-
—REERBREA

BIER it

Section/Declaration

i) 227

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in
tonnes) and with reference to per unit produced.

RRANIERA2S  ARAm (W) BEMHEE  Y2REEMLE -

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

ASEH : RIRBRXRER

Use of Resources — Use of
Packaging Material

(Not applicable — Explained)
ERER — BEMENER
(TEA — B me)

General Disclosure  Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.

—RRIREE WIRZEITABRBERNAERENERZEROBE -
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the

environment and natural resources and the actions taken to

manage them.

BRGEMIERA3Y  HAXEKEHHRRERAERNEAZERERNEE
BHATENTE -

Aspect A4: Climate Change

BHEA4 : RIZREL

The Environment and Natural
Resources
IRIBERXAER

The Environment and Natural
Resources — Paperless Office

REERAER —BARLE

General Disclosure  Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer.

—MRIXEE BRI AT KR A EEHRTAEEFENERNRENA
BEEHNEE -

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which
have impacted and the actions taken to manage them.

RRANIERALl HIABKERAESHETAELZENEARKEREE -
N ELTTE -

Climate Change

FIREE

Climate Change

TIRZ
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Subject Areas,
Aspect,

General Disclosure

and KPIs
FEEE  EH -
—RIXERAREE
WIEE

Description

g

Section/Declaration

i) 227

Aspect B1: Employment

B1EME : EfE

General Disclosure

—RIE

KPI'B1.1

B A IR R B

KPIB1.2

BAR A MIE 1R B1.2

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and

promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,

diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and

welfare.

EAHIN R AEE  BERSE  TESE - BRE - FEK

g Zult  REBAREMFERE

@ BX:K

b) HETABEAZENHBEELAOINER -

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example,
full- or part-time), age group and geographical region.
RIER - RIEEL (2 RERE)  FHRAHN RS D
MEB A -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

BRI FieARI MRS D WEERKL X -

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

B2EH : BREHEZZE

Employment and Labour
Practise

BEESETER

Employment and Labour
Practise

ERNMSETER

Employment and Labour
Practise

BEEETER

General Disclosure

—REE

68

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and

protecting employees from occupational hazards.

BERARHZ2TEREMMREREEREBELEEN

@ BR: Rk

b) BFTHETABEATENEBERNLROINEH -
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Subject Areas,
Aspect,

General Disclosure

and KPIs
FEEE  EH -
—RIXERAREE
WIsE

Description

g

Section/Declaration

i) 227

Aspect B3: Development and Training

B3E®E : R K&Ed

General Disclosure

—RWE

KPI'B3.1

FRER AR AR 1R B3

KPI'B3.2

B A ISR B3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for

discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.

BRRIEEETT TFRE M A H LR BRI BUR © s
FAEE

The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).

BRI REEBER (MERERE PREEE)ISNT
JEEBEDL

The average training hours completed per employee by
gender and employee category.

RUERIREERERE D  BREETHZIN TR -

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

BAEM : 8 T#8|

Development and Training

TR R

Development and Training

TR R

Development and Training

TR R

General Disclosure

— R

KPI'B4.1

FRER AR IR 1R B4

KPI B4.2

FAdR A ISR BA.2

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BRI IEE T ke HI4 Ta)

(@ BE: R

b) BETHBETABEAXZENHBEZRRNNER

Description of measures to review employment practices to
avoid child and forced labour.
it i s BB MBI AR R E T REHIST

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.

IR E R B ER B BB R P8 -

Labour Standards

Labour Standards

5 TR

=
S

N}

Labour Standards

& TAA
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Subject Areas,

Aspect,

General Disclosure

and KPIs Description
FHEES  EBH-
—REERBREA

MER it

Section/Declaration

i) 227

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
B5EME : HERERE

General Disclosure  Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the

supply chain.
—MRIE EIRHEEANIRE RS RARBUR -
KPI'B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.

MRAEMIEREBS RIS HEERHRE -

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

MRAEMIEREB5.2 A AEREAEERNED  MERTARENNHER
2B UNBEBERITRERTE -

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and
social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

MREMIEREB3 A HERRIHEREERSNRE LS RARNED
AR AEREMITREE R TTA ©

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

MRAEMIERB4 HAEREHERREESAREREMLRENED - A
NAEBERMITRERITA -
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Subject Areas,
Aspect,

General Disclosure

and KPIs
FEEE  EH -
—RIXERAREE
MIEE

Description

g

Section/Declaration

i) 227

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

B6BEE : EmEE

General Disclosure

—RIFE

KPI'B6.1

A4 A IR 1R B6.

KPI B6.2
B A M IE1R B6.2
KPI B6.3
BABARAIEIRBO.3
KPI B6.4
BASAE M 51T Bo4
KPI B&.5

FAR A MIE 1R B6.S

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and

privacy matters relating to products and services provided

and methods of redress.

EHMREERNRBNERRLS BE 1525 LB
EEARER AR
(@ BX: &

b) BTHETABERZENHBERLAOHER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons.
EEXCEZXERAETRLE2REREHRMARDKN T
DL e

Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

BEEBANERSMRBORFREARBHTTE -

Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.
fah R E N RIBRAEES BB -

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

B ERERIENRERBWKER -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, and how they are implemented and monitored.

HWIUE B & BRHRERARBER - ARARBRRITRERIX -

Product Responsibility

A
2o
i
m

Delivering Unmatched Product
Quality

RESREEMEER

Complaint Mechanism
AR

Intellectual Property Right
FIHERE

Delivering Unmatched Product
Quality

RHUSEEMEER

Customer Data Protection

BEFERRE
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Subject Areas,

Aspect,

General Disclosure

and KPls Description Section/Declaration
FTEEY  EBHE -

—REBERBRE

BER it - 1]

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
B7E®E : RES

General Disclosure  Information on: Anti-corruption
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
—MRIREE BRI 1R - BEFRIEREN RES
@ BHE:K
b) BETHETABEAZENHBERLROINER -

KPI'B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt Anti-corruption
practices brought against the issuer or its employees during
the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.

MBAEMIERB7Y RERPAHBETARHESROIESENE SHLE RES
HFRBE LA AER -

KPIB7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing Anti-corruption
procedures, and how they are implemented and

monitored.

FAMAMIERB7.2 WA REENBRERF > URBBEATRERTL - RES

KPIB7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors  Anti-corruption
and staff.
BRERIEIREB73 HMEFRREIRHOREIGTEI - R&ES
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Subject Areas,
Aspect,

General Disclosure
and KPIs

FEEE  EH -
—RIXERAREE
WIsE

Description

g

Section/Declaration

i) 227

Aspect B8: Community Investment

B8EME : HERE

General Disclosure

— R

KPI'B8.1

B A 1R B8

KPI B8.2

BG4 1R B8.2

Policies on community engagement to understand the
needs of the communities where the issuer operates and to
ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.
BRNSERTHRETALEMEHETEMERLER
EEEERBALENEAEGR -

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).
ETEREE(HE  RBEFE SIFTK BF X
it - 885) -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus
area.

EEIREMPHAER(MSENEH) ©

Community Investment

HERE

Community Investment

HEERE

Community Investment

HEERE
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The Directors of the Company are pleased to present their report
together with the audited financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2024.

CORPORATE REORGANISATION AND SHARE
OFFER

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Act as an exempted company with limited liability on 30
March 2016.

The shares of the Company have been listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange by way of placing and public offer on 12 April 2017.

On 8 August 2021, 130,000,000 new shares of HK$0.01 each of the
Company were allotted and issued as fully paid to a nominated
shareholder at the issue price of HK$0.086 each under general mandate.
For further details, please refer to the announcements dated 11 June
2021, 16 June 2021, 8 July 2021, 30 July 2021 and 4 August 2021.

On 29 June 2022, the Company has completed a share consolidation
which involves the consolidation of every ten issued and unissued existing
shares of the Company of par value HK$0.01 each into one consolidated
share of the Company of par value of HK$0.10 each.

On 15 September 2022, the Company has completed an allotment and
issue of ordinary shares of the Company pursuant to the right issue on
the basis of one rights share for every two existing shares of the
Company, details of which are disclosed in the prospectus of the
Company dated 23 August 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements. The principal activity of the Group is
sale and transportation of diesel oil and related products in Hong
Kong.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The financial performance of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2024 and the financial position of the Group as at that date are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 102 to 108. The
Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect
of the year ended 31 March 2024.

74 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

ARRBEEMAZREEZREERLER
HE2024F3A31B It FE 2K EZMER
% °

TEREEARROBRE

AATIN2016E3IANBREATEERS
HEaAMK T AEHRRER AR -

KRB MNR2017F4R12BEBRERA
F 3% & OB <2 BT GEM £ 7 ©

7202148 A8H 130,000,000 % & i% Ml &
00T B TH ARG MBRMIBIE —RERIZE
% 0.086 78 LRI EXTTE R B4R 2 IR SR Ao 5% I %%
TEABERD BHE—LHIE F2HB
B B2021 6 A11H ~ 20216 A16H -
202147 A8H 202147 A30 8 K& 202148
R4BHRM -

R2022F6 A298 » NRAB TR A G
ERSEEETREREENCEBTNAR
AIEBRITRABTRARNDAHS —BRER
E{E0.10 8 T AR A& G °

R2022%9 4158 » AR A E R EHRTK
e RBETARAEBR EEABRHEM
MARNBIRBRRMDEE —RERRD B
EBRARQNT B A2022548 A23 M H AR
ERRPEE -

TEEH
ARRAZEBEHAREER - KMB LA

MEEEDENGRAMBHRRME - AEE
FEAERBRFEIN RAAREmMIVHE KEH -

RERRE

REBEHZ2024F3ANAUEFENTEER
BUARRZAAEENTEARRE A 54 B
BBRAFEI02EI18E - EETEEBASR
2024 F3 A3 BIEFEIRMNEMBE ©



Report of the Board of Directors
EEERE

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five years is set out on pages 215 to 216 of this
report.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND FUTURE
PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any
significant investment, material acquisitions nor disposals of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies save for the section headed
"Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and Disposals” in this
report. The Group did not have any future plans for material
investments and capital assets as at 31 March 2024.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE SHARE OFFER

On the Listing Date, the Company'’s shares were listed on GEM of the
Stock Exchange. A total of 200,000,000 new shares with nominal value
of HK$0.01 each of the Company (the “Share(s)") were issued at
HK$0.32 per share for a total of approximately HK$64.0 million. The net
proceeds received by the Company from the Share Offer, after
deduction of the underwriting commission and related expenses in
connection with the Share Offer, was approximately HK$45.1 million.
The net proceeds, upon receipt by the Company after Listing, has
been deposited at a bank and such net proceeds will be applied in the
manners consistent with the proposed applications set out in the
section headed "Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the Prospectus.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE RIGHTS ISSUE

On 15 September 2022, the Company has completed an allotment and
issue of ordinary shares of the Company pursuant to the right issue on
the basis of one rights share for every two existing shares of the
Company (the “Rights Issue”). The net proceeds received by the
Company from the Rights Issue, after deduction of all relevant
expenses for the Rights Issue, was approximately HK$11.0 million. The
Company intended to apply the net proceeds from the Rights Issued
for repayment of a loan of the Group and as general working capital of
the Group. Details of which are disclosed in the prospectus of the
Company dated 23 August 2022.

The Company has fully utilised all the proceeds from the Rights Issue
before 31 March 2023.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 17 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March
2024 are set out in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

INTEREST CAPITALISED

The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year ended 31
March 2024.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2024 are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 106 and note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial condition, results of operation, business and
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The
followings are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group
relating to our business:

o The Group is dependent on the major supplier (in terms of total
purchases) for the supply of diesel oil. Any shortage or delay in
the supply of diesel oil from it, or any change in its existing
marketing strategies may materially and/or adversely affect the
Group's business and results of operations if we cannot secure
alternative sources of supply immediately.

° The Group's customers are not subject to any minimum purchase
requirement to purchase diesel oil from the Group.

76 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

M BERKRE

HE2024F3ANBILFE  KEEYE
MR MR ENESFEBHN RS T ERERM
17

RITREMERK

MR2024F3A31MH AEBFETRHEMERK
HIBERE A P IEREKMIFE29 -

MBEXRL

HE2024F3A31BILEE AEB W EH
EEFEBEFTER -

[N

BE2024F3ANBUEFE ARAIRAZ
BEFBEHRIRE M HREMES -

(]

HE2024F3ANBILFE  AEBRAR
ANHBEESFBEDHHNEI06ENEGEE
ERER MG A B HRME33 -

TERBEFIEERSE

AEBMOFBRN - EEBRE FHRATR
FEX—ETRARETHERZZE -UT
DIASEBRNEBEEGN T 2R N E
ERE:

. REEEEIBREE GRBEET
) G S o 5 L 50 0T R
RS S W R A2
TS B BOAS BR824 (R A - AR
BT R AR AT R B EAR %
FARE -

s AREEFEFUEZRNAANSEERBER
A EARERBERTE -



Report of the Board of Directors
EEERE

A significant portion of the Group's revenue was attributable to
the sale of diesel oil and its profitability may be adversely
affected if demand for diesel oil declines for any reason.

The demand for our diesel oil would be adversely affected by the
delay in public sector projects caused by failures or delays in
passing funding for public work proposals by committees of the
Legislative Council due to lawmakers’ filibustering.

The Group's business and results of operations are dependent
on the oil price which are driven by factors beyond the Group's
control and the uncertainty of the crude oil price could have a
material adverse impact on the Group's financial condition and
results of operations.

Changes in the market conditions and trends in the construction
industry and in the overall economy may affect the Group's

operations and growth.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Up to 31 March 2024, there has been no purchase, sale or redemption
of any Company'’s listed securities (including sale of treasury shares (as
defined under the GEM Listing Rules)) by the Company or any of its

subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2024

and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Fong Chun Man (Chairman)
Ms. Lo Pui Yee (Vice Chairladly)
Mr. Chan Chi Fai (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap
Mr. Wang Anyuan
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Pursuant to article 84 of Articles of Association of the Company (the
"Articles”), one-third of the Directors shall retire from office by rotation
and re-election at an annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Articles, provided that every Director shall be
retired at least once every three years. Accordingly, Mr. Kwong Yuk
Lap, our independent non-executive Director and Mr. Wang Anyuan,
our independent non-executive Director, will retire from office as
independent non-executive Directors at the forthcoming annual
general meeting ("AGM") to be held on Thursday, 8 August 2024. Ms.
Lo Pui Yee and Mr. Chan Chi Fai, being eligible, will offer themselves
for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

Confirmation of Independence

Each independent non-executive Director has given the Company an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent and meet the independent
guidelines set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS
OF APPOINTMENT

(a) Executive Directors
Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
contract with the Company and shall continue thereafter unless
terminated in accordance with the terms therein. Under the terms
of the service contract, the service contract may be terminated by
not less than three months’ notice served by either party on the
other. The term of service of a Director is subject to retirement by
rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.

(b) Independent Non-executive Director

Each of the independent non-executive Director has signed a
letter of appointment with the Company which may be
terminated by not less than one month’s notice served by either
party on the other. The term of service of a Director is three years
commencing on the Listing Date subject to the provisions on
retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed to
have a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Company or its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation other than statutory
compensation.
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EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The emolument of the Directors is recommended by the Remuneration
Committee by reference to the benchmarking of the market. The
Company also looks into individual Director’'s competence, duties,
responsibilities, and performance.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in notes 13 and 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 89 to 94 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Saved as disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements,
none of the Directors had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
the business of the Group to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party at any time during or at the end of the year
ended 31 March 2024.

As of 31 March 2024, no contract of significance had been entered into
between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholders of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

As at 31 March 2024, the Company did not enter into or have any
management and/or administration contracts in respect of the whole
or any principal business of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this report,
the Directors are not aware of any business and interest of the
Directors nor the controlling shareholders of the Company nor any of
their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules)
that compete or may compete, directly or indirectly, with the business
of the Group and any other conflict of interests which any such person
has or may have with the Group during the year ended 31 March 2024
and up to the date of this report. The independent non-executive
Directors confirmed that the internal control measures in relation to
managing actual or potential conflict of interest of the Group have
been properly implemented.

COMPLIANCE OF NON-COMPETITION
UNDERTAKINGS

On 23 March 2017, Mr. Fong Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited
(being controlling shareholders of the Group) entered into a deed of
non-competition (“Deed of Non-Competition”) in favour of the
Company (for itself and each of its subsidiaries), pursuant to which each
of Mr. Fong Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited has irrevocably and
unconditionally, jointly and severally, warrants and undertakes with the
Company that, immediately upon the Share Offer becoming
unconditional, each of them shall not, and shall procure each of his/its
close associates and any company directly or indirectly controlled by Mr.
Fong Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited (except for the members the
Group) shall not, except through any member of our Group, directly or
indirectly (whether on its own account or with each other or in
conjunction with or on behalf of any person or company, or as principal
or agent, through any body corporate, partnership, joint venture or other
contractual arrangement and whether for profit or otherwise), carry on,
engage in, invest or acquire or hold any rights or be interested or
otherwise involved in any business that is similar to or in competition
directly or indirectly with or is likely to be in competition with any
business currently and from time to time engaged by our Group in Hong
Kong and any other country or jurisdiction to which our Group carries on
business or grants franchise from time to time (“Restricted Business”).

80 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

ESERFERPNES

REE2024F3A3NBIEFEREEARE
BHIEM BV FNBESHAR ALK
BREIFESANTRNETHREA(EER
GEM R A REIE2024F3 A31H IE4F
EREEAREANHMESEMNEAER
EBERATEENEZXEERFNEY
Rigsm  TTABEANEBATHAER Y
MEESATEFAETMEMFIZNER B2
FNTEEHRERERANEBNERNE
EFRERZ AT LHIERC L AEE -

BT F A

R2017 63 H23R » TEXEERAKEE
BEREZBERARAARR (REARERE
EMBLAE) RRAAR L IBEFRE ([ FHR
FEE])  BUSTEAXEEREZTERAR
B A MR KRR E R A AR
AR N tF R - BB B E R E RN
B RESERTERBRELSETHE
ARARTEXEREREZERAREEKH
BEESNEIAAR (AEEKREREIRIN T
SEERNHEE GEEAKERERRRI - T
wREBSHHEMATREREMALRA
AR REMALTHAR  HAETEARK
BANGD BBREFMEE - GB QA&
BEXAHEMEORH BT wmAmH K
fi) 1T~ 28 WERWB ST B EEF
SEERSAEHERETHRERR LA MR
SHEAEHEETENAEEEEETER
TR HER L SFEE RO TAEBER
S ADEER B AT R AR E R E B AU
BABFAAEBABEFNETMES (TR
REI%KE]) -



Report of the Board of Directors
EEERE

Mr. Fong Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited further undertake that
when he/it or his/its close associates other than any member of the
Group is offered or becomes aware of any new project or business
opportunity (“New Business Opportunity”) directly or indirectly to
engage or become interested in a Restricted Business, he/it (i) shall
promptly notify our Company of such New Business Opportunity in
writing, refer the same to our Company for consideration first and
provide such information as may be reasonably required by our
Company to make an informed assessment of such New Business
Opportunity; and (ii) shall not, and shall procure that the controlled
persons or controlled company not to, invest or participate in any such
New Business Opportunity unless such New Business Opportunity is
declined by our Company, or our Company does not proceed with
such New Business Opportunity within 30 business days from the date
of the written notice (of if requested by our Company in writing, such
30 business days period may be extended to a maximum of 60
business days), and the principal terms of which he/it and/or his/its
close associates invest or participate in are no more favourable than
those made available to our Company.

For further details of the Deed of Non-Competition, please refer to the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders — Non-
Competition Undertakings” in the Prospectus.

Mr. Fong Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited have both confirmed
to the Company of his/its compliance with the Deed of Non-
Competition during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
report. The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the
status of compliance and confirmed that all the undertakings under the
Deed of Non-Competition have been complied by each of Mr. Fong
Chun Man and Grand Tycoon Limited and duly enforced during the
Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

For the year ended 31 March 2024, there has been no purchase, sale or
redemption of any Company’s listed securities by the Company or any
of the subsidiaries.
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DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

Interests and short positions of Directors and chief executive
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required (i) to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or (i)
to be entered into the register required to be kept therein, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, or (iii) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules
relating to securities transactions by Directors to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

EERECKE

EERBETHRAERAQA T REAGE
ZENRG  HEROREEIDPHRE
mRRE

MR2024F3 8318 EERARAESITR
ABRARBSEMBEAE (T&RLES M
EAEBIEXVED) BR% 5 - ABRIRR 1D sk B 35
P () BIEES M EIEOIEXVEIET 8
DEEME AN R MR AT ED AR (B
ERBEFEF R AEIRO A BIE S E R
EE RS RAR) (i) B ARERES
M EAE G P B 352K AT B 1 & 50 it Ay 42
MR A 3G B R GEM £ iR BI 55 5.46 15
ES67TGEBEME ARG NBRATMNES
EITHEFR S MAMNEG AR R) R AR
BRKAEIT

Number of Percentage of
Name of Directors Capacity/nature of interest shares held shareholding
EEHE B REME BEROEE BERBED
Mr. Fong Chun Man Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 1) 69,686,400 50.67%
(Long position)
FEXEE EEmtlEEER (M) 69,686,400 50.67%
(4F &)
Ms. Lo Pui Yee Interest of spouse (Note 2) 69,686,400 50.67%
(Long position)
BmEL L @ s (FHEE2) 69,686,400 50.67%
(47 2&)
Notes: 5T -
1. The shares are held by Grand Tycoon Limited, the equity interest of which is owned 1. FZEROARTERAFFE - H100% K EHTT

as to 100% by Mr. Fong Chun Man. Mr. Fong Chun Man is deemed to be interested
in all the shares held by Grand Tycoon Limited for the purpose of Part XV of SFO.

2. Ms. Lo Pui Yee is the spouse of Mr. Fong Chun Man and is therefore deemed to be
interested in all the shares which Mr. Fong Chun Man is interested for the purpose
of Part XV of the SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company has any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part V of the SFO
(including interests and/or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) to be entered
into the register required to be kept therein, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, or (iii) to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to
securities transactions by directors to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange.

Interests and short positions of the substantial shareholders
and other persons in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations

As at 31 March 2024, so far as it is known to the Directors, the following
persons (not being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had
or were deemed to have interests in shares or underlying shares which
(i) were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO, or (ii) which would fall to be disclosed
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and the
GEM Listing Rules or, (iii) who will be, directly or indirectly, be
interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class of share
capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings
of any member of our Group.
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BwRXE
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Number of Percentage of
Name of Shareholders Capacity/nature of interest shares held shareholding
BRRER A B EEME BHERGOEHE BREDL
Grand Tycoon Limited Beneficial owner (Note 1) 69,686,400 50.67%
(Long position)
=FBRAA BEa A AR 69,686,400 50.67%
(&)
Note: ffsE -
1. The shares are held by Grand Tycoon Limited, the equity interest of which is owned 1. ZEROAERFTERABFE - E100% K EH T

as to 100% by Mr. Fong Chun Man. Mr. Fong Chun Man is deemed to be interested
in all the shares held by Grand Tycoon Limited for the purpose of Part XV of SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Directors have not
been notified by any person who had interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company as recorded
in the register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO,
or which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.
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Share Option Scheme

The Company has conditionally adopted the share option scheme in
which certain eligible participants including, among others, the
Directors and employees of the Group may be granted options to
subscribe for Shares on 23 March 2017 (the "Adoption Date”). The
share option scheme became unconditional upon the Listing Date.
Under the terms of the Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, grant
options to eligible participants to subscribe for Shares.

No share options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed since
the Adoption Date up to 31 March 2024, and there was no share option
outstanding as at 31 March 2024. Therefore, the Company may grant
options in respect of up to 8,000,000 Shares (or such numbers of Shares
as shall result from a sub-division or a consolidation of such 8,000,000
Shares from time to time) to the participants under the share option
scheme.

Competing Interests

The Directors confirm that none of the Controlling Shareholders or the
Directors and their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) is interested in any business apart from the business
operated by our Group which competes or is likely to compete, directly
or indirectly, with our Group’s business during the Reporting Period
and up to the date of this report.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules. Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, the Company
confirms that all of the Directors complied with such required standard
of dealings and its code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions as at the date of this report.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

Save for one isolated case for non-compliance under the GEM Listing
Rules, details of which are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 10 August 2021, the Director is aware, the Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group and no material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations during the year ended 31 March 2024.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the aggregate amount of turnover
attributed to the Group’s largest and the five largest customers
accounted for 9.8% and 40.2% (2023: 22.3% and 45.9%) of the total
revenue of the Group, respectively. For the year ended 31 March 2023,
the Group's purchase from the largest and the five largest suppliers
accounted for 23.9% and 70.6% (2023: 25.2% and 76.0%) of the total
purchases of the Group, respectively. At no time during the year ended
31 March 2024 did the Directors, their associates nor any shareholder
of the Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors, owned more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) have any interest in the
Group's major customers or suppliers as disclosed above.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group did not enter into
any transactions which need to be disclosed as connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Details of the material related party transactions are set out in note 37
to the consolidated financial statements of this report. These related
party transactions did not constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules.

Remuneration to key management personnel of the Group, including
Directors described in notes 13 and 14 to the Group's consolidated
financial statements are continuing connected transactions exempt
from the connected transaction requirements under Rule 20.93 of the
GEM Listing Rules.
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Corporate Governance

The Company is firmly committed to maintaining and ensuring a high
level of corporate governance standards and will review and improve
the corporate governance practices and standards constantly. During
the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company has complied with the
code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code
Provisions”) contained in Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Details of the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company are set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 19
to 37 of this report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme”, no
equity-linked agreement was entered into by the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2024 or subsisted at the end of the reporting
year.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float as required under the
GEM Listing Rules.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, suppliers and customers in order to
meet its employees, immediate and long-term goals. During the
Reporting Period, there was no material or significant dispute between
the Group and its suppliers and customers.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive or similar rights under the laws
of Cayman Islands or the Articles which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 March 2024, a directors’ liability insurance
was currently in place to protect the Directors against potential costs
and liabilities arising from claims brought against the Directors.

86 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

AN

TEER
RABBNEREEREKENEEERE
- WHETERTERECEERTHARE
Ko HE2024F3ANBILFEE KRR —
BHESFGEM Em R B SCIATE B EE R
SPRIEY P RMEST (T=pRIMES]) -

ARBAERZEEERTRFRER AR
TR ENEEEARSE -

RE 3 9 155 5

Br[BEAR M T &) —EiFTIREE = O - AN AR
EREHE2024F3A31 B IEFEFT LSRR
EFEEERBDNAGROEZ B -

RANBEFRE

RIBEARNRB A RRAESHNEM MR ESHA
MARBREBE  ARFE#FFGEM LM #R Al
FIRERNRHRNBIIRE -

BES FF  HEBREMA
THRAREE

AEBEXRARES HEBALREFPRERL
AAERAERAENSEEEMAENEZE R
HEHE AEEEREE HERAEEPZ
B EEEREAML -

BriEER

MERSERNMAMERBARRARL
FIaRAERRIR2HETRND ZELBERE
SRR 2 153 -

EAERFHREERX

HE2024F3ANHLEFE  ARAIBATE
RBEEFEERE AREEF2XEARRE
HERMATRE R BERAREAE



Report of the Board of Directors
EEERE

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business and outlook of the Company as well as a
discussion and analysis of the Group's performance during the year
and the material factors underlying its results and financial position,
including a description of an indication of likely future development
can be found in the management discussion and analysis set out on
pages 6 to 7 of this annual report. Those discussions form part of this
report.

RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or tax exemption available
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s
securities.

The Company has received no tax relief for the year ended 31 March
2024 (2023: Nil), which is reflected in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting ("AGM") of the Company will be held on
Thursday, 8 August 2024, the notice of which shall be sent to the
shareholders of the Company in accordance with the Articles, the GEM
Listing Rules and other applicable laws and regulations.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to establish entitlements to attend and vote at the forthcoming
AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 5 August 2024 to Thursday, 8 August 2024, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of the shares of the Company
will be registered.

Shareholders are reminded to ensure that all completed share transfer
forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Boardroom
Share Registrars (HK) Limited, at Room 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road,
North Point, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 2 August
2024.
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ENVIRONMENT POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The principal activity of the sale and transportation of diesel oil and
related products business of the Group is governed by Hong Kong
environmental laws and regulations including the Air Pollution Control
Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Water
Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong) in
Hong Kong.

These laws and regulations cover a broad range of environmental
matters, including air pollution, noise and gas emissions, leakage of oil
products or other hazardous substances. The Group recognises the
importance of environmental protection and has implemented various
environmental protection measures in order to minimise the operation

impact on the environment and natural resources.

The Group will continue to monitor the business operations in order to
ensure that it does not have only significant adverse effect on the
environment and that the Group’s environment protection measures
are adequate to ensure compliance with all applicable current Hong
Kong laws or regulations.

As at the date of this report, no prosecution, penalty or punishment
has been imposed upon the Group for the violation of any
environmental laws or regulations.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Board is not aware of any
significant events that have occurred requiring disclosure.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statement for the year ended 31 March 2024
has been audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited, who shall
retire at the forthcoming AGM and being eligible to offer themselves
for re-appointment.

By order of the Board

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED
FONG Chun Man
Chairman
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Fong Chun Man (“Mr. Fong"), aged 45, is our founder, executive
Director, Chairman, compliance officer, member of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee, and is responsible for our
Group's overall corporate management and business development
strategies. Mr. Fong was appointed as an executive Director on 23 March
2017. Mr. Fong established our Group in early 2005 and was appointed as
the director of Great Wall (International) Qil Limited in December 2005.

Mr. Fong has over 18 years of experience in the sale and transportation
of diesel oil and related products. The performance of the Company is
achieved in great level. He was responsible for the Company’s daily
operation, including but not limited to submitting tender proposals and
undertaking construction projects, managing its corporate accounting
and administrative matter, monitoring the logistics of projects and
contacting suppliers and customers, such as authorised agents
appointed by the Oil Majors. Mr. Fong has also been the director of Jet
Good Limited since April 2005, a company engaged in engineering
business in Hong Kong in Hong Kong, where he has gained experience
in business operation and management expertise. In addition, Mr. Fong
has acquired Xun Xiang Metalware Company Limited since 2017 to
operate one of the largest scrap iron recycling companies in Hong Kong.

Mr. Fong is an eminent person who enjoys high status and extensive
influence in the Hong Kong. He currently holds a number of important
positions, including a member of the Election Committee of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region and a member of the Standing
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
Guangzhou Committee (FREIARBAHEEZENTZES),
shouldering the responsibility of making recommendations for national
and local development. In terms of social services, Mr. Fong serves as
the executive vice chairman of the Hong Kong Federation of
Guangdong Associations (B8 E R E42) and the Federation of
Hong Kong Guangdong Community Organisations (&7 E /1t B 42
&), as well as the chairman of the volunteer team of the Hong Kong
Guangdong Community Organisations, committed to promoting
exchanges and cooperation between Hong Kong and the Mainland. In
addition, Mr. Fong is the president of the Hong Kong Road Safety
Patrol, leading the association to ensure public road safety, From 2022
to 2023, he served as the chairman of the Sha Tin Festival Committee
and devoted himself to the local community. In the field of charity, Mr.
Fang serves as a director of the board of Pok Oi Hospital and is
committed to giving back to the society. He is also a vice president of
the Hong Kong Real Property Federation and the life honorary
chairman of the Hong Kong Commerce and Industry Association,
making important contributions to Hong Kong's economic
development. In addition, Mr. Fong also serves as a member of District
Fight Crime Committee (Sha Tin District), the Sha Tin Rural Committee
and an honorary president of the Hong Kong Girl Guides Association
Shatin branch. Mr. Fong is the spouse of Ms. Lo.

HITES
FRXEE(HKE]D 4555 RHMHE
WA BTEZ ETE - ARET REBZ
BEghFMEEERE TEAEAEENE
RO EERERERERE - 5 K4En2017
FIRBEEZETARNTES - FEER
2005 F F ) 8l P A &= B 0 72 2005 F 12 AL
TAEER (BR) AHERARMNES -

FoEEREBREBERBEE REH H
BERIsFEH TAXERA FEEAR
AAELE BEEIRERERBIEZRS

FEETRREE  ERECESHETHRER
ERIFE MR REEEEI LTS - fln
MEZOHEEZTNRERE - 520055
AR FEENTNRHFTERAR (—HESE
ERIREBNRG)EAES  HPIEE
HEELHBILEENEENZ - B Fk
EB2017FREEAFEHEERAE £
EREEARMEZEIK AR Z— -

FRER—NESBLEZTHEESHAME
CEENNMBEAL - MENEAZEER
B BE B8EITHEEREESZR
B FREARBAMEEZENTZESRK
WELZ BEEZEABERNMAHERERHFEEE
MET GEHEeREIA HIEEER
HEESNEEENTEASHERIEFE -
UERESEMNTEESETENER BN
RIEEBEBEMAAIZZREE - I T 5%
EEETEARBLE2ES R BEXY
NHEETRETEL SR - 2022F E2023FF 1
TP HMZESER  AEMHLER LB -
ERDEEATY  AAEEIEBEERES
BEE MO REELE R BEES
EHWERSRESRNE2ERRTIRBKESR
B2egk REAKBERMEEZER -1t
Gy FREELETOHERETZESS

E VPHBEZEGUREELEELAD
GEREER - HAERBLLIHORE -

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-NFFH 89



Biographies of Board of Directors and Senior Management

EEEREREEEEE

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed companies
for the last three preceding years.

Note: The English translation of name is for identification purpose only. The official names
of the organisations are in Chinese

Ms. Lo Pui Yee ("Ms. Lo"), aged 46, was appointed as our executive
Director, and vice chairlady on 22 August 2016. Ms. Lo is responsible
for supervising the overall administration and operation of our Group.
She has more than 20 years of experience in the business
administration and marketing area. Ms. Lo joined our Group in June
2016.

Ms. Lo has completed the Hong Kong Advanced Level Examination in
July 1999. Since June 2002, Ms. Lo has gained exposure in the daily
administration, operation and executive management and has been a
sole proprietor of Alpha Communications Company, which carries on
the business of the provision of telecommunication and internet
services, and has been responsible for supervising the business
development and corporate governance. Since 2011, Ms. Lo has been
a director and shareholder of Luxe Tuxedo Limited, an apparel
company offering high-end men'’s formal suit and attire in Hong Kong,
responsible for overseeing the administrative function, enhancing
communication channels between management and staff and product
branding. Ms. Lo is the spouse of Mr. Fong.

Note: The English translation of name is for identification purpose only. The official names
of the organisations are in Chinese

In addition, Ms. Lo is also currently a member of the Chinese People's
Political Consultative Conference Guangzhou Nansha District
Committee, an executive committee member of Guangzhou
Federation of Industry and Commerce (EM M L ¥ & ), an
executive vice president of the Hong Kong Federation of Guangzhou
Women Association (& /& & M i@ Bt 42 ), an honorary vice president
of the foundation of Kowloon East Association (/188 3 [& & S B =)
and an honorary president of the Hong Kong Girl Guides Association

Shatin branch.

Saved as disclosed above, she was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Note: The English translation of name is for identification purpose only. The official names
of the organisations are in Chinese
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Mr. Chan Chi Fai ("Mr. Chan"), aged 44, was appointed as our
executive Director and chief executive officer on 22 August 2016 and is
responsible for the operation of our fleet of tank wagon and business
strategies implementation. Mr. Chan has joined Great Wall
(International) Oil Company since September 2010.

Mr. Chan obtained a higher certificate and a higher diploma in Civil
Engineering from the Hong Kong Institute of Vocational Education in
July 2007 and July 2009, respectively. Mr. Chan also completed the
certificate for Safety Supervisor (Construction Industry), Safety Training
Techniques Course and Safe Working Cycle Course in February 2002,
January 2009 and January 2009, respectively. Prior to joining our
Group, Mr. Chan worked as a foreman in Yuk Shing Engineering Co.,
Limited from March 2000 to February 2007 whose principal business is
construction and engineering, responsible for general site operation
for drainage work and earthwork. From March 2007 to July 2010, Mr.
Chan joined Vibro (H.K\) Limited and was promoted as a geotechnical
field technician, whose principal business is construction, responsible
for ground investigation arrangement and carrying out necessary
testing.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert (“Mr. Chui"”), aged 67, was appointed as
our independent non-executive Director on 23 March 2017. Mr. Chui is
the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Chui obtained a Bachelor's degree in commerce from the
Concordia University in June 1978 and was awarded the Medal of
Honour by the Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region in 2014. Mr. Chui is currently a practicing certified public
accountant in Hong Kong and is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Society of Accountants since June 1991 and the Chartered Association
of Certified Accountants since May 1989. Mr. Chui has over 36 years of
experience in the accounting field and is the founder of a Hong Kong
accounting firm, Robert Chui CPA Limited since August 1991.
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Mr. Chui has been appointed as a director of the following listed
companies on the Stock Exchange during the periods indicated below:

BIRRER T XA RRER TR TB A
LEHARIMES :

Name of listed company (stock code)

L ATRERE (ROHLR)

Dragon King Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8493)
REEBEERAR QA (MR - 8493)
Asia Cassava Resources Holdings Limited
(stock code: 841)
DMNARBERZERARQE (KRR - 841)
National Arts Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8228)
B EZERAR AR (BRI KR - 8228)
Tse Sui Luen Jewellery (International) Limited
(stock code: 417)
I BEIAE (BR) AR A A
(B 5% = 417)
Wing Lee Property Investments Limited
(stock code: 864)
KA EFERABR D F (B - 864)
Huiyin Holdings Group Limited
(stock code: 1178)
FERIEA R E AR A F (BRI - 1178)

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed

Position held
FriEE R

Independent non-executive
directors

BUFHNTES

Independent non-executive
director

BYIERITES

Independent non-executive
director

BUFHNTEF

Independent non-executive
director

BILIFRITES

Independent non-executive
director

BUFHNTEF

Independent non-executive
director

BUIFATES

bR L XTI EE &S

Period during which he held
directorship

EEESH[H

May 2023-October 2023

2023F 5 HE 2023410 A
August 2018-Current

20185 F8 AES
May 2009-November 2022

200945 HE 2022411 A
April 1999-September 2023

19994 A& 20239 A
February 2013-Current

2013F2AES
October 2020-December 2021

2020F10 A2 202112 A
ERBE=FALER

companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap (“"Mr. Kwong”), aged 49, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 23 March 2017. Mr. Kwong is
the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee.

Mr. Kwong obtained a Bachelor’s degree in electronics from The Open
University of Hong Kong in December 2001, a diploma in information
technology from the School of Professional and Continuing Education
of The University of Hong Kong in June 2004 and a master degree in
information technology from Charles Sturt University, Australia in
November 2005.

From December 2013 to October 2015, Mr. Kwong was appointed as a
non-executive director of Wealth Glory Holdings Limited (Hong Kong
stock code: 8269). From November 2015 to August 2016, Mr. Kwong
was re-designated as an executive director of Wealth Glory Holdings
Limited.
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From April 2022 to December 2022, Mr. Kwong was appointed as an
executive director of Sino Energy International Holdings Group Limited
(stock code: 1096).

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.

Mr. Wang Anyuan (“Mr. Wang"), aged 54, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 23 March 2017. Mr. Wang is
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee.

Mr. Wang obtained a Bachelor's degree specialising in maritime and
communication accounting from the Shanghai Maritime University in
July 1994. He joined China Merchants Group and served as the
manager of the audit (risk assurance) department from September
1996 to July 2001, the chief financial officer of China Merchants
Securities (HK) Company Limited from July 2001 to January 2007 and
general manager of audit (risk assurance) department of China
Merchants Finance Holdings Company Limited from February 2007 to
February 2008. In April 2008, Mr. Wang served BOCOM International
Holdings Company Limited as an executive director and head of China
operation, responsible for the equity sales. From June to December
2009, Mr. Wang served CITIC Securities International as a director and
head of China operation, responsible for their securities business and
had been the account executive of CITIC Securities International
Company Limited from January 2010 to November 2012. In October
2012, Mr. Wang served as a deputy head of brokerage department of
China Investment Securities (Hong Kong) Financial Holdings Limited,
responsible for securities trading. In February 2013, Mr. Wang served
as a responsible officer of China Investment Securities International
Brokerage Limited of Type 1 (Dealing in Securities) regulated activities
as defined in the SFO. In addition, from May 2013 to October 2023, Mr.
Wang served as a business director of Orient Financial Holdings (Hong
Kong) Limited and the wealth management department of China
Merchants Securities (HK) Co., Limited, respectively, and carried out
regulated activities on its behalf. Mr. Wang has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of China Carbon Neutral
Development Group Limited (stock code: 1372) since November 2021.

Saved as disclosed above, he was not a director in any listed
companies for the last three preceding years.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheung Lee Kwok (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 47, is our chief
operation officer and is responsible for overseeing the daily operation
and general financial management of our Group. Mr. Cheung has
joined our Group since April 2016.

Mr. Cheung has over 15 years of experience in operational
management. He obtained a bachelor's degree in mathematics from
the National Central University, Taiwan, in June 2002. Prior to joining
our Group, Mr. Cheung worked as an information technology engineer
in Di Sheng Computer Limited (4 B J§H R A F]*) from March 2004
to July 2005, and from January 2007 to May 2007, responsible for
conducting products testing and providing customer support. From
June 2007 to April 2010, Mr. Cheung worked as an engineer in
Chunghwa Picture Tubes, Ltd. (FZEBE %15 AR 2 7)) whose principal
business is involved in the optoelectronic industry (Taiwan stock
exchange, stock code: 2475, and Luxembourg stock exchange, ISIN
code: US17133M7092), responsible for supervising the production
operation and quality control, as well as managing technicians and
support staffs for improving operational efficiency. Mr. Cheung then
worked in the sale of diesel oil related business in Great Wall
(International) Company for six years from April 2010 to March 2016,
responsible for the daily operations of the sole proprietorship.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Leung Yin Fai (R#%E), aged 60, was appointed as the Group's
company secretary on 26 October 2017. Ms. Leung has been a director
of K E Corporate Services Limited (a company secretarial services
provider) since April 2016, the managing director of K E Management
& Consultancy (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. since August 2015 and an
independent non-executive director of Lotus Horizon Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 6063) since March 2020. Ms. Leung was a director of KCS
Hong Kong Limited from August 2008 to October 2014 and an
independent non-executive director of Green leader Holdings Group
Limited (Stock Code: 0061) from April 2014 to January 2020.

Ms. Leung was admitted as a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (currently known as Chartered Association of
Certified Accountants) in the United Kingdom in July 1995. Ms. Leung
was also admitted as a fellow member of the CPA Australia in May
2004 and is currently a member of HKICPA. Ms. Leung obtained a
master’s degree in commerce from the University of New South Wales,
Australia in November 2002.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
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B it EH A R E
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of F8 Enterprises
(Holdings) Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the "Group”) set out on pages 102 to 214,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2024, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”") and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the "Code"),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

BRETEE

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, BB EBERRIFRMINEEHE - 25
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial ¥ AREIARE R BREN B HAEEMNETIE o
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed inthe EEZHEEERMIBTEBGAMERR X
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a HEERRETEEMN HMTe¥ELE
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a ERHEERBNER

separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter
HRESSEE

How our audit address the key audit matter

BMETNAEERRETSE

Allowance for expected credit losses ("ECL") on trade
receivables

ESRURARBGFESR (RHMFEER) BE

Refer to Notes 5(b), 23 to the consolidated financial

statements.
ELBERE M IRR M FESb0) & 23 °

At 31 March 2024, the Group had trade receivables of
approximately HK$84,211,000 (2023: HK$75,814,000) with
allowance for ECL on trade receivables of approximately
HK$18,764,000 (2023: HK$16,509,000).

M2024F3A3NH - EEEE S EWFKIEL 84,211,000
77T (20234 < 75,814,000 7T) - ME ZREKFEEREE
B R RE X /318,764,000 7T (2023 £F : 16,509,000/ 7T) °

The determination as to whether trade receivables are
collectable involved high level of management's
judgement. Specific factors management considered
include the age of the balances, business nature of
customers, existence of disputes, recent historical payment
patterns and any other available information concerning
the creditworthiness of counterparties. Management used
these information to determine whether a provision for
ECL is required either for a specific transaction or for a
customer’s balance overall.
ETEESRYGIARS TREDS KK T e E IR EH & -
EREEZRNNTREREEARKR TREBLE &
BEFESH OHBAENFRAREEEFHEENEMR
Hib AR ER -EEECERABENEERGANRE
ERXRSGIEBEPEMRTRAHAEEEERE -

Our procedures in relation to management’s ECL
assessment of trade receivables included but not limited
to:

LM EEENE SR RFIEEREEBEF GETH
RFEEETRR

o Understanding the key controls that the Group has
implemented to manage and monitor its credit
risk, and evaluating management’s assessment
process for allowance for ECL;

B EEECERNEREEERATERE
THEERR WHAGEREFHAEBGEEER
BimmstheiE

o Checking, on a sample basis, the ageing profile of
the trade receivables as at 31 March 2024 to the
underlying financial records and post year-end
settlements to bank receipts;
MERER2024F3ANBEBY BRERANE
ZIEYGH AR BN MR8 B RIRITEEWIR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) AREETEE®)
Key audit matter How our audit address the key audit matter
BRETEE BMHESTNNEEFRRENSE
Allowance for ECL on trade receivables (Continued) J Inquiring of management for the status of each of
EZRWFHIEHERGEERERE (&) the material trade receivables past due as at year

end and corroborating explanations from
management with supporting evidence,
understanding on-going business relationship with
the customers based on trade records, checking
historical and subsequent settlement records of
and other correspondence with the customers; and
ERHEEEAAFAECAPNRSBERESHE
WHIBEAR AR ERBIAB R FH@EE  ER
BOLBBRETFOFEEBRR REBE
MigEEECHARERR 2 HEMERE XK
&

o Assessing the appropriateness of the ECL
provisioning methodology, examining the key data
inputs on a sample basis to assess their accuracy
and completeness, and evaluating the
assumptions, including both historical and forward-
looking information, used to determine the ECL.
AETEHEEREEBTEARSRE  MEESL
RS o A BUR DART (A BV RSB - WA
ETrRMEEREMABNRE (BRBENAEE
BH) -

We found that the management judgement and
estimates used to assess the allowance for ECL on trade
receivables to be supportable by available evidence.
BMEDR  TREEANTHEZERRFIERREEESE
B H T A ET B RIS BIR SH o
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of the Other Information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

98 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Hibf5 2

EXAHEMERARE HEMEEEREER
AEEE  BETERGEAMBHRERERERMN
ZEE RS ([EEE]) -

B GEEMBHRRNERL MREEME
B RFTAHZSEMERERTMAMER
MR A o

BERMYBEAPHBRROEFS  HANE
TEHEEMER  EUHBEREY ZTEHEM
EERTEGEMBBMRIBMALERIER
TRTEROBAGEEAEBXEUTFE
BERERBRANER - ERHBMERTHT
tF MRBMBR/EMESFEERERR
o BT EREXETE -EETE &M
BREEMRE -

EERFERZEEHRSUKER
RNEFE

EXRAAEREEEEMASHEMNER
HBRELERNRBERAGHNRERE
BREBEEEMTENGAMBRE  UHER
RRBERE M BRI OB E 172 B R EGE
ok 58 AR T 28 BUR) B8 K B8 AR IR L AT 75 1O P BR 4%
HEE -

ERBGEEUBRAKN EFETME &
SEPBEKLENED  YEBRBRTHE
HFEKEAMNER UREAKELE

REFER KRIEFAENR EXKEEBR
HFILEE P EEMBERNERTR -

B EE MRS



Independent Auditors’ Report
& 3 B BAT R

AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

%%Eﬁ?ﬁ%ﬁ%éﬂﬁﬁiﬁ%ﬂ@ﬁ
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that

may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where

applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Hon Koon Fai, Alex.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hon Koon Fai, Alex
Practising Certificate Number: P05029

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REeREREMEZERER

2024 2023
2024 % 2023 F
For the year ended 31 March 2024 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BZE202453A31MHLEE Bt THET FHT
Revenue g 6 289,980 429,940
Cost of sales $HE KA (275,705) (413,699)
Gross profit EF 14,275 16,241
Other income H At ot A 8 5,494 7,655
Other gains or losses Hith Uy %5 5k fE5 18 9 (5,267) 1,834
Administrative expenses THHAX (14,266) (18,378)
Other operating expenses Hib @Y (5,250) (6,531)
Allowance for expected credit losson & @& EBPEEBEEE
financial assets, net FRE (2,621) (3,130
Loss from operations K EE (7,635) (2,309)
Finance costs & A A 10 (2,147) (2,816)
Share of results of an associate FE(L— Bt E N RS 921 1,217
Loss before taxation BREAIEE 1 (8,861) (3,908)
Income tax credit/(expenses) FrigfisEe,/ (F%) 12 213 (929)
Loss for the year FREE (8,648) (4,837)
Other comprehensive loss for FREMEZHEEER
the year
Item that may be reclassified HZAJpEEN A E B i)
subsequently to profit or loss: HH -
Share of other comprehensive FE(E — B & R a] HAth
loss of an associate 2HEE (909) (1,320)
Other comprehensive loss BRBEF R HA
for the year, net of tax 2HEE (909) (1,320)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

ReREkEMEZERE X

2024 2023
2024 2023 F
For the year ended 31 March 2024 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
BE202453A31BLFE iFsd FTHER FHT
Total comprehensive loss FRAXEBRER
for the year (9,557) (6,157)
Loss for the year attributable to ARAREBEABLEFERER
owners of the Company (8,648) (4,837)
Total comprehensive loss for the KABHEE AEMN
year attributable to owners of FAREBRAER
the Company (9,557) (6,157)
Loss per share attributable ¥ NCIE 2PN
to owners of the Company BREER 16
Basic and diluted (HK cents) B R EE Bl (6.29) (3.96)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.

BEPH B FE /S L S 4R B B RS SRR AR EE ) -

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-NFFH
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MR R

2024 2023
2024 % 2023 F
At 31 March 2024 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
R2024F3H31H Bt THET FHT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEREHE 17 11,002 13,192
Investment property wEWE 19 14,600 19,400
Interest in an associate — B E N AR 20 17,831 17,819
Financial assets at fair value through TR EFABRD
profit or loss TREE 21 5,449 5,297
48,882 55,708
Current assets REBEE
Inventories T8 22 1,260 403
Trade receivables =) & 23 84,211 75,814
Prepayments, deposits and AR FIE - ek
other receivables H b pE W R IE 24 1,217 5,990
Amount due from an associate fEUY — R B 2 A B FRIE 25 11,679 12,109
Pledged bank deposits BERIRITIE K 26 6,122 6,087
Cash and bank balances He RIRTTHER 26 10,452 28,557
114,941 128,960
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B 5 RNFKIE 27 29,411 30,818
Accruals, other payables and JEETBR - HiENRIER
deposits received BliEE 28 4,500 5,769
Bank and other borrowings IRITREMER 29 37,190 45,589
71,101 82,176
Net current assets RBEEZE 43,840 46,784
Total assets less current liabilities EEHERABERE 92,722 102,492
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e MR R

2024 2023

2024 % 2023 F

At 31 March 2024 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

R2024F3H31H B 5 FET FHT
Non-current liabilities kRBEE

Deferred tax liabilities BERIBEE 30 1,025 1,238

Net assets BEEFE 91,697 101,254
Capital and reserves EXR A

Share capital [N 31 13,752 13,752

Reserves Gk 77,945 87,502

Total equity HREZE 91,697 101,254

Approved and authorised for the issue by the board of directors on 28 B /20245 6 H28 BEE £ L/ LI E T

June 2024 and signed on its behalf by: EUWRUTAIRRETEERE:
Fong Chun Man Lo Pui Yee
FEX g
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEF HITEF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated ~ B&MIMIFE AL Sir A S HRER MBI D -
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REEREHR

Attributable to owners of the Company

AAREE AR
Fair value
through
other
Capital  comprehensive
Share Share Other contribution income Exchange  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
BATEA
X Hit2|
RA& REGEE Hipffe RARE W B ZitER st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TEL TET THET THET THT THT TEL
For the year ended 31 March 2024 (Note i) (Note i) (Note iii) (Note iv) (Note v)
BZ04F3ANBLEE (Bit3ti) (i) (P zEiii) (B (M)
At 1 April 2022 RA2%F4F18 10,080 74,701 —* 24,652 (905) 303 (13461) 95,370
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - - (4,837) (4,837)
Other comprehensiveloss ~ FREMZAKE
for the year - - - - - (1,320) - (1,320)
Loss and total comprehensive EREERZEFRLE
loss for the year - - - - - (1,320) (4,837) (6,157)
Issue of shares by way of AR A BT R 1D
rights issue (Note 31) (GEX) 3672 8813 - - - - - 12,485
Cost attributable toissue of ARV BT
shares by way of rights issue IR & £ RIRA - (444) - - - - - (444)
At 31 March 2023 and R2023%3A318 K
1 April 2023 02354818 13,752 83,070 -* 24,652 (905) (1,017) (18,298) 101,254
Loss for the year FREE - - - = = = (8,648) (8,648)
Other comprehensiveloss ~ FREMZAKE
for the year - - - - - (909) - (909)
Loss and total comprehensive ERBERZAFELE
loss for the year - - - - - (909) (8,648) (9,557)
At 31 March 2024 R2024%3A31R 13,752 83,070 -* 24,652 (905) (1,926) (26,946) 91,697
Notes: B 5%
0} Share premium represents the excess of shares issue over the par value. 0} B GERROETEBEENSHE -
(ii) Other reserve of the Group represents the difference between the total equity of (i) REBHEAM FEIEZSE QR A a5

the subsidiaries and the aggregated share capital of the subsidiaries pursuant to the
reorganisation where the transfer of the subsidiaries to the Company are satisfies by

issue of new shares from the Company.

(iii) Capital contribution reserve represents the amount of the financial impact arisen (iii)
from the transfer of business from Great Wall (International) Oil Company (Sole
Proprietorship Business) to Great Wall (International) Oil Limited.

(iv) Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") reserve comprises the (iv)
cumulative net change in the fair value of equity investments designated at FVTOCI.

(v) Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the (v)
translation of the financial statements of foreign operations outside Hong Kong.

The balance was approximately HK$8.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

2024 2023
2024 2023 4F
For the year ended 31 March 2024 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
HE202453A31HIEFE B E T THETT
Operating activities RETEY
Loss before taxation PR A% AT ET 1B (8,861) (3,908)
Adjustments for: BUTRBEFELARE
Interest Income A EHA 8 (54) (m
Finance costs BhE AR 10 2,147 2,816
Depreciation of property, plant ME - BERBHBITE
and equipment 17 2,165 2,292
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAEEENE 18 = 64
Loss arising on change in fair value KEWMERATFEED
of investment property FrEE £ R 19 4,800 600
Unrealised (gain)/loss on financial BRAFEFABRNEE
assets at fair value through BEAEER (WR) EE
profit or loss 9 (152) 648
Gain on disposal of property, HEME  BERZE
plant and equipment R 9 (5) (350)
Gain on extinguishment of B3R B AL A W am
other borrowing 9 - (3,718)
Allowance for expected credit loss TREENTEHREER
on financial assets, net EEREFE 2,621 3,130
Unrealised exchange loss REBEH BB 624 985
Share of results of an associate JE(E—RIBE DRI EE (921) (1,217)
Operating cash flows before EELESHBAI 2 KE
movements in working capital ReRE 2,364 1,331
(Increase)/decrease in inventories FERD (), (857) 417
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables 2 5 EUZXIE (1 Hn) R/ (11,305) 4,251
Decrease in deposits, prepayments e B IR R H At Y
and other receivables RIER D 4,866 6,372
Decrease in trade payables B SN FIBR D (1,407) (5,804)
(Decrease)/increase in accruals, other  JESTER - A EMZIBE R
payables and deposits received BEdiED Ofid), 8N (1,269) 2,090
Cash (used in)/generated from KEERE (FTA) /TR
operating activities (7,608) 8,657
Income tax refunded EIRFT1SHR - 1,587
Net cash (used in)/generated from REER (FTR), i
operating activities REFE (7,608) 10,244
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

2024 2023
2024 2023 4F
For the year ended 31 March 2024 Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
HE202453A31HIEFE B E TET TET
Investing activities REEE
Interest received EFE 19 1
Acquisition of property, plant WHEMZ - BRE REE
and equipment - (9,852)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BREREE
plant and equipment FR5 318 30 350
Net cash generated from/(used in) REZTEE(FTA)
investing activities REERE 49 (9,501)
Financing activities A& EE
Interest paid EATALE (2,147) (3,753)
Proceeds from bank and other HRIT R E At 5 R PT1S 5IE
borrowings 16,700 74,713
Repayments of bank and other ERRITREAMES
borrowings (25,099) (68,495)
Repayments of bonds payable BEEMNES = (800)
Repayments of lease liabilities BEHEAR - (168)
Proceeds from issue of shares DA IR A BT AR
by way of rights issue FRi§ I8 - 12,485
Costs attributable to issue of shares LA AR S 31T I (D
by way of rights issue BN - (444)
Net cash (used in)/generated from  BE T E (FTA) FiE
financing activities BEFE (10,546) 13,538
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and fﬁﬁ&ﬁ%%f’% 3¢
cash equivalents W), 1R (18,105) 14,281
Cash and cash equivalents at the i%ﬂﬁi&fﬁ T EEY
beginning of the year 28,557 14,276
Cash and cash equivalents attheend FRBEEREALZEY
of the year
Cash and bank balances He MIRITES 10,452 28,557

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated — BEMIFI 5T R L E45 6 M MR MAK B D ©
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B(ZE 2024331 HIEFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

F8 Enterprises (Holdings) Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law as
an exempted company with limited liability on 30 March 2018
and its shares are listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The registered office of
the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and principal place of
business in Hong Kong is Unit 3304, 33/F, Tower 1, Enterprise
Square Five, 38 Wang Chiu Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong. The
Company’s immediate and ultimate holding company is Grand
Tycoon Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands. Grand Tycoon Limited is controlled by Mr. Fong Chun
Man, a director of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in sale and transportation of
diesel oil and related products in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars ("HK$"), which is the functional currency of the
Company and all values are rounded to the nearest thousands
(HK$'000), except when otherwise stated.

—REHR

FEX (R EEERAR ([ARF )
R2018F3 A0 BIRIEARDEAER S 8
SEMKLAERRAERAR - HEH
REEMERZABR AR (TBEFT])
GEMLEmMm - RRARIWEMMERZR
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands R BB EBE XA STEN
BEELRRBIBHREESL OB — K33
3B E - RRAIMEEEREERA
BAIREFTHERAR  ZRANEBRL
BEEMKL - ZFBERABHARF
ERTRISTEES -

RRARRREZERRTF  ERBARE
ZEBRBNEHE LEXSRRA KA
BEmM -

BREMIEN  BRAMBERRALRA
MIhee ER BT (ETT)) 25 - MAAAE
BEAREERZOITME(TET) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 E(ZE 20243 A31 HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") for the first time,
which are mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning
on or after 1 April 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts
(including the October 2020
and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets

and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two model Rules
Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group's financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B(ZE 2024331 HIEFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Change in accounting policy as a result of application
of the HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications
of the abolition of the Mandatory Provident Fund —
Long Service Payment offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong

In June 2022, the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region ("Government”) gazetted the Hong Kong
Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting
Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (“Amendment
Ordinance”), which will come into effect from 1st May 2025
(“Transition Date”). Once the Amendment Ordinance takes
effect, an employer can no longer use any of the accrued benefits
derived from its mandatory contributions to mandatory provident
fund (“MPF”) scheme to reduce the long service payment (“LSP")
in respect of an employee’s service from the Transition Date (the
abolition of the “offsetting mechanism”). In addition, the LSP in
respect of the service before the Transition Date will be
calculated based on the employee’s monthly salary immediately
before the Transition Date and the years of service up to that
date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published the captioned accounting
guidance relating to the abolition of the offsetting mechanism. In
particular, the guidance indicates that entities may account for
the accrued benefits derived from mandatory MPF contributions
that are expected to be used to reduce the LSP payable to an
employee as deemed contributions by that employee towards
the LSP.

To better reflect the substance of the abolition of the offsetting
mechanism, the Group has applied the above HKICPA guidance
and changed its accounting policy in connection with its LSP
liability.

The change in accounting policy in the current year had no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 E(ZE 20243 A31 HIEFE

2.

112

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between

HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture'
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements?
HKFRS 7
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

HK Interpretation 5 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements

— Classification by the Borrower of
a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause'

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

The directors anticipate that the application of all the new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B(ZE 2024331 HIEFE

REMBHBRREREE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #&E
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL k%#ﬁ%ﬁﬁ
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
3.1 Basic of preparation of consolidated financial 3.1

statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs, which is a collective term
includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards and related interpretations issued by
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is considered
material if such information is reasonably expected to
influence decisions made by primary users. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosure required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing
Rules”) and by the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain property and
financial instruments that are measured at fair values, as
explained in the accounting policies below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
the consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 16
Leases, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36
Impairment of Assets.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 E(ZE 20243 A31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.1 Basic of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment property which are
transacted at fair value and a valuation technique that
unobservable inputs are to be used to measure fair value in
subsequent periods, the valuation technique is calibrated
so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation
technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B(ZE 2024331 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidation financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities (including
structured entities) controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

i has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 E(ZE 20243 A31 HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant
subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidliaries

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained
interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the
owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e.
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another
category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable
HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for
subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint
venture.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B(ZE 2024331 HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
acquired processes are considered substantive if they are
critical to the ability to continue producing outputs,
including an organised workforce with the necessary skills,
knowledge, or experience to perform the related processes
or they significantly contribute to the ability to continue
producing outputs and are considered unique or scarce or
cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay
in the ability to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of business are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by
the Group to the former owner of the acquire and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquire. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

For business combinations in which the acquisition date is
on or after 1 April 2022, the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an asset
and a liability in the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual
Framework”) except for transactions and events within the
scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21, in which the Group
applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 instead of the
Conceptual Framework to identify the liabilities it has
assumed in a business combination. Contingent assets are
not recognised.
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MERREREERE
BEER #)

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #7
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

\)
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(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 EXRETERER (B
Business combinations (Continued) EBE6H(E)
At the acquisition date, the indefinable assets acquired and R A E - FRNIE R # A& E
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, REFEEBEZ AT ETARER
except that: HE -
e deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or BEEMBEEXBERER

liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with
HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

J liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquire or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquire are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2;

o assets that are classified as held for sale in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance
with that standard; and
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #r
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2
Business combinations (Continued)

J lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases
for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months of
the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of
low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and
measured at the same amount as the relevant lease
liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or
unfavourable terms of the lease when compared with
market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquire
(if any) over the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date.
If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer's previously held interest in the acquire (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a
bargain purchases gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event of
liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-
transaction basis.

&5

BEREREERE
BEER #)

o

ERSTHRER (&)
EBEH(B)

s HERBRNSHEENKCE
EREFBYHRELRE16
) MIRERRBNTE B
A ERERNKERRR
MHEE E@QHEEAREER
Bi&12ME A AR © 3 (b) 48
MEEBERENEER
Sho E A EREMERE
EREMERNSEER MG
B UWHETHABURRER
SIRFAR L HE M A R
]

UEES

BEDROEERLE RKRET
AR (AT SE P R 2 R B A
SRR U IR 77 K5 B W B R
B@A)WERERNKER S
Prigigal MRl & E LA AR R
HFBREZREAE - MEEMF
B 1% - BT YRR AT 38 Bl & 2 B P
FREMNFEBACHEERE .
BT ERFERES SR
RYEALEAMRBERBELFEZ
R FE (E) AR - B
MOMNSREBETHERSZER

Blgss o

BREHEEEEZENEREER
FAANBRRLOIDIEHEENRB
NRIBEREEFEMNIFERERD -
A] 1) 2 2 JR 45 SO 2 B A MR
TABRNEEFENC RS
Pl A FERE - T EEER
BIVRER R 5 EEEL -

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-NFFH 119



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 E(ZE 20243 A31 HIEFE

3.

120

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at
its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of the
consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as part of the consideration transferred in a
business combination. Changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively.
Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that
arise from additional information obtained during the
“measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year
from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances
that existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent
consideration that do not qualify as measurement period
adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates
and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an
asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at subsequent
reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquire prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9
would be accounted for on the same basis as would be
required if the Group had disposed directly of the
previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the
measurement period (see above), and additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information
obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the
acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the
amounts recognised at that date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B(ZE 2024331 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost a established at the date of acquisition of the business
(see the accounting policy above) less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units
("CGUs") (or group of CGUs) that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination, which represent the
lowest level at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an operating
segment.

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
reporting period, the CGU (or group of CGUs) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment before
the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU within
the group of CGUs, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal. When the Group disposes of an operation
within the CGU (or a CGU within a group of CGUs), the
amount of goodwill disposed of is measured on the basis of
the relative values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed
of and the portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUs)
retained.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Interest in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of
the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of the
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the
associate. Changes in net assets of the associate other than
profit or loss and other comprehensive income are not
accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group's
share of losses of an associate exceeds the Group's interest
in that associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group's net investment
in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its
share of further losses. Additional losses are recognised
only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the
equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in
an associate, any excess of the cost of the investment over
the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities of the investee is recognised as
goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of
the investment. Any excess of the Group's share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the
cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss in the period in which the
investment is acquired.

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

>t 3t

m%nb

&

MERREREERE
HHEER )

3.2 EXEHEER (&)

RBE ARz #E®

BENRABAEEBAFEAY

Zﬁﬁoéﬁyﬁﬁ%/ﬁw&
BER 2B REEREKREK B
FEIEHIS KRR GRS 2 ST -

BMERNFZEEREERBRED

RAERGHEA AR VB R
e EETTT“LJ\ﬁEFﬁ%ﬁH it &
NElZHBHRE DERAEKRE
BERUBRATHEURZRE
ffFﬁﬁﬁﬁ% BMregtBRmES -
BIEERZE RBERAFZRE
)]*F?AZEZZIK A fr A& B T AR O 3R
E /H\Téﬂfﬁuﬂ%‘ g{ﬁ@a{{z}x;‘%
ERLBERRZER REME
Eas - BEENRIEEFEER

REMmEEREEIN 2 B85 T
TAR BRIFEHEESHE ?KZIKE
B AEESRLIRES -

Z!S’E@F’EVE “**"TJEET@?UB/H\

REtE ARz (BEEY LB
BZZIKEIEAHG%%’AT@&QZE
A REIER) @ BIAREEL IR
HEhs#E—PEE - EEXE
Eﬁi}iﬁﬂﬂﬁi%\&ﬁﬁ%
& N B AR BIREREE S
518 o

REZRBWMRERERE T K
REBEDAE REEREDEA
B RIEBREBE ARIMRER
BRERANBHAEEDHRIRE
THBEMNEERABENRFFE
MEMSBOBRSEE  FAZK
BREMKREE - AKBEDHAH
MEERBENRFEFEBLE
BRANEME D  KEHFE
R ENEF U S AR R e ERR o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B(ZE 2024331 HIEFE

MERREREERE
ATBRERER (2

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #x
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
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ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Interest in an associate (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in
accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised is not allocated to any asset,
including goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently

increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over
an associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in the investee with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. When the Group retains an
interest in the former associate and the retained interest is
a financial asset within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group
measures the retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying amount of
the associate and the fair value of any retained interest and
any proceeds from disposing of the relevant interest in the
associate is included in the determination of the gain or
loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the
same basis as would be required if that associate had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
Therefore, if a gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income by that associate would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss
from equity to profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment)
upon disposal/partial disposal of the relevant associate.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Interest in an associate (Continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related
assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate are recognised in the consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if
the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of investee's net assets
including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provide to the chief operating
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is
responsible for allocation resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the steering committee that makes strategic
decisions.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B(ZE 2024331 HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

J the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance as
the Group performs;

o the Group's performance creates and enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

J the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that the
Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether the
nature of its promise is a performance obligation to provide
the specified goods or services itself (i.e. the Group is a
principal) or to arrange for those goods or services to be
provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or
service before that good or service is transferred to a
customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to
arrange for the provision of the specified good or service
by another party. In this case, the Group does not control
the specified good or service provided by another party
before that good or service is transferred to the customer.
When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in
the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects to
be entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified
goods or services to be provided by the other party.

Further details of the Group’s revenue recognition policies
are as follows:

Sale of diesel oil and related product, injecting molding
machine and steel products

Revenue is recognised at a point in time when control of
the goods has been transferred, being when the goods
have been delivered to the customers’ specific location.
The normal credit term is 3 days to 150 days upon delivery.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #=x
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price
of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease from lease component, and instead account for the
lease component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of office that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

128

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease

liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

J an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in

dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities other
than adjustments to lease liabilities resulting from Covid-
19-related rent concessions in which the Group applied the
practical expedient.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying
leased assets at the end of the lease term, upon exercising
purchase options, the cost of the relevant right-of-use
assets and the related accumulated depreciation and
impairment loss are transferred to property, plant and
equipment.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B(ZE 2024331 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #=x
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use
assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In
calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease
is not readily determinable.

The lease payments included:

J fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

o the amount expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

J payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the exercise of an option to
terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-NFFH

ERSTHRER (&)
HE (&)

FEBERABEA (E)
AREHESES
ENNAREESRESHRESR
BHMBREERNFEIRARK - 915
BAVEAE HUSTHIHA
FEEDNABRKRSBINEE
[ AEFAEREEEKA

SRR Y F3
BEAZMEENRRERRR
HEREAE - NHERENK
TR - 47 08 2 0 T L
B AR E AN ERNS
PR

HEMREHE

e ETFrMHENK(BEEZHRE

TE TR R A B AR BB

=

o BTHEMR LR A
MENF  NEERRFESR
H BRI BN K5t &

o ABMAREXSKEEERRE
HIEN S

e MABAGEBENTERE
EEE AT EERNTT
EE: R

o HAEHIRRITEEZELL
HE - AR IEEENS RN
e

REAKBER BEREEBA

BIEMEBEENRELFE -

129



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 E(ZE 20243 A31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #=x
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets) whenever:

J the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

J the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the
Group applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts
for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

J the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

J the consideration for the leases increases by an

amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for
the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that standalone price to reflect the
circumstances of the particular contract.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B(ZE 2024331 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #=x
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset.

When the modified contract contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease components,
the Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the basis of the
relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, the
Group applies the practical expedient to remeasure the
lease liabilities by discounting the revised lease payments
using the unchanged discount rate, unless the change in
lease payments results from a change in floating interest
rates. In that case, the Group uses the revised discount rate
that reflects change in the interest rate and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use
assets. A lease modification is required by interest rate
benchmark reform if, and only if, both of these conditions
are met:

o the modification is necessary as a direct consequence
of interest rate benchmark reform; and

J the new basis for determining the lease payments is
economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the
basis immediately preceding the modification).
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3.

132

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform
(Continued)

If lease modifications are made in addition to those lease
modifications required by interest rate benchmark reform,
the Group applies the applicable requirements in HKFRS 16
to account for all lease modifications made at the same
time, including those required by interest rate benchmark
reform.

Covid-19-related rent concessions

In relation to rent concessions that occurred as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Group has
elected to apply the practical expedient not to assess
whether the change is a lease modification if all of the
following conditions are met:

J the change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease
immediately preceding the change;

J any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30 June 2022; and

J there is no substantive change to other terms and
conditions of the lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for
changes in lease payments resulting from rent concessions
the same way it would account for the changes applying
HKFRS 16 if the changes are not a lease modification.
Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are accounted for
as variable lease payments. The related lease liabilities are
adjusted to reflect the amounts forgiven or waived with a
corresponding adjustment recognised in the profit or loss
in the period in which the event occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B(ZE 2024331 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. e HXRGBEREERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL REFBEER &=
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 EXESHEER (&)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee,
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases
are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised
as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term
except for investment properties measured under fair value
model.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers to allocate consideration in a
contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease
components are separated from lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for
as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided
through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease
payments for the new lease.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

134

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise
,except for exchange differences on monetary items
receivable from or payable to a foreign operation for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur (therefore
forming part of the net investment in the foreign operation),
which are recognised initially in other comprehensive
income and reclassified from equity to profit or loss on
disposal or partial disposal of the Group's interests in
associates.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as
appropriate).
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B(ZE 2024331 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #r
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

>t 3t

I8 o)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2
Foreign currencies (Continued)

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of
the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in a joint arrangement or an associate that includes
a foreign operation of which the retained interest becomes
a financial asset), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary
that does not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all
other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of associates or
joint arrangements that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is
reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on
or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities
of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of
exchange prevailing at the end of each reporting period.
Exchange differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such
time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are included.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

136

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such
grants are presented under “other income”.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the "MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a
defined contribution scheme, the assets of which are held
in separate trustee-administered funds.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #x
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
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ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)

Retirement benefits costs (Continued)

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the scheme at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, with the employers’
contributions subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000. The Group's contributions to the MPF
Scheme are expensed as incurred. The Group has no
further payment obligations once the contributions have
been paid. There are no forfeited contributions for the MPF
Scheme as the contributions are fully vested to the
employees upon payment to the MPF Scheme.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term
employee benefits are measured at the present value of the
estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the
Group in respect of services provided by employees up to
the reporting date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying
amounts resulting from service cost, interest and
remeasurements are recognised in profit or loss except to
the extent that another HKFRS requires or permits their
inclusion in the cost of an asset.

For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the employer
MPF contributions expected to be offset as a deemed
employee contribution towards the LSP obligation in terms
of HKAS 19.93(a) and it is measure on a net basis. The
estimated amount of future benefit is determined after
deducting the negative service cost arising from the
accrued benefits derived from the Group's MPF
contributions that have been vested with employees, which
are deemed to be contributions from the relevant
employees.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions

Share granted to non-employees

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions with
parties other than employees are measured at the fair value
of the goods or services received, except where that fair
value cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted, measured at the date the entity obtains the goods
or the counterparty renders the service. The fair values of
the goods or services received are recognises as expenses
(unless the goods or services qualify for recognition as
assets).

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before tax
because of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group's liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit and at the time of the transaction does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

3.

3.2 EREHHERER (£)

URGR/RERNLRK

U fa B AR 3 B A 1 50
X5

ETIREBERE
HEBUINZ ALTETZ A s
REUKROBERNNRR S
REWERMEIRG 2 A FEFE
Hefi X SFERBER] 2t 8 - B
BRERERATAZ AFEFE -
ERERATAZ ATFERER
REEmEEF I REREER
AE-ERERARFZRFE
BRASER EABEERIRE
NEERERREE - AFRGS -

BiE

FIT 15 75t 7 52 5 B 20 A 7 78 S
FERL TR RO ABAN o

BV 5 8 9 74 T LA S 4 SRR
RSB o 8 52 B i ) B0 B AT 3
RIS B R A 2 B e R A 6
P e 388 5% 7 9 9. 10 M A S 3K
DA 4 3 78 5 L o 446 S T 95
ST - A0 HRIE A E
EREBRCERIARLDE
MR B -

BERETRIAER /RSP HRE
WEENBENREE MBI
HRERYUE MR ENREE
BMoBERHEAGB - RSERN
ERERNEREZE - BEEREE
E—REWERFTHE AR REE
A1 {2 LA 7] B8 3R 69 7 ) A B B
ERIMB A ERTEH SR - fr
EREERE GRER (EEa 6
BRON TR ERRBUE N R G5
NZXHHNEERBEERSHE
B AN A R 55 B AR A % AT 3K %R B
BREZE MABEEECREEER
BETTHER LI HERE
BREMENERER TS
RIELEHBARE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax
assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model,
the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed to
be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption
is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the
investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

140

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately. Temporary differences on initial recognition of
the relevant right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not
recognised due to application of the initial recognition
exemption. Temporary differences arising from subsequent
revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement of lease
liabilities and lease modifications, that are not subject to
initial recognition exemption are recognised on the date of

remeasurement or modification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B(ZE 2024331 HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and
equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their useful lives, using
the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item
of property, plant and equipment is determined as the
difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

The property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are depreciated over their estimated useful
lives, after taking into account of their residual value, on a
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Leasehold improvement Over the lease terms
Motor vehicles 30%
Office equipment 30%
Oil barge 10%

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are
reassessed at each reporting date.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or
for its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried
at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction in
progress is classified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at fair value, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued
operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of
the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #r
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate assets are
allocated to the relevant CGU when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs
for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can
be established. The recoverable amount is determined for
the CGU or group of CGUs to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of the
relevant CGU unit or group of CGU.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to
sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future
cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying amount of an
asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is
allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the
group of CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or a group of CGUs)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or a CGU or a group of CGUs) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value with absorption cost. Cost is determined using the
weighted average method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into
account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying
amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the
effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third
party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually
certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount
of the receivable can be measured reliably.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B(ZE 2024331 HIEFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Contingent assets and liabilities

Contingent assets

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other
unexpected events that give rise to the possibility of an
inflow of economic benefits to the Group and they are not
recognised in the consolidated financial statements. The
Group assesses continually the development of contingent
assets. If it has become virtually certain that an inflow of
economic benefits will arise, the Group recognises the asset
and the related income in the consolidated financial
statements in the reporting period in which the change
occeurs.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from
past events but is not recognised because it is not probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of
the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be
met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and
it is not recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision is
recognised in the consolidated financial statements in the
reporting period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no
reliable estimate can be made.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@)  cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or
less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments rather than for
investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash

flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value except for trade receivables arising from
contracts with customers which are initially measured in
accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 E(ZE 20243 A31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #LEe B HXRGBREERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL RETBRER (&
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

. the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in
other comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to
which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B(ZE 2024331 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. e HXRGBEREERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL REFBEER &=
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 EXEHEER (&)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

J it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as
a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised
cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates
or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit-impaired.

SRITA(Z)

THEE (&)
DENHERFESHEE (B)

HEBATNER £REEWRN S
REBEEE:

e WBZERMEEMNENIE
EEEHALE %

s RNUIPHBRAK ZTBEE
BAAEE—HEENESH
AlemTANES —#D
¥ HEBROEREHER
B %

s ZERMEBEER/REETHI
AETARAIBRERE T
Ao

S AN - A 52 [ R] BE I AT K SH i 4
EBRBH A A ERA
Htvz2EBRFAENEREER
BRAFEFABRFTE  AER
ItE 28 R 4 55 3 K IR Rl D & R EE AT

B -

B SH RN R B R
MEWARKBERMEEL  sLE
BRIZBHEKATENEREERE
RoFNBEWMANGFETAZARSE
RAXERAREREENKRERZ
BOMERKAREERENS R
BEAKRI (AT - BLEEMK
REERENEREEMS @ 7
BURABBEERMNEEART
—EAREHE S RE E R EHX
AER -MEERESRBTAN
EERRNE BESREET
BENGEERE AEEEEH
EETBBENEERERNRE
BNERERNEEANERE
FE O R T AR BR A RE SRR B o

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-NFFH 149



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 E(ZE 20243 A31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

150

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or
losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the
“other gains and losses” line item.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B(ZE 2024331 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. e HXRGBEREERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL REFBEER &=
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 EXEHEER (&)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss ("ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
amount due from an associate, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL ("12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting period. Assessment are done
based on the Group's historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting period as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables without significant financing component.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 E(ZE 20243 A31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

152

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

J an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

J significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

J existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; or

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B(ZE 2024331 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #a K BRREREERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL REFBERER @)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 EXRETERER (B
Financial instruments (Continued) SRMIA(E)
Financial assets (Continued) THEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) SREERE(E)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to
ensure that the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past
due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.
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3.

154

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

borrower;

. a breach of contract, such as a default or past due

event;

° the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over 2 years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’'s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event.
Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B(ZE 2024331 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. e HXRGBEREERE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL REFBEER &=
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 EXEHEER (&)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring as the weights. The
Group uses a practical expedient in estimating ECL on
trade receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivable are considered on
a collective basis taking into consideration past due
information and relevant credit information such as forward
looking macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when formulating
the grouping:

. Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
J External credit ratings where available.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 E(ZE 20243 A31 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

156

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their
carrying amount, with the exception of trade receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through
a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset's carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B(ZE 2024331 HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as financial liabilities or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified as
either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities (including bank and other borrowings,
trade payables and accruals, other payables and deposits
received) are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. #%=4&
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL g
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2

Related parties transactions

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiaries is related to
the others);

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group which the other entity is a
member;

(i)  both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and

the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Related parties transactions (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group. If the Group is
itself such a plan, the sponsoring employees are
also related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); or

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the Company’s
parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity

and include:

(a)

(b)

(c)

that person’s children and spouse or domestic

partner;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;

and

dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or

domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction

when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between

the Group and a related party, regardless of whether a
price is charged.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, management is required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgments, apart from those
involving estimations, that the management have made in the
process of applying the entity’s accounting policies and that have
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from
investment properties that are measured using the fair value
model, the directors have reviewed the Group’s investment
property portfolios and concluded that the Group's investment
properties are not held under a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time. Therefore, in
determining the deferred taxation on investment properties, the
directors have determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties measured using the fair value
model are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. The
Group has not recognised any deferred tax on changes in fair
value of investment properties as the Group is not subject to any
income taxes on the fair value changes of the investment
properties on disposal.
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4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Allowance for ECL for trade receivables

Trade receivables with significant balances and credit-impaired
are assessed for ECL individually.

In addition, the Group uses practical expedient in estimating ECL
on trade receivables which are not assessed individually using a
provision matrix. The provision rates are based on aging of
debtors as groupings of various debtors taking into consideration
the Group's historical default rates and forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the
forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group's trade receivables are
disclosed in Note 5(b).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair value measurement of investment property

Investment property is stated at fair value based on the market
values, being the estimated amount for which property could be
exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and
a willing seller in an arm’s length transaction or the valuation
performed by an independent valuer. In determining the fair
value, the valuer has based on method of valuation which
involves certain estimates and assumptions. In relying on the
valuation report, the management has exercised their
judgements and is satisfied that the method of valuation is
reflective of the current market conditions. Should there be any
changes in assumptions due to change of market conditions, the
fair value of the investment property will be adjusted accordingly.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amount of the Group's
investment property is HK$14,600,000 (2023: HK$19,400,000).
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) Categories of financial instruments

5. @I A
() @MTEER

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FATT
Financial assets SREE
At amortised cost biog: 1= TN
— Trade receivables — B G ENEIA 84,211 75,814
— Deposits and other receivables — e RE A E R FRIE 996 5,400
— Amount due from an associate — JE U & N B R 11,679 12,109
— Pledged bank deposits — BHERITER 6,122 6,087
— Cash and bank balances — Re RRTTEH 10,452 28,557
113,460 127,967
At fair value BN FE
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFABENEREE 5,449 5,297
Financial liabilities SREE
At amortised cost - 3=17 %N
— Trade payables — B EMNFIE 29,411 30,818
— Accruals, other payables and —EEER  EMERFKIE
deposits received ke wize 4,500 5,769
— Bank and other borrowings — IRTT R EMER 37,190 45,589
71,101 82,176

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The management monitors and manages the financial risks

relating to the operations of the Group through internal

risks reports which analyse the exposures by degree and

magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk

(including interest rate risk and foreign currency risk), credit

risk and liquidity risk.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

The Group's major financial instruments include trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, amount due
from an associate, pledged bank deposits, bank balances,
financial assets at FVTPL, trade payables, accruals, other
payables and deposits received and bank and other
borrowings. Details of these financial instruments and the
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
Management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

(i) Market risk

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings and
lease liabilities. The Group is also exposed to cash
flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank
balances and variable-rate bank and other
borrowings. The Group cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of interest
rates on bank balances and Hong Kong Inter-Bank
Offered Rate ("HIBOR") and HK$ prime rate as
determined by the lender arising from the Group's
HK$ denominated borrowings. The Group aims at
keeping borrowings at variable rates. The Group
manages its interest rate exposures by assessing the
potential impact arising from any interest rate
movements based on interest rate level and outlook.
The management will review the proportion of
borrowings in fixed and floating rates and ensure they
are within reasonable range.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate
benchmarks is being undertaken globally, including
the replacement of some interbank offered rates
("IBORs") with alternative nearly risk-free rates. Details
of the impacts on the Group’s risk management
strategy arising from the interest rate benchmark
reform and the progress towards implementation of
alternative benchmark interest rates are set out under
“interest rate benchmark reform” in this note.
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for the
variable-rate bank borrowings. The analysis is
prepared assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. A 50-basis point (2023:
50-basis point) increase or decrease in variable-rate
bank borrowings are used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management’'s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates. Bank
balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis as the
management considers that the exposure of cash flow
interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank
balances is insignificant.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the
Group's post-tax loss for the year ended 31 March
2024 would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$153,000 (2023: HK$181,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group's exposure to interest rates
on its variable-rate bank borrowings.

Foreign currency risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong and transactions
are mainly denominated in HK$ and Renminbi
("RMB"). Foreign currency risk arises from future
commercial transactions, which are denominated in a
currency that is not the functional currency of the
Group.
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5.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

€T R ®)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) MEEREKBEEEEREE (&)
(Continued)
(i)  Market risk (Continued) () TWHEERRE)
Foreign currency risk (Continued) GNFE B e (4B )
At the end of each reporting period, the carrying NEHREHKR  KEBFIA
amounts of the monetary assets and liabilities of the R (WIEThEE &) sHED
Group, which are denominated in RMB, that is not the EEAENBENERED
functional currency are as follows: T
Assets Liabilities
gE &
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 F 20234 2024 % 20236
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FTERT FHT
RMB ARE 11,687 12,119 - -
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency MUAINESTENEEREE
hedging policy in respect of assets and liabilities mE - A%k ERE I EIMNE
denominated in foreign currency. The Group will HHEK - AEEKTYE
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will BH HNE R B - R E R
consider hedging significant foreign currency = R ERINE R o
exposure should the need arise.
The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a TRAMAEBREBITHEA
5% increase and decrease in HK$ against RMB. 5% is REEX EARTES%HE
the sensitivity rate used which represents BRE - S% R EIREHEX
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible Rl B BN E LRI (L P AR 60 88
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity R - WBREDTERSRE
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency ONETER REREEIE
denominated monetary items and adjusts their B R W2 B R 5t O [ 3R
translation at the end of the reporting period for a 5% FHORHHBREETHA
change in foreign currency rates. A positive number B TREBRTMETRL
below indicates a decrease in post-tax loss where HK$ ARMEEIES% - Biik B8R
weakens 5% against RMB. For a 5% strengthening of Do A THARBEHESS
HK$ against RMB, there would be an equal and s - A 1% B 48 2 A AR
opposite impact on the post-tax loss and the number FEEBERARNTZE  T%X
below would be negative. BFEREE -
2024 2023
2024 £ 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FET
If HK$ strengthens against RMB by 5% AT ARBAHESS (488) (506)
If HK$ weaken against RMB by 5% BT H AREEZES% 488 506
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
amount due from an associate, pledged bank
deposits and bank balances. At 31 March 2024 and
2023, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk,
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties arising from the carrying amounts of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with
its financial assets.

Trade receivables

Credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit terms. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s past history of making payments when
due and current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as to the
economic environment.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer and therefore significant concentrations of
credit risk primarily arises when the Group has
significant exposure to individual customers.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

In respect of trade receivables arising from the sale
and transportation of diesel oil and related products
in Hong Kong, the Group has a concentration of
credit risk in certain individual customers. At the end
of each reporting period, the Group has
concentration of credit risk as 23% (2023: 13%) and
57% (2023: 45%) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group's largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively within the sale of diesel oil
business. The directors closely monitor the risk
exposure of the customers and would take
appropriate action to ensure the risk exposure is
acceptable.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the management
reviews the recoverability of each trade receivable at
the end of each reporting period to ensure that
adequate allowance for ECL are made for
irrecoverable amounts. The Group applies simplified
approach on trade receivables to provide for the ECL
prescribed by HKFRS 9. The Group measures loss
allowances for trade receivables at an amount equal
to lifetime ECL, which is calculated using a provision
matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss experience
does not indicate significantly different loss patterns
for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished
between the Group's different customer bases.
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which are
assessed on a collective basis by using provision
matrix within lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). Trade
receivables that are credit-impaired were assessed

5. 2RI A%
(b) MEEMRESEEERKE (&)

(i)

EE R R RR ARG ()

EZEN A ()

TREHBERZHASE
EER (XEEERE) AX
R EEE R R EENG
M E 5 EYGENEE R R
BER-BEFEERENES

individually. FEW R IE B 1T @ B AT A o
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHIE B R RHAE RS
At 31 March 2024 % HK$'000 HK$'000
"2024%F3H31H % FET FHET
Current (not yet past due) BNER (@ HER) 2.07 51,424 1,065
1-90 days past due BHI1ZE9OKR 3.17 20,287 643
91-180 days past due #EHI91 £ 180 H 10.68 11,373 1,214
181-365 days past due #EHI181 =365 H 41.61 6,934 2,885
Credit-impaired = ERE 100.00 12,957 12,957
102,975 18,764
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEH 5 18 =& IREAE e R
At 31 March 2023 % HK$'000 HK$'000
M 20233 A318 % FHET THETT
Current (not yet past due) BNER (RigHER) 1.13 27,240 308
1-90 days past due #HA1 =90 K 1.80 30,534 549
91-180 days past due #HI91 = 180 B 6.69 15,667 1,049
181-365 days past due #HI181 2365 H 21.99 5,485 1,206
Credit-impaired EERE 100.00 13,397 13,397
92,323 16,509
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(ii)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

At 31 March 2024, the Group recognised allowance
for ECL of HK$5,807,000 (2023: HK$3,112,000) on
trade receivables, based on collective assessment.
Allowance for ECL of HK$12,957,000 (2023:
HK$13,397,000) was made on credit-impaired trade
receivables.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime
ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables
under the simplified approach:

5. 2RI A%
(b) HEEMRETEEERKE (&)

(ii)

FERRNBENE(E)

EZENE (E)

B EREIREEBAR
EHRFHNBEERMFE
WERMEE UREFHHB
ZRAKE N BRI 15 Y AT IR

HEMMEL AR -EEETE
HMM DA DAREIR A R4S

EBEBANHEBENDEH -

MR2024F3A31H ' AEEH
mﬁﬂﬂ HERE ZHEWK
HERHEEBBERE
5,807,000 7% T (20234 :
3,112,000 L) ° B 5t 8 &£
EERENE S ERHIEE
M B R (E BRI EE
12,957,000 JT (2023 4F :
13,397,000/ 7T) °

TRIVRRIEB T AR E
SR FRERN 2 HES
EEBREH

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
2HESEE 2
BB (L& EEFE
EERE) (EEERME) k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TATT TAT FAT
At 1 April 2022 202294 A 1H 948 12,342 13,290
Transfer to credit-impaired HEFZERE (273) 273 -
Allowance for ECL recognised CRREHEE
BERE 2,437 782 3,219
At 31 March 2023 and M2023F3831HK
1 April 2023 2023F 4818 3,112 13,397 16,509
Transfer to credit-impaired HEREEERE (233) 233 -
Allowance for ECL recognised/ ERAEHEE
(reversed) BERE/(BmE) 2,928 (20) 2,908
Written-off il - (653) (653)
At 31 March 2024 M202453H31H 5,807 12,957 18,764
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery
include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a
failure to make contractual payments for a period
greater than agreed contract terms.

Allowance for ECL on trade receivables are presented
within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously impaired are credited against the
same line item.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the
Group's exposure to credit risk arising from trade
receivables are set out in Note 23 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The management monitored the financial background
and creditability of those debtors on an ongoing
basis. The Group seeks to minimise its risk by dealing
with counterparties which have good credit history.
Majority of the trade receivables that are not yet past
due have no default payment history. In this regard,
the directors consider that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.

5. 2RI A%
B EAREEEERBEE)

(b)

(i)

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-NFFH

EE R R RR ARG ()

EZEN A ()

B REFARESIEEY
] Ui [a] B 5 o RS TR TR
AREIRIEN TR B (K
R EFAREEAS
B E & KT 8 RR BB
1 € A %) B H) HA R R R BE 1
HE KK

B REFENEREES
BREZ2IINEEENA -
Hg W m LR ENRIES
RAR—EITIHA -

BRASEEEREE 5 ME
WHRAENEERR 2 E—F
EERBIENGEEMBHRE
PiFE23 °

ERERBEERZFEBTA
MPBESERERAE AR
BEBRABRIFEREESL
MRS FAIEATERIK
HER - KEB 0 HARE
5 & YR TR 4 4 KR R
FESL - ST E  EFRAR
AEBOEERRD KER
1K -
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Deposits

For deposits, the Group makes periodic individual
assessment on the recoverability of deposits based
on historical information about the counterparties and
supportive forward-looking information. The Group
believes that there is no significant increase in credit
risk of these amounts since initial recognition and the
Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL. At 31
March 2024, an accumulated allowance for ECL on
deposits amounted to HK$17,000 was recognised
(2023: HK$17,000), with ECL rate of 1.7% (2023: 1.7%).

Other receivables

For other receivables, the Group makes periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables based on historical information about the
counterparties and supportive forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there is no
significant increase in credit risk for other receivables
with gross carrying amount of HK$39,000 (2023:
HK$4,536,000) since initial recognition and the Group
provided impairment based on 12m ECL. Other
receivables with gross carrying amount of
HK$3,650,000 (2023: HK$3,650,000) is credit-impaired
and the Group provided impairment based on
lifetime ECL. At 31 March 2024, an accumulated
allowance for ECL on other receivables amounted to
HK$3,650,000 was recognised (2023: HK$3,743,000),
with ECL rate of 98.9% (2023: 45.7%).

5. 2RI A%
B EAREEEERBEE)

(b)

(i)

EERBRRENS (&)

i

BEemE  ALERES
BHFANBEEN RIS
MATEMHERNEHEZEN
A 47 [0 72 [ #E 1T (8 B FE A o

AEERE BYIIHRERN

R ZEFENEERRIT
HMEAERN BAREEERE
1218 A BBz BB B AT IR
BE-M2024F3A31H B
BRIEE R EHEEREE
# #17,0007% 7T (2023 F -

17,0007%870) - TBHAEEEE
R51.7% (20234 - 1.7%)

H b fEW 5 TH
REMEKRENS A%
EREEESEFINBEE
B SRR E R A
fth JE U SR IR R A] U [0 12 B i
TEBHERNFE - AEER
B BURERNAK  RE
#2818 4 39,00078 7T (2023 4F :
4,536,0007 7T) B H ftb jE U
FRIB = B A B I 4 A 2 1
- BARASEREI126AE
HEEBEBEIRRERE-
8% M 48 (& A 3,650,000/ 7T
(2023 £ : 3,650,000 7T) K
Hfh g B HIBEE R
B AEBEREZHAEBEHE
BEEBFRRE - 102024 F
3A31MH BERRHEMER
REMREHEEEHERE
1% 3,650,000 7% 7T (2023 4F -
3,743,000 ) r BHIE E
B 18 & 5 98.9% (20234 :
45.7%) o
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Other receivables (Continued)
The following tables show reconciliation of loss

5. 2RI A%

(b)

(i)

MHEREEREREEK#E)

EE R R RR ARG ()

E At JEY KR ()
TRIRE BLE A U FRIA

allowances that has been recognised for other R B BB ELR
receivables:
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
E-ER EIEE I Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT FAT TAET
At 1 April 2022 R2022%F4 A1H 170 - 3,650 3,820
Allowance for ECL reversed BHEERBER
fERE 77 - - (77)
At 31 March 2023 and R2023F3A31H K
1 April 2023 2023F 4R 1H 93 - 3,650 3,743
Allowance for ECL reversed BHEEEER
R E (93) = = (93)
At 31 March 2024 H2024%3A31H - - 3,650 3,650

Amount due from an associate

The Group regularly monitors the business
performance of the associate. The Group's credit risks
in this balance is mitigated through the value of the
assets held by the associate and the power to
participate the relevant activities of the associate. The
management believes that there is no significant
increase in credit risk of this amount since initial
recognition and the Group provided impairment
based on 12m ECL. For the year ended 31 March
2024 and 2023, the Group recognised ECL by
assessing the credit risk characteristics of amount due
from an associate and the prevailing economic
conditions. At 31 March 2024, an accumulated
allowance for ECL of HK$28,000 (2023: HK$222,000)
was recognised, with ECL rate of 0.24% (2023: 1.80%).

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-NFFH

JEW B & N A F00E

N5 B TE BRES IR E A A A
EBRB - AEBRZIEL
BREERBBBHE AT
FIFEEMEBAENRS MY E
NEEBEIE B R E I RE
M-EEERE Z2HEN
EERK 8 G ERUEL
mEAEEN BARAEERE
1218 AIE 8= B E B R RR
B o & &= 20244 N 2023 3
RA3NBLEFE KAEEER
2T {7 e R B N R B VS
BERBEHMRRITEERR
WRIEHEEESE - 12024
FIANE DHERENTE
HA{= B &5 18 18 1# 28,000 78 7T
(20234 : 222,000 7T) * T8
HIEEBEXA024 (2023
& :1.80%) °

173



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 E(ZE 20243 A31 HIEFE

5.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

(iii)

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Pledged bank deposit/bank balances

Credit risk on pledged bank deposits and bank
balances are limited because the counterparties are
reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned by
credit agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL for
pledged bank deposits and bank balances by
reference to information relating to probability of
default and loss given default of the respective credit
rating grades published by external credit rating
agencies. Based on the average loss rates, the 12m
ECL on pledged bank deposits and bank balances are
considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss
allowance were recognised.

Liquidity risk

The Group is exposed to minimal liquidity risk as a
substantial portion of its financial assets and financial
liabilities are due within one year and it can finance its
operations from existing shareholders’ funds and
internally generated cash flows.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of bank balances and
cash deemed adequate by management to finance
the Group's operations and mitigate the effect of
fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors
current and expected liquidity requirements on a
regular basis.

5. 2RI A%
B EAREEEERBEE)

(b)

(i)

(iii)

EE R R RR ARG ()

EBFRITFRRITAER
EHEMRITERMIRITHELR
MEERRAR  RESYH
FHIREERFUEEEN
PRBETREETFIRNR
T AEEFHEEEMRRT
TFR N IRITHESRI 1218 A 18
HEEBRER 22FHmH
WMEEFRBBEIANEH
EEFRERNEORER
ERNBRENEN - ERF
BERX 2 EMRTER
NMARTT #1218 B FRHE
EFERIBR/YLTEKXR
I W R B 1R A o

RBESERE

AREBEAZHRBE T ER
i RERAKEDEBE
ENEBABHAN-FAE
H YAURBRERREE R
NHBARRERERERH
LERHKES -

EEERDESRART®E
AEEERVERFERER
RRHNRITE SR LIRS K
FoUARAEEERBEER
HES  WHERESRERK
FHTE - -EEETHESE
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

5. 2RI A%

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BEREKEEBFERBKE)
(Continued)
(iii)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (i) RBESEM (&)
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining TR ARE ./Hﬁ?#?ﬁi
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial LHRBEMNE NS
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The THIRIZ 9 7 & K Hﬁf’ﬁ%” ° —F
tables have been drawn up based on the KORSRABBENKRMERER
undiscounted cash flows of the financial liabilities ERERBAEEGETE
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be H AR FHARE - A
required to pay. Specifically, bank and other P AR E K E R R
borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are Eﬁfﬂﬁ&ﬁﬁﬂfﬁtﬁ AR E
included in the earliest time band regardless of the R - AR IRTTIERIZTT
probability of the banks choosing to exercise their EHRERNE AT RE 1 - A A IE
rights. The maturity dates for other non-derivative TTHESRBENIHE LR
financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment BHEERBEE -
dates.
The tables include both interest and principal cash TERBEBEMNEREAERER
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating B MAERERZEAN
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from = Jﬂiﬁﬁﬁﬁgﬁﬁiﬁ%%
interest rate at the end of the reporting period. REVFEETE
More than ~ More than
Weighted ~ Ondemand one year but two years but Total
average or within less than lessthan ~ More than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate oneyear  two years five years five years cash flow amount
miE EEX BB-F BBWF RERRE
THR= g-FR  EOREE EIREF BREE REAH REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$/000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TERT TET TERT TET TET TER
At 31 March 2024 R2024%3831R
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ F{T£ & BEE
Trade payables EC ) AN - 29,411 - - - 29,411 29,411
Accruals, other payables and [EAEBR  EERFER
deposits received Blizé - 4,500 - - - 4,500 4,500
Bank and other borrowings ROREMER 59 37,190 - - - 37,190 37,190
71,101 - - - 71,101 71,101

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-NFFH
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5.

176

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(Continued)

5. 2RI A%

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) BEREKEEBFERBKE)
(iii) Liquidity risk (Continued) (i) RBELEAR(E)
More than More than
Weighted ~ Ondemand  oneyearbut  two years but Total
average or within less than less than More than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year two years five years five years cash flow amount
g EEK BE—F BRmE FERRE
THH=E g—FR  EIRBE  BIREE BRRF nERE REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TET TET TAT TET TET TET
At 31 March 2023 R2023%53A318
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ F{T£&REE
Trade payables ZHERTE - 30,818 - - - 30,818 30,818
Accruals, other payables and [EAEBR  EERFER
deposits received Bl - 5,769 - - - 5,769 5,769
Bank and other borrowings RIREMER 53 45,589 - - - 45,589 45,589
82,176 - - - 82,176 82,176
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5.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

5. 2RI A%

Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) MKEKREEBZERBER(E)
(Continued)
(iii) Liquidity risk (Continued) (i) RBESEAR(E)
Bank and other borrowings with a repayment on M5 R Sk BB R e IRTT
demand clause are included in the “on demand or N E M8 FREF ALA EEI B
less than 1 month” time band in the above maturity e R ERF DN —EA ]
analysis. At 31 March 2024, the aggregate carrying FFER A o 2024 F 3 A 31
amounts of these bank and other borrowings H: ZERTREMBERE
amounted to HK$37,190,000 (2023: HK$45,589,000). AR B A37,190,000 % T
Taking into account the Group's financial position, the (20234 : 45,589,000 7T) °
directors do not believe that it is probable that the ZERINAEEF BN - &
banks/counterparties will exercise their discretionary ERBRIT/HFHHETA
rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors REEITHEENBEEZ AN
of the Company believe that such bank and other BR-ARREFZRE ' Z
borrowings will be repaid within nine years (2023: ten ERTREMEBERER RS
years) after the end of the reporting period in HR & L (20234 © +4F)
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set WIZ IR & S e Pk BV TR 5E
out in the borrowings agreements, details of which ERBHEER  FBEHERT
are set out in the table below: =
Maturity analysis — Bank and other borrowings with a PRI — B iR 2K 18R
repayment on demand clause based on scheduled R 8 RTT R B & 54 (B
repayments REN&TE])
More than More than
one year but  two years but Total
Within less than less than  More than undiscounted Carrying
one year two years five years  five years cash flow amount
BR-F BBmE RER
-FR  EORWE ELREFE RBBIF RERELH kAR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THR TR THET THT TR
At 31 March 2024 R202453A31H 22,573 7,080 5972 4,205 39,830 37,190
At 31 March 2023 R2023E3/31R 20,813 12,015 1,773 5322 49,923 45,589
(iv) Interest rate benchmark reform (iv) RREEHE

Several of the Group's HIBOR bank borrowings may
be subject to the interest rate benchmark reform. The
Group is closely monitoring the market and managing
the transition to new benchmark interest rates,
including announcements made by the relevant IBOR
regulators.

HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average
("HONIA") has been identified as an alternative to
HIBOR, there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The
multi-rate approach has been adopted in Hong Kong,
whereby HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist.

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-NFFH

REEETEBRITRZER
BARTT B A] BE X R I X
HEWS -AEETYESR
M5 - A E IR E A R
% BIEARRITREER
BEERPIEH A DM o

#R77 IR Z 772
BILREFER (B TR
BIFGER]) CBRIREL
RITARXRFKEBH TR F
iy I S 5t & 4R IE BB IRTTR
ERB - ZEFERBBR
B MABABBRITRAERS N
BILRR RS LE -
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5.

178

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial

liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring

basis

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are

determined as follows:

(i)

(ii)

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
with standard terms and conditions and traded in
active markets are determined with reference to
quoted market bid prices and ask prices respectively,
and

The fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities are determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models (e.g. discounted cash flow
analysis using observable and/or unobservable
inputs).

The Company uses the following hierarchy for determining

and disclosing the fair values of financial instruments:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liabilities,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices).

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived
from valuation techniques that include inputs for the
asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (unobservable inputs).

Fair value of the Group's financial assets are measured at

fair value on a recurring basis.

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 5. @I A®m
(c) Fair value measurements of financial instruments (¢ EMIAENAFEFEE)
(Continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial BEEMEELULAFETAENE
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring FEzHEERTHMEE L FHE
basis (Continued) (&)
Fair value at
RATBHMATE
Valuation Significant
Fair value techniques unobservable
Financial assets 31 March 2024 31 March 2023 hierarchy and key inputs inputs
20245 023F HERER FZFUEE
SREE 38318 3ANA AVESHR IEQAEN ZBABE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THR TR

Financial assets at FVTPL:
BATEGABRNEREAE

— Key management personnel life 5,449 5297 Level 2 Quoted redemption N/A
insurance policies F20 value by insurance TER
—FEEBABABRE company
YNGR
EOEE
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

(d)

180

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a
recurring basis

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets and
financial liabilities carried at amortised cost were not
materially different from their fair values at 31 March 2024
and 2023.

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising
the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the
debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged during the reporting period.

The capital structure of the Group consists of total
borrowings and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising share capital, reserves and retained
profits as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
regularly. The Group considers the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital, and balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends
and injection of capital.

The following is the gearing ratio at the end of each

5. 2RI A%

(c)

(d)

EMITENAFEFE @)

FEBEEEMBEEL R FETELN
FrEEEHEERTHBAEELF
]

AEESHMEERSRABKRES
55 X A B BR TE (B B R 2024 FF %
2023F3A3NAN AT ELES
RER -

EXmpER

AEBEHRHEHER  UIBEREE
ARERE RREBELER
MEREHRERESREKEER -

$%lm¥5ﬁWFﬁi%ﬁ¢
FFEAE o

BANER B
B E AR
AIEA ARG

K- HEERREEN -

MBRERAEE K&
EEBRBEREERR
EHhEER

ARBEEEHEMNEARRE -
AEBEEEBEERNKA R AR
BIEAREBRMER  X&EBIKMY
BERTEVFEERBENRE -

UTREREHNRNEEABL

reporting period: %
2024 2023
2024 % 2023 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHT
Total borrowings (Note (a)) KafE I (M5 @) 37,190 45,589
Total equity (Note (b)) Z-ﬁg/\(MTE b)) 91,697 101,254
Gearing ratio BEEAGL 40.6% 45.0%
Notes: B
(a) Total borrowings represent bank and other borrowings as set out in (a) 48 RIE M SR 29 P B SR 1T M EL b £
Note 29; and MR
(b) Total equity includes share capital and reserves at the end of each (b) BENDESREARORAE R HE -

reporting period.
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6. REVENUE Wz
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with REEFENNREDF
customers
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHx F
Type of goods mmEs
Sale of diesel oil and related products: & L2 m M AR E oo
Diesel oil LEH 284,891 420,041
Marine diesel oil M A4 m 3,714 8,553
Lubricant oil /8 1,375 1,346
Total et 289,980 429,940
Timing of revenue recognition s 25 e 52 B IR
A point in time K —rpfEE 289,980 429,940
Performance obligations for contracts with customers EFEHNBRERE

Details of performance obligations for contracts with customers

are set out in Note 3.

BRAEFAROMNENETNFEHIIN

FREE3

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-NFFH

181



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 E(ZE 20243 A31 HIEFE

7.

182

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The information reported to the directors, who are the chief
operating decision-makers, for the purpose of resource allocation
and assessment of performance does not contain discrete
operating segment financial information and the directors
reviewed the financial results of the Group as a whole. Accordingly,
only entity-wide disclosures, major customers and geographic
information are presented.

Geographical information

The Group's operations are located in Hong Kong during the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. The Group's revenue from
external customers based on the location of customers are
detailed below:

7 EER

BARARRERENMES (N
EREREE) EROER L ERES
SRS BB AER - AR BRER
S5 00 25 S W OB TS 4B - R - 2
SHERBERE TEESLEA
%o

2 & ¥

HE2024F K 2023F3A31HIEFE -
AEBMNEBFURES - AEEEEP
FrfE b 8] 55 2K B SRR % = By IR &5 R 1B 10
T~

Revenue from
external customers

REMREF WS
2024 2023
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT TET
Hong Kong BH 289,980 429,940

Information about the Group’s non-current assets is presented
based on the geographical location of the assets are detailed

AREBREEMAMEE D 25 HIER
PEEMHEBENFENT

below:
Non-current assets
FRBEE

2024 2023
2024 £ 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT
Hong Kong BB 25,602 32,592
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") REAREMBE([HE]) 17,831 17,819
43,433 50,411

Non-current assets excluded financial assets at FVTPL.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 B(ZE 2024331 HIEFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 7.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of both years contributing over 10% of
the total revenue of the Group are as follows:

DEER (&)
ERXEEEHNES

REZMEFE EFERMGEASERK
BB 10% I

2024 2023

2024 % 2023 4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

F&ET AT

Customer A' BEEA N/A R & A 2 95,733
Notes: N

Revenue from sale of diesel oil and related products in Hong Kong.

2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total revenue
of the Group.

T RAEBRE O RARRIE B -

2 AR M e I S AR R B AR R ER 10% A L o

8. OTHER INCOME 8. HbW A

2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 4F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FExT FATT
Bank interest income |RITH B A 54 1
Transportation services fee BWRBE 3,464 3,504
Rental income from diesel vehicle RELSHENES WA 1,060 2,776
Rental income from investment property R B8 &Y EMHHE S IA 444 556
Government grants (Note) BT B (B 3E) 219 562
Sundry income FHIEBA 253 246
5,494 7,655

Note: st -

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised government grants of
HK$529,000 in respect of Covid-19 related subsidy which is related to the
Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund provided by the Hong
Kong government.

There were no unfulfilled conditions and other contingencies attached to these
government grants.

HE202F3ANALULEFE  ARERBAEEE
R B LT IR 55 B 4 B R 2 BT 4 B) 529,000
B HEFEBRMEIRREES | THREZ R
MEIFBIEAR -

A% S R ) B 0 S s A (] SR P A A 1 S L B
RAME-

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-NFFH 183
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 E(ZE 20243 A31 HIEFE

9. OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES

9. HKWHEHEE

2024 2023
2024 2023 %F
HK$/000 HK$/000
FHERT FETT
Unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets at ZAFEFTABZHNSREE
FVTPL REH W (BR) 152 (648)
Loss arising on change in fair value of KEMERTEEHEENEE
investment property (4,800) (600)
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - KEREZBEH S
plant and equipment 5 350
Gain on extinguishment of BEEHAMERRE
other borrowing - 3,718
Exchange loss b 5 & 18 (624) (986)
(5,267) 1,834
10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BE R A
2024 2023
2024 % 2023 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Interest expenses on bank borrowings RITEFRE N B 1,123 617
Interest expenses on other borrowings HAitn fE R A EF X 1,024 2,198
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEBBNFERX = 1
2,147 2,816
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11.

12.

LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 11. R AIE 1B
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 %
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Loss before taxation has been RBATEEC R
arrived at after charging/(crediting): (Bt N) FHIEE :
Directors’ emoluments (Note 13) FBEHM(FF5E13) 3,307 3,404
Other staff costs: HihB TR :
— Salaries and other benefits —HE REMER 7,399 6,419
— Retirement benefits scheme — RIKEFET B
contributions 287 262
7,686 6,681
Auditors’ remuneration % B4 A & B
— Audit services — ZER 600 650
— Non-audit services — FERZEURTE - 94
600 744
Cost of inventories sold BEFEKRA 265,315 400,627
Depreciation of property, plant and M - BB KR EITE (MEE17)
equipment (Note 17)
— Cost of sales — HERMAK 2,097 2,084
— Administrative expenses —TEHAX 68 208
2,165 2,292
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE (M:E18)
(Note 18) - 64
Allowance for ECL on financial assets, cRMEEBHREEEHBREE
net R
— Trade receivables — B 5l FIE 2,908 3,219
— Deposits and other receivables — Re M HMEWIR (93) (77)
— Amount due from an associate — FEU — B N B F0E (194) (12)
2,621 3,130
Expenses relating to short-term leases G EAH E AR XX 3,806 961
INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES 12. FiBBL(ER) X
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FABTT
Deferred tax (Note 30) IRAERR I8 (P 5E 30) (213) 929
Feb% () EEBRAR/ S ZMFEFH 185
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 E(ZE 20243 A31 HIEFE

12. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSES (Continued) 12.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of assessable profits of
qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable
profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. Hong Kong
Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated assessable
profit for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the
year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 as the Group has no
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong or taxable profits were
wholly absorbed by estimated tax losses brought forward.

The income tax (credit)/expenses for the year can be reconciled
to the loss before taxation per the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

Frig®tl (%) Bx®

RIEE 78 N 1S 1 8 /R AR B RS 35 R
B AERSEEEBNE2EEATLE
AR g A G 12 8.25% By B R ELEL - T 2
BEETTIA LB ER S N AR 16.5%
MR RE - BN G R R M EFE A
AHERBAE165%E -

AR AEEMERNE B EEERT G T
NZEEF R E 2 BGT AEBIEET R
IH 18 - WO & 5t 8 = 2024 FF 12 2023
FIANBLUEFEZHBNEHEL B
1 -

FAMEH (ER), FXEGaERER
Hoh 22 [ R 2R P51 O BR A A B 18 AT 8
BRI

2024 2023
2024 2023 4F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THExT T
Loss before taxation MR AT S 18 (8,861) (3,908)
Tax at domestic income tax rates REMAEHEFENTHIE (1,462) (645)
Tax effect of income not taxable for HERRBWAN R B ZE
tax purpose (28) (87)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for AT AT T KT E
tax purpose 863 607
Tax effect of share of results of DIEEE R R EEN R
an associate (152) (2071)
Tax effect of deductible temporary RER ARG R EELY
differences not recognised ks 497 561
Utilisation of deductible temporary AR E L AR
differences previously not recognised AT e =R (47) (14)
Tax effect of the tax losses not recognised RIERIHIBE BN KT E 721 708
Utilisation of tax losses previously not B AR AR RN E R
recognised (605) -
Income tax (credit)/expenses for the year FRFTEH (k) Fk (213) 929
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13. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS
For the year ended 31 March 2024

13. EEEH
BZE2024F3H31BLEEE

Retirement
Salaries benefits
Directors' and other Discretionary scheme
fees benefits bonuses contributions Total
HeR RKFEF
Eshe Hit g A (SRR BE a3 Azt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Fong Chun Man FEXRE - 799 - 18 817
Ms. Lo Pui Yee &Rt - 799 - 18 817
Mr. Chan Chi Fai, chief executive officer ~ [RERBEA
(1TH %) - 1,038 257 18 1,313
Independent non-executive directors ~ BUFHTEES
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert EECEE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap BBvEsE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Wang Anyuan FRTEE 120 - - - 120
360 2,636 257 54 3,307
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BZE2023F3A31MBLEFEE
Retirement
Salaries benefits
Directors' and other  Discretionary scheme
fees benefits bonuses  contributions Total
HERk RIAEF
ik Hi g A [y FTEIHH Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT THT
Executive directors HTES
Mr. Fong Chun Man FEXgE - 726 180 18 924
Ms. Lo Pui Yee BRELL - 726 180 18 924
Mr. Chan Chi Fai, chief executive officer ~ RERBEA
(1TH %) - 944 234 18 1,196
Independent non-executive directors ~ BUFHTEES
Mr. Chui Chi Yun, Robert EECEE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Kwong Yuk Lap BBy EE 120 = - - 120
Mr. Wang Anyuan FRTEE 120 - - - 120
360 2,396 594 54 3,404

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-NFFH
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13.

14.

188

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The executive directors’ and the chief executive officer’s
emoluments shown above were mainly for their service in
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company
and the Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were mainly for their services as directors.

The executive directors and the chief executive officer of the
Company are entitled to bonus payments which are determined
based on their duties and responsibilities in the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, there was no
arrangement under which a director or the chief executive officer
of the Company waived or agreed to waive any remuneration.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, no emoluments have been
paid by the Group to any of the directors or the chief executive
officer as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group as
compensation for loss of office (2023: Nil).

EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid individuals included three (2023: three)
executive directors of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2024, details of whose emoluments are set out above in Note 13.
The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the remaining
two (2023: two) highest paid employees who are neither a
director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

13.

14.

EEHM )

A EPIRITE 5 AT BB A B 3 BN =
BESBRFREEARARASEER
BRARIRT

EXFARELGFRAITEENHFMEER
BEERESRERBGHFTMH

RRABRATEZRITREREEZAIL
A DIRBRERASEZBHLET
BE -

HZE2024F K 2023FE3 A3 BILFE -
WEANBEERITRERREXRE
WEIABE 2 25 -

HE2024F3A3MBILFE  AEBH
ESTNEAHINFERNESRITHRE
o EAMAKR AR E B E K EE)
SVEBBER M E (20234 - #&) -

ﬁﬁﬁﬂ&%ﬁ%ﬁkﬁﬁ

HE2024F3ANBIUEFEE AEES
FMALTBRERQAR =4 (2023F : =
B)HTEE BEAFTHFBEERN LX
BIZE13 c A TR (20234F : WG ) fe i
FES GEARBEFHEZITHA
B) M EED T

2024 2023

2024 £ 2023 £

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET AT

Salaries and other benefits e hEMET 1,639 1,388
Retirement benefits scheme contributions iR RAE R 5T 2L =X 36 36
1,675 1,424
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14. EMPLOYEES EMOLUMENTS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The number of non-director highest paid employees whose
emoluments fell within the following bands is as follows:

14.

BEFHMRSREEAES
M ()

HEFEMENATEEANFFEERSH
BifE & AZanT

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A8 A

Nil to HK$1,000,000 = 2 1,000,000 7T 2 2

The number of the senior management (excluding directors)

HHFWENATHREANSREEAR

whose emoluments fell within the following bands is as follows: (MEEES) ABIAT :
Number of Number of
individual individual
A AH
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = % 1,000,000 7T 1 1

None of the above highest-paid individuals waived or agreed to
waive any emoluments during the year ended 31 March 2024
(2023: Nil).

During the year ended 31 March 2024, no emoluments have been
paid by the Group to any of the above highest-paid individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group as
compensation for loss of office (2023: Nil).

15. DIVIDENDS

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

15.

BE LIRS HEENEE202453A
31 B 1L 2 R E o R B 3R (1] 5 B
(2023 : &)

HE2024F3A3MBILFE  AEBH
EINENENTERNLELAESHE
8 fEAMASR AR £ B 1% &) 52E)
e B BERL (8 (20234 « ) -

Bﬁ /%\

HE2024F3A83MBIEFE EELT
BRI RS (2023F « &) ©
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16. LOSS PER SHARE 16. BREBE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share RRRHEEARLMERERNREFER
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the following THRA TR E -
data:
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FET
Loss Fi]
Loss for the year attributable to owners of Bt E &R E AR L HE B
the Company for the purposes of mE  AREEEB A
basic and diluted loss per share JEIEF A E B (8,648) (4,837)
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
‘000 ‘000
T IR TAX
Number of shares RO E
Weighted average number of ordinary HAFEBRERR
shares in issue for the purposes of BEEEmMES -
basic and diluted loss per share BT mRAINETHE 137,520 122,053

Diluted loss per share for both years were the same as the basic
loss per share as there was no potential ordinary shares in issue
for both years.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose
of basic and diluted loss per share for the year ended 31 March
2023 have been adjusted for the share consolidation effective on
29 June 2022 and the rights issue effective on 15 September
2022.
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. Y% - MERKE

Leasehold Motor Office
improvement  Oil barges vehicles  equipment Total
BEMREL SmB N RE BARE A5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THR TR TR THR THR
Cost A
At 1 April 2022 RA2F4A1H 662 8,500 9,940 47 19,149
Additions RE - 9,500 352 - 9,852
Disposal e - - (1,130 - (1,130
Transfer from right-of-use assets ERBRAEEE - - 1275 - 1275
At 31 March 2023 and RABE3A31A
1 April 2023 R2023%F4A1H 662 18,000 10,437 47 29,146
Disposal e - - (169) - (169)
At 31 March 2024 1M2024%3A31R 662 18,000 10,268 47 28,977
Accumulated depreciation: ZiHE:
At 1 April 2022 RA2F4A1H 662 3,683 9,647 3% 14,027
Charge for the year FRTH - 1,713 575 4 2292
Eliminated on disposal R EE - - (1,130) - (1,130)
Transfer from right-of-use assets EVARAREE - - 765 - 765
At 31 March 2023 and RA3F3A31A
1 April 2023 R2023F4A1H 662 5,39 9,857 39 15,954
Charge for the year ER - 1,800 361 4 2,165
Eliminated on disposal RSB - - (144) - (144)
At 31 March 2024 R2024%3A31R 662 7,196 10,074 43 17,975
Carrying amount: REE:
At 31 March 2024 12024%3A31R - 10,804 194 4 11,002
At 31 March 2023 R2023F3A31H - 12,604 580 8 13192

At 31 March 2024, the Group's oil barges with carrying amounts
of HK$10,804,000 (2023: HK$12,604,000) were pledged to secure
the Group's other borrowings.

At 31 March 2024, the Group’s motor vehicles with carrying
amount of HK$194,000 (2023: HK$491,000) were pledged to

secure the Group's bank borrowings.

MR2024F3A831H  AEBRKREES
10,804,000 % 7T, (2023 4E : 12,604,000) &9

EBMEERA  URBARENHE

L & 3K

MR2024F3A831H AEBKEES
194,000 7 7T (20234 : 491,000 7T) &)

MEBEEEER UBUSAEENRITE

=+
e

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-NFFH
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18. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 18. FHAREEE
Motor
vehicle
_E
HK$'000
FET
Cost A
At 1 April 2022 M2022%F4 A1 H 1,275
Transfer to property, plant and equipment B £ « H/FE K& B (1,275)
At 31 March 2023 20233 H31H -
Accumulated depreciation ZiH I E
At 1 April 2022 M202294 A1 H 701
Charge for the year FAZH 64
Transfer to property, plant and equipment BB E¥% - liFE K& #E (765)
At 31 March 2023 M 202343 A31H -
Carrying amounts IREE
At 31 March 2023 MR2023F3 A31H -
2024 2023
2024 F 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FETT
Expense relating to short-term leases EREHEENHX 3,806 961
Total cash outflow for leases HEMBR & RLAE 3,806 1,130
The Group has the option to purchase the right-of-use assets for AEERAHERRAEZENEEREES
a nominal amount at the end of the lease terms. During the year FREEE -HZE2023F3A831HIEF
ended 31 March 2023, the Group exercised the purchase option E AEERAHERETEARERE
of a motor vehicle upon the end of its lease term. Accordingly, EEE AN REXNARERFITED
the cost and accumulated depreciation of the motor vehicle 711,275,000 7% 7T F2 765,000 7T 2 8
amounting to HK$1,275,000 and HK$765,000 respectively were EYE - BB MR-

transferred to property, plant and equipment.
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19. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

19. REYHE

2024 2023
2024 % 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT
Fair value AEE
At 1 April R4A81H 19,400 20,000
Loss arising on change in fair value RERERNATFEEHESLD
recognised in profit or loss B8 (4,800) (600)
At 31 March M3 A31H 14,600 19,400
Unrealised loss on change in fair value of & EWMEAFEZSHELEDN
investment property REIREE (4,800) (600)

The Group's investment property has been pledged to secure
the Group's borrowings.

Fair value measurement

The Group's investment property was measured at fair value at
31 March 2024 and 2023. The valuation was carried out by an
independent qualified professional valuer, International Valuation
Limited (“IVL") which has among its staff members with
appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the locations
and categories of property being valued. The directors have
discussion with IVL on the valuation assumptions and valuation
results when the valuation was performed at the end of each
reporting period.

In estimating the fair value of the investment property, the
highest and best use of the investment property is their current
use.

AEENREYMERSHEER  UBER
SEAEBR -

AFEFE

NS E HY IR E W 2024 FF 1 2023 F 3
B3 BRAFEANE - HEIEBYA
EREEGEMBRETIHBERAR ([HE
DT BFNEEAGBEEERK
W EMEREM I R E R A T HE
B oEBRCRESREGRETHAERSE
Bl mbERE R HEER -

W REMEN D FER  REWE
MEREk&xEREAEARAR -
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19. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued) 19.

194

Fair value measurement (Continued)

Fair value measurement of the Group’s investment property
located in Hong Kong is categorised into Level 3 fair value
hierarchy. Valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value

measurement are as follow:

BEWE®)

DNPEFEE)

AEBURFBNREMEN R FER
EESBREIBPLFESEH A FE
ATEMMAREERM B AZENT

Valuation Relation of significant unobservable
techniques Significant unobservable input inputs to fair value
EXTUEERAYER
fEER EXTUEERAYE AVFENBE
Commercial property Income Capitalisation rate, taking into account the A slight increase in the capitalisation rate

located in Hong Kong

WENEEEESYES

capitalisation
method
WAER %

capitalisation of rental income potential,
nature of the property, and prevailing
market condition, of 3.3% (2023: 2.7%).
AREREESRAED DERERER
TR B EE33%(2023F : 2.7%) ¢

Monthly market rent, taking into account the
differences in location, and individual
factors such as location, floor level,
building age, size and conditions of the
properties, at an average of HK$34 (2023:
HK$36) per square foot.

EEIUEEEN RIS BE B K
INEMERREERE R - 8 ATHHE
ERTFHEFHRRUET(2023F : 36
B .
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used would result in a significant
decrease in fair value, and vice versa.

FEANER L EBEEMEER A TE
KIETFE - RZIRA o

A'significant increase in the monthly
market rent used would result in a
significant increase in fair value, and
vice versa.

MEANEAMSHE NEEMEERA
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20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 20. REE QRIS
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH5 FBT
Cost of investment in an associate & — L DA A 18,507 18,507
Share of post-acquisition loss and other DG UIER BB K Hth 2 EEE
comprehensive loss (682) (694)
Exchange alignment D 5 38 B 6 6
17,831 17,819
Details of the Group's associate at the end of the reporting REERBEHAROEE RGBT
period are as follows:
Proportion of
ownership interest
Place of Principal place of  and voting power
Name of entity incorporation  business held by the Group Principal activities
AEERANFEREER
BEREH AR FTEEXBE REBERELDH TEXH
2024 2023
20245  2023%F
Jiangxi Xinji Power Technology The PRC The PRC 19.70% 19.70%  Manufacturing, sale and
Company Limited* H h distribution of steel products

("Jiangxi Xinji")
IRHESNRRARRA
(MIEHE])

*  For identification purposes only

MERRE  BERDH

* EHBT

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-NFFH

195



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 E(ZE 20243 A31 HIEFE

20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 20. RE¢&E RN a2
Summarised financial information of material associate EABEATNMEERBE
Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's BRI B E K A F 8B A BT
material associate is set out below. The summarised financial ZHINWMT - TIMBEERBE BBIE
information below represents amounts shown in the associate’ BB E SRR R N R B R
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs. KITTRERE o
Jiangxi Xinji IHHE

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

HK$’'000 HK$'000

TET T

Non-current assets ERBEE 72,902 74,415

Current assets mMENEE 48,005 52,973

Current liabilities mBAE (30,396) (36,936)

Non-current liabilities ERBAE - -

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHET

Revenue for the years FRE 267,325 318,972

Profit for the years F N A 4,673 6,176

Other comprehensive loss for the years FNHMEZHEEE (4,614) (6,701)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FAZEERKE(ER)

for the years 59 (525)
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20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to

the carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised in

REE QX R R RS 8)

L BA TS E R B B AR A B IS R P R
REVIOHE = A AR A A AR T (B 2 A1 A

20.

the consolidated financial statements: AR -
2024 2023
2024 2023 %F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Net assets of Jiangxi Xinji APEFERNFEE 90,511 90,452
Proportion of the Group's ownership REBEMNIEFERN
interest in Jiangxi Xinji PR 7B et an tL 17 19.7% 19.7%
The Group's share of net assets of REBSIEIAMER
Jiangxi Xinji FEE 17,831 17,819
Carrying amount of the Group's REERIFAMERD
interest in Jiangxi Xinji e n RE(E 17,831 17,819
21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 21.

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

%Q$Eﬁlﬁ§m$ﬂﬁ

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THET FET

Key management personnel life insurance ZEREABASRE
policy 5,449 5,297

Analysed for reporting purposes as: RERBBONA
Non-current IERE 5,449 5,297
Fe (ER) KEARAAF / —T_MFFR 197
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21.

22.

198

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

The Group entered into life insurance policies with insurance
companies to insure against the death and permanent disability
of executive director. Under the policy, the beneficiary and policy
holder are the Company, Great Wall (International) Oil Limited, a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and the total insured
sum is approximately US$3,150,000 (2023: US$3,150,000)
(equivalent to HK$24,570,000 (2023: HK$24,570,000)). The
contracts will be terminated on the occurrence of the earliest of
the death of the key management personnel insured or other
terms pursuant to the contracts. The total insurance premium
paid at the inception of the policy was approximately US$768,000
(2023: US$768,000) (equivalent to approximately HK$5,990,000
(2023: HK$5,990,000)). The total initial premium charge paid was
approximately US$38,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$309,000). The Group may request a surrender of the contracts
at any time and receive cash back based on the cash value at the
date of withdrawal, which is determined by the gross premium
paid at inception plus accumulated guaranteed interest earned
and minus insurance premium charged. A guaranteed interest
rate for the first five years ranges from 4.10% to 4.25% per annum
applied to the contracts, followed by the a minimum guaranteed
interest rate of 2% per annum for the following years until
termination. The fair value is based on redemption value quoted
by the insurance companies.

21.

BEATEIFTAEZNERE
E )

AEBRRBABIRE—MHASRE
MAITEE T MK ABRIGR - BIE
RE - ZHARREFBEARLER T
EARBZ2EHRBRARER (BE) A
MABR QR BIRREL A3,150,000
%t (20234 : 3,150,000 7¢) (A& R
24,570,000/ JT (2023 4 : 24,570,000 7%
L)) c BRI RNEEEEEAS
G RIBEANEMERAEM T
AV IE (AR EBEBERAE) - NRE
FBRE MR EBRELD A768,000
%77 (20234 : 768,000k 7T) (A E R
#95,990,0007% 7T (2023 4F : 5,990,000 7
L)) cENMYVIBRREERAEOE
38,0003 7T (#8 & 7 £9309,000 % 7T) °
AEBTEER SRR - WARKEERRA
RS EERLDRS  SEEERERN
MEREZHRESEMEHRIANR
ETRFBFEBRAIIBRAREET - AR
BHNERAFREFEFTHNENT410EE
425[F - HBEFRAUAZRERFEF X
2B EERIEAL - AFERREBA
AIFTRELEETE -

INVENTORIES 22. &
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Finished goods P 1,260 403
All inventories were stated at the lower of cost and net realisable B F &R AN B ] #3858 2 RK
value. EYER o
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES

23. BEZEWFE

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Trade receivables g 5 W FIE 102,975 92,323
Less: allowance for ECL, net B TBEEEEIEREFE (18,764) (16,509)
84,211 75,814
(a) Ageing analysis (@) FRERD

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables

presented based on the invoice date at the end of the

reporting periods:

ATRRBERAREERAYZ
SN E 5 EUGRIARR B 0 AT

2024 2023

2024 F 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Within 30 days 30HA 27,749 27,386
31 to 60 days 31260H 12,702 20,908
61 to 90 days 61290H 14,313 9,480
91 to 120 days 912 120H 10,174 8,233
121 to 150 days 1212150 H 7,218 4,418
Over 150 days B 150 H 30,819 21,898
102,975 92,323

The Group's average credit term with its customers is, in

general, 3 days to 150 days. The Group seeks to maintain

strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue

balances are reviewed regularly by senior management.

(b) ECL assessment on trade receivables (b)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, allowance for ECL
on trade receivables of approximately HK$2,908,000 was
recognised to profit or loss (2023: HK$3,219,000).

Details of ECL assessment on trade receivables are set out

in Note 5(b).

AEEREZEFPHFHEEY—
MRAIBE150H - AEBEHHH
1) AR U2 (2] ) R WK TR s R AR AR
HeomERbaREEEEH
3

BEZERWURENEREEEE
Ak
HE2024F3831BIEFEE ¥
SEWFENEREESERE
#92,908,000 7 JT 1A 18 2= 1 1 3R
(20234 : 3,219,000/ 7T) °

ERESRUFENEREEES
B S IBE R ES(Db) ©
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24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

24. ENRE  REREMERRK

RECEIVABLES b |
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 %
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&T AT
Deposits, net of allowance for ECL Re (HIREREEEERE)

(Note (i) (PR #E ) 957 957
Prepayments TET 5RIE 221 590
Other receivables, net of allowance H b fE U FRIE (0B 78 BR

for ECL (Note (ii)) =S EERE) (TR 0) 39 4,443

1,217 5,990
Analysed for reporting purposes as: HEBMEHIMNA
Current ik 1,217 5,990
Notes: B 5
(i) Deposits mainly represent rental deposits and utility deposits. (i) e EREESES RARBEIZS

At 31 March 2024, an accumulated allowance for ECL on deposits of
approximately HK$17,000 was recognised (2023: HK$17,000).

(i) Included in other receivables at 31 March 2023 was consideration receivable
from disposal of Meijia Shell Group of HK$4,500,000, net of accumulated

allowance for ECL of approximately HK$93,000.

At 31 March 2024, an accumulated allowance for ECL on other receivables of
approximately HK$3,650,000 was recognised (2023: HK$3,743,000).

Details of ECL assessment on deposits and other receivables are

set out in Note 5(b).

200 F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MR2024F3A31H EERZESTEHREER
18 2 5 4917,0007% JT (2023 4F : 17,000
BIT) °

(i) 7202343 A 31 B & E fth fE U R IB B HE H
£ 55 5% 5% 5 B /9 JE UK X /B 4,500,000 7% 7T
MR TEEEEE B 25 EE 493,000 T ©

20243 A31 8 BRERE M EIKER
T8 B 5 BB 18 2 51 B 5 49 3,650,000 7% 7T
(20234 : 3,743,000 7T) ©

Be kEMREFIENEREEBEF
BN EESb)
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25.

26.

AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE

Amount due from an associate is unsecured, non-interest

bearing, and repayable on demand.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, a reversal of allowance for
ECL on amount due from an associate of approximately
HK$194,000 was recognised to profit or loss (2023: HK$12,000).

Details of ECL assessment on amount due from an associate are
set out in Note 5(b).

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND BANK
BALANCES

25.

26.

PEW B & N R FTR
P M B

w
=
REREE

Iy

ARIBREET - R ERA

i

HE2024F3A3MHILEFE  EWEHE
AEFENEREEBERZERERLY
194,000/ 7T (20234 : 12,0007 7T) TY
RIBEm R ©

JE Wi & 1 B SRR R SR HME B B R AT
FHIBEN M EES() °

%gﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ/ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁ

2024 2023

2024 F 2023 4

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FET FATT

Pledged bank deposits EEFRITIER 6,122 6,087
Cash and bank balances Re RIBT1THH 10,452 28,557
16,574 34,644

At 31 March 2024, the Group’s cash and bank balances
denominated in RMB was RMB8,000 (2023: RMB8,000) (equivalent
to HK$8,000 (2023: HK$9,000)). RMB is not a freely convertible
currency in the PRC and the remittance of funds out of the PRC is
subject to the foreign exchange control promulgated imposed
by the government of the PRC. The Group's cash and bank
balances denominated in RMB which located in Hong Kong are
not subject to the foreign exchange control.

Cash and bank balances comprise cash at bank and cash on hand
held by the Group. Bank balances earn interests at floating rate
based on daily bank deposit rates and is placed with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default.

The pledged bank deposits were pledged as collateral for bank
facilities and carried interest at a range of 0.25% to 1.00% (2023:
range of 0.25% to 1.00%) per annum.

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-NFFH

PR2024F3 318 KEBEUARES
BEmRe RR1TEH A ARKES0007T
(20234 : AR¥8,0007T) (FHE 7 8,000
75 7T (20234 : 9,000 7T)) - AR
FEIFATERLENER  BEDE
o A B 7B B ST P BT AR A B ONE B
Bl e REBUAREFTENRS RIEIT
BERURES  TZINEEFHIRR -

R MRTHERKRERBTERRAEE
FENFHERS - RITERLE AR
TSN R A F M R BREA S - 7R
HU B NRC 8k B 5B RIFAVERTT o

BEEFRTERWEBAETRE
MIEHR WAFFMENTF02E=
1.00/2 (20234 : N F0.25E = 1.00/E)
§+/%\ °
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27. TRADE PAYABLES 27. ESERRIE
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
HK$/000 HK$/000
THET FET
Trade payables B 5 BN I8 29,411 30,818
The average credit term from suppliers is up to 3 to 90 days. The HERG TN THEEER&RZ R/R3IEN
following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented based He AT RRHRERARZREZAHZ
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting periods: BE ZEMNFIBRER D
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET
Within 30 days 30BA 11,389 11,282
31 to 60 days 312 60H 6,604 7,980
61 to 90 days 61290H 3,286 3,519
Over 90 days #8390 A 8,132 8,037
29,411 30,818
28. ACCRUALS, OTHER PAYABLES AND 28. BotER - HWEARERE
DEPOSITS RECEIVED Wi &
2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THExT FHETT
Accruals FEETE A 1,849 3,349
Other payables H fth JE AT K1 900 564
Amount due to a director E—Z%EE0E 1,622 1,622
Deposits received B¢ 129 124
Rental deposit received EWHEeES = 110
4,500 5,769

202

Amount due to a director is unsecured, non-interest bearing, and
repayable on demand.
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29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

29. SRITREMER

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Secured bank borrowings (Note (i)) B IRITE R (I FEG) 26,840 28,630
Secured other borrowings (Note (ii)) B4 48 E At 8 20 (B 5 (i) 10,350 16,959
37,190 45,589
Carrying amount repayable: FEERNRMEE :

On demand or within one year and REXRILRBBEMTS

shown under current liabilities R—FRNEE 37,190 45,589

Notes:

(i)

Invoice discounting facilities of HK$10,506,000 (2023: HK$7,875,000) are
interest bearing at 1.5% per annum above HIBOR for a period equal in
length to the loan period, secured by investment property and pledged
bank deposits of the Group, guaranteed by the Company and maturing
within four months. At 31 March 2024, the effective interest rate of the
invoice discounting facilities ranged from 6.18% to 6.85% (2023: 5.22% to
5.70%) per annum.

Term loan of HK$7,125,000 (2023: HK$9,500,000) is interest bearing at 1.5%
per annum above 1-month HIBOR, secured by investment property and
pledged bank deposits of the Group, guaranteed by the Company and
maturing in February 2027. At 31 March 2024, the effective interest rate of
the term loan was 5.98% (2023: 4.67%) per annum.

Term loan of HK$8,645,000 (2023: HK$9,000,000) is interest bearing at 3.63%
(2023: 3.38%) per annum, guaranteed by the HKMC Insurance Limited and
Mr. Fong Chun Man and maturing in October 2032.

Installment loans of HK$518,000 (2023: HK$2,029,000) are interest bearing at
2.25% per annum, guaranteed by Mr. Fong Chun Man, secured by motor
vehicles of the Group and maturing in July 2024.

Installment loan of HK$46,000 (2023: HK$226,000) is interest bearing at 2.00%
per annum, guaranteed by Mr. Fong Chun Man, secured by motor vehicle of
the Group and maturing in June 2024.

Installment loan of HK$4,594,000 (2023: HK$6,965,000) is interest bearing at
1% per annum above HK$ prime rate as determined by the lender,
guaranteed by the Company, Mr. Fong Chun Man and HKMC Insurance
Limited and maturing in December 2025. At 31 March 2024, the effective
interest rate of the installment loan was 7.38% (2023: 7.13%) per annum.

Installment loans of HK$5,756,000 (2023: HK$9,994,000) are interest bearing
at 1% per annum above HK$ prime rate as determined by the lender,
guaranteed by a subsidiary of the Company, secured by oil barges of the
Group and maturing in June 2025. At 31 March 2024, the effective interest
rate of the installment loan was 7.38% (2023: 7.13%) per annum.

B EE -

(ii)

2% Z 810 B & 10,506,00078 7T (2023 4 -
7,875,000 7T ) 1% & 7 1R 1T [ 2 47 8 10 4F F)
EIS5EF S FHEERPAET  UAE
B EMERDEBRITERERR AL
ANAEER  RIUEANEHE - BR2024F3 A
A BRUBRBENERFHENT6.18
[EZE6.85[E (20234 : 5.22[EZE570[F) ©

TE BAE 57,125,000 % 7T (2023 4F : 9,500,000
L) i — 8 A BB RIT R ER B NEFIR
15EFE UAKEREMERDIEFR
TERERIF - AARREER - 102027 F2
FEH - R202453A310  THERNE
PREFFIFH5.98 2 (20234 : 4.67F) °

T #E 3X.8,645,000 7% 7T (2023 £F : 9,000,000
B IT) IR F FIE363E (20234 : 3.38[F) &F
B ABBRBRBABRARRAENEE
ER - 2032510 ABIHE -

5 Hi B 5£518,000/% 7T (2023 4F : 2,029,000
FBIL) IRERK225E B A B L
VERER - WA B TR ER I - 42024
F7ABIH -

2 BAE 5K 46,0004 7T (2023 £ © 226,000 7T)
REME200EHE - AHEEEER
WA EE R TBIEER - R2024F 6 AE|
Hi o

7 HA B 3K4,594,000% 7T (2023 4 : 6,965,000
BIL)IRERABENBTRERFRMNE
ME1EFS  AARA - HEXEERSE
BEERBERRQAEER  R20254F12
FEIH - 2024538310 DHERNE
PREFFIF 77382 (20234 : 713[F) °

o BB 3K 495,756,000 T (2023 4F -
9,994,000 7T) HRERABEN B THRER
FEMNEFK1VEFE  BAAA B
RREAR + T LA A S B 70 S B (4K 480 -
R20254F 6 A B HA - 20243 A31H + &
HERNEBRFFEA7.38E (20234F : 7.13
E) -

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-NFFH 203



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 E(ZE 20243 A31 HIEFE

30. DEFERRED TAX (ASSETS)/LIABILITIES 30. IEERIR (BE) BE
The followings are the major deferred tax balances recognised LA & 7R 8 E 2024 FF K 2023 3 A 31
and movements thereon during the years ended 31 March 2024 HIEFEHRNFERETIBLERLE
and 2023: o

Accelerated

Allowance tax
for ECL depreciation Total
RHEE

BERE MERBRE @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FTET FET FET

At 1 April 2022 R2022F4A18 (159) 468 309
Charged to profit or loss kR EE 159 770 929
As at 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 20233 A31 B K% 2023F 4 A1H - 1,238 1,238
Credited to profit or loss FAER - (213) (213)

At 31 March 2024 M2024%3A31H - 1,025 1,025
At 31 March 2024, the Group has unused tax losses of 202453 A31H  REBERDAM
approximately HK$45,055,000 (2023: HK$44,351,000) available for TH JE5 18 #9 45,055,000 7T (2023 4F -
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been 44,351,00078 7T) AT fH 5 85 K 2 g A1 © i
recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. PR TEOR R OB MR - 8 SRR
The tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely. RIETHIRE A - BHiIA B 18 I IR BAE o -
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31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. &
Number of
Share HK$'000
BHEE THET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each EREME0.1%8T (2023 F :
(2023: HK$0.01 each) EREE00 BT NEER
Authorised: EIE
At 1 April 2022 R2022F 4 A1H 2,000,000,000 20,000
Share consolidation (Note (i) 1n & 0F (&) (1,800,000,000) -
At 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 and A 20233 H31H 2023 F
31 March 2024 481HK2024%3H31H 200,000,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHE:
At 1 April 2022 R2022F 4 A1H 1,008,000,000 10,080
Share consolidation (Note (i) R 15 & GF (B 5 ) (307,200,000) -
Issue of shares by way of rights issue VAR AR =088 1T AR 1
(Note (ii) (B 3% (i) 36,720,190 3,672
At 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 and A2023F3H31H - 2023F
31 March 2024 4H81HK%202453A31H 137,520,190 13,752

Notes:

Wi

(i) On 29 June 2022, the Company completed share consolidation which (i)

involves the consolidation of every ten issued and unissued existing shares

of the Company of HK$0.01 each into one consolidated share of the

Company of HK$0.1 each.

(ii) On 15 September 2022, the Company completed an allotment and issue of (ii)

ordinary shares of the Company pursuant to the rights issue on the basis of

one rights share for every two existing shares of the Company. Details of the

rights issue are disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 23 August

2022.

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-NFFH

MR2022F 6 298 « AR RTEHRED A G
ERSRETTREREECN BATHAA
ABBRATRABITRERGEHAE RS
BEE{EO. 1B TLH AR A A A Bk -

R202259 158 » ARBREFEMBEA
REBA B 1B — PR A ) m B AR
TTHBER AL REIT AR B EBA -
ABERENARAH#R2022948 A23R

BB ER -
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 32. AR TR TR
THE COMPANY

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 4F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Nz FExT FAT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBRRIZIEE - -
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE R 10,804 12,604
10,804 12,604
Current assets RBEE
Prepayment, deposits and other AR FRIE - ek
receivables H b e W s I8 108 4,493
Amounts due from subsidiaries & UL BT B A B FRIE 16,392 19,638
Cash and bank balances B RIBITHH 93 706
16,593 24,837
Current liabilities REBAR
Accruals and other payables FERTE A M E MR FRIR 3,054 2,461
Other borrowings Hip g 5,756 9,994
Amount due to a subsidiary et —FE BT B A R Fk A = 3,576
8,810 16,031
Net current assets RBEEFE 7,783 8,806
Total asset less current liabilities EEZBEBRADERE 18,587 21,410
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
Deferred tax liabilities BERIEEE 1,025 1,238
Net assets EEFE 17,562 20,172
Capital and reserves BEARRFE
Share capital [N 31 13,752 13,752
Reserves 1 33 3,810 6,420
Total equity wmrEs 17,562 20,172
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on BR2024F 6 A28 HEEESHERE
28 June 2024 and signed on its behalf by: BETIED - WA T EFEHAREE
Fong Chun Man Lo Pui Yee
7 83 Z{miE
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEE HITESE
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33. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

33. AR AfHEE

Share  Accumulated

premium losses Total

MR % 8 25T EE et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHETT FHET FET

At 1 April 2022 7R2022F 4 18 74,701 (80,801) (6,100)
Profit and total comprehensive FREMNEEERER

income for the year L] - 4,151 4,151
Issue of shares by way of rights VAR AR T =0 B8 1T AR 1

issue (Note 31) (B7E31) 8,813 - 8,813
Cost attributable to issue of AR RR T 31T AR O

shares by way of rights issue e =0) PPN (444) - (444)
At 31 March 2023 and R2023%F3A31H R

1 April 2023 2023F4H1H 83,070 (76,650) 6,420
Loss and total comprehensive loss F A E 18 Kk 2 HEE

for the year kL] - (2,610) (2,610

At 31 March 2024 #A2024F3H31H 83,070 (79,260) 3,810

At 31 March 2024, the Company had distributable reserves of
HK$3,810,000 (2023: HK$6,420,000) in accordance with the
Companies Law, Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands.

Fe % (R EEERAR/ —E-NFFH

R2024F3A31 B REFSEHES QA

SEE 225 (1961 £ 8 355501

B A=A

fiv s N =) &

1&857) - ANA T4 3,810,000 7T (2023 4F -

6,420,000 7T A fH 0 Ik 8
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34. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 34. TEHBEA A
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at the end of the RBERR - ARFRNEZEWEB R A
reporting period are as follows: BT

Proportion of

Place and Principal Issued and  ownership interest and
date of place of paid up capital or  voting power held by the
Name of subsidiary incorporation operations  registered capital Group Principle activities
£ BRTRAR AEBBERNMARE
KB AR A B AMRIBHER AR X EXGEMES BERRERELH TERH
2024 2023
20245 2023 F
% %
Great Wall (International) Hong Kong, Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Sale and transportation of
QOil Limited 22 December 2005 diesel oil and related
products
(BB RRERRA  &E 0 18T KR EEEREE
200512 5228 LE®
Eastern Champion Hong Kong, Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Property investment
Investment Limited 26 May 2021
&k B 1B MERE
202165 H26R
The above subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company. FMERARBEALFHEERS -
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at RER BEMNBATEEMKREEN
the end of the year. B EH -
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which, in the TR ESRREISETEREHES
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or assets LEENAEENBAR - EERE
of the Group. To give detail of other subsidiaries would, in the RHEMMBARNGFBEESER IR

opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive lengths.
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35.

36.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance.
Under the MPF Scheme, employees are required to contribute
5% of their monthly salaries or up to a maximum of HK$1,500
(2023: HK$1,500) and they can choose to make additional
contributions. Employers’ monthly contributions are calculated at
5% of the employee’s monthly salaries or up to a maximum of
HK$1,500 (2023: HK$1,500) (the “mandatory contributions”).
Employees are entitled to 100% of the employer’s mandatory
contributions upon their retirement at the age of 65, death or
total incapacity.

The retirement benefits scheme contributions arising from the
MPF Scheme charged to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income represent contributions
paid or payable to the funds by the Group at rates specified in
the rules of the schemes.

At 31 March 2024 and 2023, there was no forfeited contribution
under any defined contribution schemes available which may be
used by the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions,
nor any contribution under any defined contribution schemes was
forfeited by the Group for both years.

The contributions paid and payable to the schemes by the Group
are disclosed in Note 11.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme on 23 March 2017
(the “Share Option Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme became
effective on the date of the Company’s listing (12 April 2018) and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for
ten years from that date.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain
the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive to
employees (full-time and part-time), directors, consultants,
advisers, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers,
business partners or service providers of the Group and to
promote the success of the business of the Group.

35.

36.
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36.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of any
option shall be determined by the board (or as the case may be,
including, where required under the GEM Listing Rules, the
independent non-executive directors) from time to time on the
basis of the participant’s contribution or potential contribution to
the development and growth of the Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options granted and to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme is 8,000,000 shares (or such number of
shares as may result from a subdivision or consolidation of such
8,000,000 shares from time to time), representing 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme and after share consolidation of the
Company on 29 June 2022. The maximum number of share
issuable under share options granted to each eligible participant
in the Share Option Scheme (including both exercised and
outstanding options) within any 12-month period is limited to 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue. Any grant or further grant
of share options in excess of this limit must be separately
approved by shareholders in general meeting. Any grant of share
options under the Share Option Scheme to a director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of
their associates, must be approved by the independent non-
executive directors (excluding any independent non-executive
director who is the grantee of the option). In addition, any share
options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
associates, which would result in the total number of share issues
and to be issued, upon exercise of all options already granted
and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding), to such person under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company to such
person in any 12-month period up to and including the date of
the grant in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares of the Company in
issue and with an aggregate value (based on the closing price of
the Company'’s share at the date of each grant) in excess of HK$5
million, such further grant of options is required to be approved
by shareholders of the Company at a general meeting of the
Company, with voting to be taken by way of poll.

F8 ENTERPRISES (HOLDINGS) GROUP LIMITED / ANNUAL REPORT 2024

36. BRESTE (&)

E=xg (BBELME (HGEM LR Al
E3K) > RBREBILIIFRTES) AITE
RIEZ2EEHAEEHRIIERAER
X AT RE 1 B B BUR TE R AL (A FB AL
M2 EEEE -

AITEREERETSRE G TREY
R EREmA] TEITHRMEE £
[R /8,000,000 f% (% T o #r 3k & O 7%
£ 8,000,000 Bz f& 10 A RE EE AE MY B B I (9
HH)  (hRERERA B B &R 2022
FOABARBBRMEHEBEARAE
BEITIRD A 10% o A 1218 B AR
BETERNBREERI2EERTNE
B (B IR ITE R M R TTE A B AR E)
Fr# ke m] FETRDER LR AAR
AT EBITRMDNI% - KBS — S
AR iR It PR A B AR i R AR R A R R
Ae BB E - MARAREE 1T
AEREBRENRFEEOTMBHE AR
HEERR RS T BB IR A B L IEH
TEE(TEEAGABREARADN
ERBILIENTTES) #EE o Lo @)
TERRKBUIERTEBTREESB
B 1T ] B B2 A HH 0 1) B AR A T 28 B A
HERTHEH (8FE%E) EER12(E
BEIREA - bt A ERITER KB AR
T R AR RE T H B EASIE
BREBTFERNEZIBERE (RIEETT
- B RN ARITEERE) W
EBATBITRETEITNRDEHRE
HEBBAARRBEEITRMA0.1% & (IR
BRONEREBEHETESE) 2E
MBS E & BT BIFEINE L EIREA
BRBRERRARBEREAZ EUEEFR
FORHLE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B(ZE 2024331 HIEFE

36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The offer for the grant of share option must be accepted within
seven days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made.
The amount payable by the grantee of an option to the Company
on acceptance of the offeror the grant of an option is HK$1. An
option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board
may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of
grant subject to provision of early termination thereof. There is
no requirement of a minimum period for which an option must
be held before it can be exercised. The subscription price of a
Share in respect of any particular option granted under the Share
Option Scheme shall be a price solely determined by the board
and notified to a participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i)
the closing price of the shares as started in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet on the ate of grant of the option, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average closing prices of the
Shares as stared in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the
date of grant of the option.

At 31 March 2024 and 2023, there was no outstanding share
options under any share option scheme. No share option was
granted, exercised, lapsed, expired or cancelled during the years
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.
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37. CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in elsewhere in the consolidated financial

statements, the Group had also entered into the following

material related party transactions during the reporting period:

(a) Connected transactions and related party

transactions

3. BEXZREXBHAIRS

Brim e SRR E At 5 PRI R & 51
R¥IEHE - NEBE R ZATEAR
BHR5:

(a) BEXZRBEBIRZ

2024 2023

2024 F 20234

Name of party Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000

S A8 REME FERT FHETT

Jet Good Limited (“Jet Good") (Note) Rental expenses 664 961
P=ERLF (8= ) (M) e %

Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 5 -

HEWE - BFE K& F WS

(b) Connected and related balances

(b) BAEE R EAMAEER

2024 2023
2024 F 2023 F
Name of party Nature of balance HK$'000 HK$'000
B A8 HERE FET FHETT
Jet Good (Note) Prepayments 132 146

= (Mah) TERT I
Deposits 444 444

o

Note: Mr. Fong Chun Man, an executive director and ultimate controlling

shareholder of the Company, has beneficial interests in Jet Good.

Hence, Jet Good is related company and connected entity of the
Company under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

For the transactions constitute connected transactions

under the GEM Listing Rules, please refer to the sections

headed “"Connected Transactions and Continuing

Connected Transactions” under the “Report of the Board

of Directors”.
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37. CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(c) Personal guarantee and securities provided by key
management personnel

At 31 March 2024 and 2023, Mr. Fong Chun Man, an
executive director of the Company, provides personal
guarantee and life insurance policy of insured sum
amounted to US$2,600,000 which Mr. Fong Chun Man is
the insured person as securities for loan facilities granted to
the Group.

(d) Compensation of key management personnel

The directors of the Company and senior management are
identified as key management personnel of the Group and
their remunerations during the reporting period are set out
in Notes 13 and 14.

38. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Assets with the following carrying amounts have been pledged to

N

V. BEXSGRERBBAIXRS

(%)

(c) HEEEBABRHAIBEAL
R & 3K
R2024F 20233 A31H K
NENITEE H B ERHEE
A FER K AR 58 & 2,600,000 3 7T HY
AESRE (FEXSEERZRA) -
EAAREEERENRE IR -

(d FEEBAENEE
ARNREENGREEEERT
ABAEBNTEETEAR #F
RIRE R FHBNE R T 13 &
14 »

38. EEHE A
B TIREBEAE R - UEAR

secure the loan facilities of the Group as follow: SEERFEER
2024 2023
2024 £ 2023 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHx FH
Financial assets at FVTPL EAFEFABZHNEREE
— Key management personnel life —FEZEEBABASRE
insurance policy 4,564 4,440
Investment property KEYE 14,600 19,400
Pledged bank deposits EEARITIER 6,122 6,087
Motor vehicles RE 194 491
Oil barges g B 10,804 12,604
36,284 43,022
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39. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

40.

214

9. MEEHMEL S BENHR

Bank and
other Lease Bonds
borrowings liabilities payable Total
BT REAM
fBR  HEEE EAEF @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT THIT THT THT
At 1 April 2022 R2022F4 518 43,089 168 800 44,057
Changes from financing cash flows: REMERENENE
Proceeds from bank and RITREMEFRATERE
other borrowings 74,713 - - 74713
Repayment of bank and BRRIT RAME
other borrowings (68,495) - - (68,495)
Repayment of bonds payable BREMNES - - (800) (800)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEERE - (168) - (168)
Interest paid ERNE (3,752) ) - (3,753
Total changes in financing cash flows BEREREL LR 2,466 (169) (800) 1,497
Other changes: Hth
Interest expenses FER% 2,815 1 - 2,816
Decrease in accrued interest FEEH R B R 937 - - 937
Gain on extinguishment of BEAMER
other borrowing o)l (3,718) - - (3,718)
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 R2023F3A31A &
2023F4A1H 45,589 - - 45,589
Changes from financing cash flows: RERERERENE
Proceeds from bank and RITREMERTERE
other borrowings 16,700 - - 16,700
Repayment of bank and BRRATRAEMAE K
other borrowings (25,099) - - (25,099)
Interest paid ERME (2,147) = = (2,147)
Total changes in financing cash flows BEREREL LR (10,546) = = (10,546)
Other changes: Hth
Interest expenses FER% 2,147 = = 2,147
At 31 March 2024 R2024F3H31H 37,190 - - 37,190

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 June 2024.
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Financial Summary

MBHE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 B(ZE 2024331 HIEFE

RESULT

For the year ended 31 March
BE3A3IALEE

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
2020F 2021 F 20224  2023F  2024%
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAT FTAT FTAET FTAT FTHET
(Restated) (Restated)
(&E5) (BRE7)
Continuing operations RERKEXK
Revenue W 328119 357,753 357,471 429940 289,980
Cost of sales BHE AR (305421)  (332,420)  (352,579)  (413,699) (275,705)
Gross profit EH 22,698 25,333 4,892 16,241 14,275
Profit/(loss) for the year from REFELCEERN
continuing operations FRmFL(ER) 4,856 7,592 (39,257) (4.837)  (8,648)
Discontinued operations BRIEREER
(Loss)/profit for the year from REEBKIEEEEBRD
discontinued operations FR(EE),/&EH (350) (2,133) 7,370 - =
Profit/(loss) for the year FriHL (B 4,506 5459 (31,887)  (4837)  (8,648)
Attributable to THIALFE
Owners of the Company ZN/NIEZZ SN 4,664 6,387 (31,217) (4,837)  (8,648)
Non-controlling interests R A (158) (928) (670) - =
Profit/(loss) for the year FREN,(EE) 4,506 5459 (31,887)  (4837)  (8,648)
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ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE

At 31 March

W3A31H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
20204 2021 5 2022 2023 2024 F
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000 HK$'000
T T FET FET FTREx

Non-current asset ERBEE 34,103 59,896 49,722 55,708 48,882
Current assets MEEE 118,704 154,726 131,411 128960 114,941
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 9,498 561 468 1,238 1,025
Current liabilities mEAE 36,775 82,023 85,295 82,176 71,101
Net current assets MEEEFE 81,929 72,703 46,116 46,784 43,840
Net assets BEFE 106,534 132,038 95,370 101,254 91,697

The summary above does not form part of the audited consolidated — _EAUBEE B EFZAR G W HIRERA—7D
financial statements.

Such summary was prepared as if the current structure of the Group /B AL B Ty AR BB I AR B3R 1T RIBIO X
had been in existence throughout these financial years and is FHMBRFEEFE @ WiRGAMBERRME3
presented on the basis as set out in Note 3 to the consolidated ~ FTEIHIEEZ I o

financial statements.
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